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ABSTRACT

THE ORIGINS OF INDIRECT RULE
IN NORTHERN NIGERIA,
1890-1904

By

Robert Wilfred Hannah

This thesis is concerned specifically with British
Imperial policy in Northern Nigeria from 1890 to 1904.
Imperial policy as reflected in Northern Nigeria consisted
of two concurrent motivations, and it is one of the princi-
ple conclusions of this study that the two are inextricable.
-The first is the diplomatic process of final boundary
delimitation whiéh was completed in 1904, with the conclu-
sion of the Anglo-French Entente. The second are the
bureaucratic procedures fostered in the Colonial Office which
were designed to facilitate internal control and stability.
These procedures were dexterously molded by Frederick Lugard
(later Lord Lugard), into a policy of 'Indirect Rule' with-
in Northern Nigeria, and it has generally been assumed, quite
correctly, that the basic tenets of Lugard's system of
Indirect Rule were operative by 1904. Hence, the purpose
of this thesis is to accurately and logically link the

diplomatic settlement of Northern Nigeria's boundaries with
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its corollary, yet unique, internal organization--Indirect
Rule--within the context of British Imperial policy.

Quite naturally, British policy in West Africa from 1890
to 1904 reflects the abstruse varients of the European
Balance of Power during those years. To a lesser extent
British interest and motivation for control of Northern
Nigeria came from the lobbies of several trading companies,
the varying proclivities of Foreign and Colonial Office
personnel, and from internal pressures both African and French.

For the most part, however, the British Government deemed
West Africa intrinsically valuable for only a few brief
moments during this period, and then, only by a few specially
interested people.

Moreover, most of those who eventually appeared in
Northern Nigeria and collaborated in the development of
Indirect Rule came with a real sense of mission. 1Indeed, the
best of the Colonial Office personnel, and here I have in
mind especially Lord Lugard, had an incipient sense of
British Commonwealth. Though they arrived after mdst of the
basic territorial decisions had been made, very real con-
flicts continued between French, German, English, and African
elements right up until 1904.

In terms of over-all British foreign policy these local
officials were prone to overestimate the significance of
minor clashes. Yet in the emerging History of Africa these
once small events take on large and not exaggerated signifi-

cance, if for no other reason than that the new nation states
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Robert Wilfred Hannah

of Africa received their physical form and legacies of
government from the fitfull events of these crucial years.

In sum, the aim of this thesis is to integrate care-
fully the original research that I have done into the exact
nature of the final boundary delimitation of Northern Nigeria,
and, into the elements that constitute the true origins of
Indirect Rule, so that their current significance can be

properly related to British diplomacy from 1890 to 1904.
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PREFACE

This thesis was the result of a number of compromises,
based in large part upon their practicability. I had visited
‘West Africa, in particular Nigeria, before entering upon my
doctoral program at Michigan State University, and wished
to pursue this interest. It was also my intention to find a
topic that would incorporate British Colonial history.

In this respect "The Origins of Indirect Rule in Northern
Nigeria, 1890-1904" became an excellent choice. For, while
an enormous amount of secondary material has been published
on Indirect Rule, and upon Frederick Lugard, no one has ever
concerned themselves with the formation of Indirect Rule in
Nigeria in more than a cursory manner.

In this respect, I should like to thank a number of
people for the aid they have given me in completing this
dissertation, in particular, Dr. James Hooker who supervised
my entire Ph.D. program from course work through thesis.

The dissertation itself has hinged: upon my uncle, Arthur J.
Hannah, who invited my wife and me to live with him at his
home in Kaduna during the Nigerian portion of my research in
the summer of 1966; upon the African Studies Center at

Michigan State University, who provided funds for my research

iii






at the British Public Record Office in London during the
summer of 1967; upon Sir Eric Ashby, who gave me invaluable
advice and aid in gaining access to British Archival materi-
als; upon Mr. J. D. Keir, at the United Africa Company Ltd.
in London; upon my father, without whose aid and encourage-
ment this dissertation could never have been attempted; and

most especially upon my wife, Susan.

iv



IR

<A

txy

... .
ceasr A
2
~
]
e -
PRY
B
fad
-
"
i 7T
'~

o
e =

C) ) tuy

=

‘e

-3

'~y

[P
Sean

txs I~



TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER Page
PREFACE . . ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ &t ¢ o o o o o o o o o o & iii
I. A. THESIS DEFINITION. . . . . « ¢ ¢ ¢« o« « o« = 1
B L TI-IESIS CHAPTER OUTLIM Ll . L] L] L] . . Ll . L] 3
II. A. THE THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF COLONIAL
E}CPANS ION 3 3 . 3 3 . 3 . . - . . ° . . 6
B. BRITISH COMMERCE IN WEST AFRICA--THE ROYAL
NIGER COMPANY L] L] L] L] L] L] * L] L] L] Ll L] . 1 6
III. A. INTERNATIONAL PRECIS . . . . . ¢ « ¢ « « . 32
B. THE BERLIN CONFERENCE OF 1885. . . . . . . 36
C. THE BRUSSELS ACT OF 1890 . . . . . . . . . 42
D. LORD SALISBURY--ARCHITECT OF BRITISH
TROPICAL AFRICA . . ¢ ¢ ¢ o o o o o o« = 43
IV. A. DIPLOMACY AND INTERNAL AFFAIRS, 1890-1895. 52
B. THE NIGER COMMISSION . . . « « ¢ « + =« . 62
C. PROBLEMS CONCERNING THE TREATY STRUCTURE
WITH INDIGENOUS STATES. . . ¢ « « o o« o 117
V. THE ANGLO-FRENCH SETTLEMENT OF 1898 . . . . . 96
VI. MOUNTING PRESSURES FOR COLONIAL OFFICE
CONTROL L] L] L3 Ll L3 L] L] Ll L] L] L] . . L] 112
A. CONTINUED COMPETITION--FOR LAKE CHAD o o o 112
B. THE WEST AFRICAN FRONTIER FORCE. . . . . . 118
C. THE LAST OF THE INDEPENDENT AFRICANS . 135
D. THE END OF SOVEREIGNTY FOR THE ROYAL NIGER
COMPANY L] L L] L] L] . . L] . L] . L] L] L] L] L] 140
VII. THE ROLE OF THE COLONIAL OFFICE . . . . « . . 152
VIII. A. NOTES ON FREDERICK LUGARD. . . . o« o e 184

B. THE FRUSTRATIONS OF BEGINNING A COLONIAL
ADMINISTRATION. . . . ¢ ¢ o o o o o o =« 189



TABLE OF CONTENTS--Continued

CHAPTER Page

C. ILORIN, IMPETUS THROUGH NECESSITY FOR

INDIRECT RULE. . « ¢ ¢ « o o o o o o « = 194
D. THE SITUATION AFTER FIFTEEN MONTHS. . . . . 214
E. ALDER BURDON--CHIEF ADVOCATE FOR FULANI

RULE . . ¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ o o o ¢ o o o o o o o = 219
F. A POLICY, ITS COROLLARIES, AND A PUBLIC

DEFINITION . . « o ¢ « o o o o o o « o o« 223
G. THE FINAL BOUNDARIES FOR A LAND

"INDIRECTLY" RULED . . .« « ¢ « « « « o & 231

IX. SUMMARY. « ¢ ¢ ¢ o o o o o o o o o o s o o o = 238

BIBLIOGRAPHY . . ¢ ¢ o ¢ o« o o o o o o o o o = 241

vi



THE ORIGINS OF INDIRECT RULE
IN NORTHERN NIGERIA,
1890-1904



e S e
s ead ST
Sreaev A

Itre A-
-8 AT
teaacdi,

Mevetull €

§2im2d ea
sula 0T

;:::":J'Qfej

B
e, _“:‘:e:




CHAPTER I
A. THESIS DEFINITION

This thesis is concerned specifically with British
Imperial policy in Northern Nigeria from 1890 to 1904.
Imperial policy as reflected in Northern Nigeria consisted
of two concurrent motivations, and it is one of the princi-
pal conclusions of this study that the two are inextricable.
The first is the diplomatic process of final boundary de-
limitation which was completed in 1904 with the conclusion
of the Anglo-French Entente. The second are the bureaucratic
procedures fostered in the Colonial Office which were de-
signed to facilitate internal control and stability. These
procedures were dexterously molded by Frederick Lugard (later
Lord Lugard), into a policy of "Indirect Rule" within North-
ern Nigeria and it has generally been assumed, quite cor-
rectly, that the basic tenets of Lugard's system of Indirect
Rule were operative by 1904. Hence, the purpose of this
thesis is to accurately and logically link the diplomatic
settlement of Northern Nigeria's boundaries with its corol-
lary, yet unique, internal organization--Indirect Rule--

within the context of British Imperial policy.
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Quite naturally, British policy in West Africa from 1890
to 1904 reflects the abstruse varients of the European Balance
of Power during those years. To a lesser extent British
interest and motivation for control of Northern Nigeria came
from the lobbies of several trading companies, the varying
proclivities of Foreign and Colonial Office personnel, and
from internal pressures both African and French.

For the most part, however, the British Government deemed
West Africa intrinsically valuable for only a few brief

moments during this period, and then, only by a few specially
interested people.

Moreover, most of those who eventually appeared in

Northern Nigeria and collaborated in the development of
I ndirect Rule came with a real sense of mission. Indeed, the
best of the Colonial Office personnel, and here I have in mind
€© specially Lord Lugard, had an incipient sense of British
Commonwealth. Though they arrived after most of the basic
T erritorial decisions had been made, very real conflicts
< Ontinued between French, German, English, and African ele-
Ments right up until 1904.
In terms of over-all British foreign policy these local
S E Ficials were prone to overestimate the significance of
ntl:i~nor clashes. Yet in the emerging History of Africa these
Srice small events take on large and not exaggerated signifi-
S ®nce if for no other reason than that the new nation states
S £ africa received their physical form and legacies of

S <Svernment from the fitfull events of these crucial years.
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In sum, the aim of this thesis is to integrate care-
fully the original research that I have done into the exact
nature of the final boundary delimitation of Northern Nigeria,
and, into the elements that constitute the true origins of
Indirect Rule so that their current significance can be

properly related to British diplomacy from 1890 to 1904.

B. THESIS CHAPTER OUTLINE

The second chapter of this thesis consists of two sec-
tions which together broadly form "the setting." The Anglo-
French-German competition in West Africa during the last
decade of the 19th century is meaningless without understand-
ing something of the intellectual and theoretical differences

which underlay colonial acquisitions in those countries.
Eqgually a part of the prelude to this dissertation is the
Commercial and economic history of West Africa, so often
dealt with in separate studies. Its integration is essential
forxr two reasons; first, because England chose to make a com-
Me xcjal venture into the vehicle of Empire, and second,
1>€3<:ause the influence of the Royal Niger Company, its founder
|NQ chief advocate George Goldie-Taubman (later Sir George
(3c>:Ldie), has important significance in the later history and
F~rernment of Northern Nigeria. 1In particular, an attempt
ils made to define the ambiguous role the Company played
1)€51tween commercial profit-maker, vehicle for British

lhternational diplomacy, and progenitor--as the first
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administrator in Northern Nigeria--of certain elements in

Indirect Rule.
The European determinents of African policy are con-

tained in chapter three as they applied to the Niger region.

Most important, of course, is the Berlin Conference of 1885

and its relevant Niger clauses. But, as British West African

international policy and Lord Salisbury are nearly insepara-
ble for the time span of this thesis, his personality and
the Anglo-French conventions of 1889 and 1890 and the Anglo-
German "Heligoland" Treaty of 1890 are dealt with as a unit.
The fourth chapter combines these elements in following
as closely as possible the languid course of diplomatic
affairs and harried events within Niéeria between 1890 and

1897. The fifth chapter continues these events, particularly

the consummation of the "Borgu Crisis" and the role of

Mx . Chamberlain through the conclusion of the Anglo-French

Convention of June, 1898.

Between June of 1898 and January of 1900 a series of

S ents occur which have much significance for the future

SOWxge of government in Northern Nigeria. Chapters six and

Seven contain these separate yet related facets. Under sub-
he A Qs chapter six deals: with the quasi-military French
e}':peditions which began converging on Lake Chad during this
Peax do0d; with African elements, particularly Rabeh, who oc-
Qa‘&:'Lonally impeded their completion; with Lugard and the

w
S &S+ african Frontier Force (W.A.F.F.): and'with the Royal
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Niger Company's last months as "sovereign" administrator in
Northern Nigeria. Chapter seven covers the same time period,
but is concerned with the extremely important, though unob-
trusive, considerations which passed through the Colonial
Office as to just how Nigeria should be governed after
sovereign rights of the Royal Niger Company had been purchased
by His Majesty's Government.

The eighth chapter proceeds to show how Frederick Lugard,
with the aid of a few trusted assistants and Residents in
Nigeria in the first three years of his administration, pro-
ceeded to develop the system of Indirect Rule.

These, then, are the elements that make up the "Origins
of Indirect Rule in Northern Nigeria." It is not the aim
of this thesis to restructure West African history or make
radical interpretations. Rather, it is an attempt at careful
Aand accurate research into a period of history to this point

nNever adequately researched or brought within easy access

O f the interested historian.
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CHAPTER II
A. THE THEORETICAL BACKGROUND OF COLONIAL EXPANSION

Both British and French colonialism as it developed in
the 18th century was mercantilist in theory and strongly
oriented toward plantations in the New World. .The trade
with the Orient in spices and luxury goods, though it cap-
tured the imagination, played only a minor role in the value
of overseas trade. 1In the latter part of the 18th century
and early 19th century, however, differences between the

British and French patterns developed. Primarily, England
continued to export large numbers of settlers to the temper-
& te parts of the world. France on the other hand could
<ount in dozens of colonists what the British could count in
thousands. Equally important, liberal British thought was
<Oming to the conclusion that colonies on the mercantile
P attern were simply not worth it. .Not only were the over-
Segs British unrepresented in Parliament, but they resented
Not being able to manufacture their own goods, trade with
‘v}ixbmsoever they pleased, and govern themselves. Adam Smith
El11<ilJeremy Bentham in particular lent strength to this con-

< A wusion in their respective works; An Enquiry into the
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Nature and Cause of the Wealth of Nations and Bentham's

Manual of Political Economy.!

In England, then, Liberalism came to be associated with

anti-colonialism, as it had been proved, both in theory and
by the experience of the revolt in the American colonies,
that their loss had indeed not been harmful to trade, but in
fact had fostered it. British Liberalism also came to in-
clude anti-slavery and the concept that non-intervention in
local affairs, unless it was absolutely necessary for the
protection of trade, was preferable to annexation.

However paradoxical it may seem, it was in the nine-
teenth century, during which the predominant trend in
‘informed' opinion was averse from colonial expansion,
that the masses were most stirred by what took place
overseas. Previously, the only people in Europe who had
bothered about the colonies were small groups of traders
‘and shipowners; and they had been mainly interested in
them from the trading point of view. It was the appear-
ance of philanthropists and the development of the great
protestant missionary societies which caused the native
inhabitant of the colonies to attract the attention,

the compassion and the affection of the British people.
One cannot overemphasize the true disinterestedness, the
generosity and the human and christian feelings of -
brotherhood the British showed. Stirred by the propa-
ganda of the opponents of slavery, who, at meetings, in
publications and through sermons, awoke a desire to be
of service, roused passions and supplied everyone with
an object for his natural compassion, they agreed to the
enormous sacrifices which their governments had approved
for the sake of the black slaves.2

1published respectively in 1776 and 1793-5.

2Henri Brunshwig, French Colonialism 1871-1914: Myths
=_n g Realities (London: Pall Mall Press; 1964), p- 9.
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Cynics have often belabored British intentions, but a
careful analysis of British policy through 1870 will clearly
reveal the sincerity of British motives.

In 1837, Lord Durham's report on the conditions in
Canada paved the way for the recognition of Canada, Australia,
New Zealand, and South Africa as independent states within
the framework of the British Empire.3

Likewise, when the Delta of the Niger became the most
important center for the export of palm o0jl, it became neces-
sary for the British to occupy Lagos in 1852 to protect their
traders. Necessary as it had been, on the vote of credit for
this settlement, on June 26, 1865, the House of Commons
adopted the following resolution:

That all further extension of territory or assumption

of government, or new treaties offering any protection

to native tribes, would be inexpedient, and that the
object of our policy should be to encourage in the
natives the exercise of those qualities which may render
it possible for us more and more to transfer to them
the administration of all the governments, with a view
to our ultimate withdrawal from all, except, probably,

Sierra Leone.*

Such British popular good-will towards dark-skinned

Pecgples and reluctance to annex their lands did not mean that

\

+ 3see Lord Durham's Report: An Abridgement of Report on
‘zitlga Affairs of British North America, ed. G. M. Craig
‘T oronto: McClelland and Steward; 1963) .

- “The full text of the report of the "1865 Commission"
1:]hlich.recommended no further extension of the Lagos Terri-
FQIY' may be found in several places, including P.R.O. CO 806,

S 2 and in the British Sessional Papers. See also, Brunshwig,
=2k . cit., Ch..1 and 8.
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British enterprise had resigned from the colonial field.
(The role of British commerce on the Niger is dealt with in
section "B" of this chapter.) Indeed, despite the disbelief

of critics:

British liberals saw nothing inconsistent in being op-
posed to colonial expansion whilst at the same time
creating the settlements which trade and philanthropy
required, and no discrepancy between their humanitarian-
ism and the benefit they derived from trade. Why should
that which was good not be as profitable as that which
was evil? And why should they have refused the profits
which were there for the taking? Had they not striking-
ly shown again and again that they did not allow the
profit motive to deflect them from their course and that
they often subordinated white to native interests?®
French colonial policy followed a totally different path.
- From the time of Cardinal Richelieu's attempts designed to
increase the King's glory vis a vis Spain, French colonial
Ppolicy was often motivated solely by thoughts of prestige.
T xrue enough, France had adopted the plantation system like
€evwveryone else, but unlike England there were not enough
F'rench involved, especially after the loss of Canada, to bring
<Xiticism effectively to bear at home. Colonies were simply
|_n asgpect of power and prestige, perhaps most important for
the Navy, but like any other part of Government they had to
be paid for. .During the Napoleonic Wars, France had plenty
S E time to get used to not having colonies. And, not only
Was no significant portion of French commerce or French

sgcb<::i.ety seriously hurt, sugar beets had obviated the dependence

S £ yest Indian sugar cane. Moreover, in France, the revolution

\

SBrunshwig, op. cit., pp. 12-13.
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10

brought the vote to rural farmers. Not only was population
not expanding as rapidly as elsewhere in Europe, but France
never indulged in industrialism to the extent that England
did. The results were several; first, fewer people were
forced off the land and into overcrowded towns, which in it-
self reduced the numbers of Frenchmen so desperate that they
would leave France; second, slower industrialization made
for slower accumulation of capital, which meant that France,
unlike England could absorb most of her own excess capital
without overseas investment; third, France, unlike England
never became dependent on imported foodstuffs to feed her
populace, thus obviating the necessity to export manufactured
goods to pay for food imports; and fourth, but by no means
least, the French peasantry, provided with a vote, became a
consgervative block that was not about to see its agricultural
Prosperity ruined by colonies and hence was little moved,
€©ither by inclination or necessity, to be swayed by the
humanitarian zeal displayed in England for dark-skinned
P ecoples.

Hence, whereas British colonial policy tended to develop
= s a response to the necessities of trade, French colonial
P olicy was simply an aspect of domestic or foreign policy of
=™ government wishing to maintain its popularity. Indeed, it
Ag striking to note that the Colonial Department of France

“Wr=s, until 1894, a subdivision of the Navy.® French traders

e———

. 6see F. H. Hinsley, "International Rivalry, 1885-1895"
L. n Vol. III of The Cambridge History of the British Empire
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11

were found here and there, but often they were more prominent

in terms of the naval interests they represented than as

commercial ventures.

Until 1870 or thereabouts, nationalism--that peculiar
product of Europe and the French Revolution--was a liberal
idea. In short the political left believed that a group of

people had the right to govern themselves based upon princi-

Ples of language, proximity, and race, rather than upon the

conservative notion that sovereignty rested with a monarch
owver whatever abstruse bits of territory or populace he
cowuld lay claim.
Between 1870 and 1890, however, nationalism switched
EFxcom the left to the right of the political spectrum with
Ex— e&mendous implication for Africa. In the first place,
Ne d ther German nor Italian nationalists felt that their
Qe sstinies had been fulfilled. Perhaps it was only time that
W3 =3 needed for them to feel pride and complacency in their
A <=hijevements. In any case, unrequited Italian nationalism,
in addition to Ethiopia, began to look toward the North
coast of Africa as a proper place for further expansion.
c?'et‘l:man nationalists on the other hand, began to feel, 1like

O
= & nce, that Germany's new found power demanded that she,

l -
- I e other powers, have colonies.

\

(
BLQndon: Cambridge University Press, 1967). See also

= anshwig, op. cit., Ch. 1 and 8.
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12

France, of course, had reacted strongly to the defeat
of 1871 and a certain group within France determined that
if the insults of Alsace-Lorraine were not to be immediately
challenged, the best place for France to re-establish her
credit as a great power was to gain a large colonial empire.
The origins of this new French imperialism, aside from army
pressure, rested mainly with scientific and intellectual
persons, particularly those connected with the Paris ‘'Société
de Géographie,' which was the most important of a number of
similar societies. This society blossomed from a tiny group
to a membership of over 2000 between the years 1873 and 1880
and contained many of the most influential of French poli-
ticians.”

It is interesting that scientists, politicians and
intellectuals sponsored colonial acquisitions and not the
commercial community. By comparison, it will be noted that
in Britain 'The Royal Geographical Society' had for decades
as distinguished a clientele as any society in England, and
both before and after 1870 it remained scrupulously uncom-

mitted in the colonial field.®

"Brunshwig, op. cit., p. 24.

8Which is not to say that individual members were not
involved in, nor took great pride and pleasure in, England's
Empire. The Royal Geographical Society was 31mp1y never in-
volved in the same manner as was the 'Société de Geographle'
as an active lobbyist for empire, no matter how much it might
have contributed to it.

See for example, Bgs9gég_9i_529_525&922_A§§92£23£92,
1788-1831: Association for Promoting the Discovery of the
Interior Parts of Africa, ed. "~ Robin Hallett (London and
New York: T. Nelson,.1964).
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13

For whatever reasons, British free trade came increas-
ingly under pressure in many parts of the world. Unlike
their competitors who could justify colonies as an aspect
of European prestige, the change from a doctrine opposed to
expansion to a policy of conquest was difficult in London.
The initial reaction was the resuscitation of the 17th
century scheme of chartered companies.® The first to appear
in Africa was the Royal Niger Company in 1887, which had
evolved out of the United African Company of 1879 and subse-
quently the National African Company of 1882.1° fThe princi-
ple architect of the Royal Niger Company was Sir George Goldie
whose influence on Northern Nigeria forms a part of this

study.l?

The Royal Niger Company was soon followed by the
Imperial East Africa Company, also in 1887, and then by Cecil
Rhodes®' British South Africa Company in 1889. It was almost
immediately recognized, however, that, faced with determined,
government sponsored, foreign attempts at exclusion, these
companies could not compete.

In particular, French expansionists found willing allies

in the Army and Navy. For, in the colonies, French soldiers

SE: A. Benians, "Finance, Trade and Communications 1870-
1895," in Cambridge History, op. cit., p. 227.

. I?J. E. Flint, Sir George Goldie and the Making of
Nigeria (London: Oxford University Press, 1966), Ch. 4.

3lwithout question Flint's biography, ibid., Sac."B" of
Ch. 2, supersedes all other references on Goldie and on the
Royal Niger Company. Hence, this dissertation has not dwelt
at length on him nor material covered so well by Flint con-
cerning Company history.
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and sailors could win laurels and medals, earn promotions,
and attempt to recover the tarnished honor of 1871. Trade
often had a small role in this process, and the French
electorate either did not care, or was so convinced of its
necessity, that it did not balk at the expense involved.

In British colonial history no such opportunity had been
presented to military men since the days of Clive and
Hastings in India--to win fame and fortune for themselves at
little thought for the commercial or budget realities of
finance.

Bismarck, for his part, if one can ever really believe
any one particular statement the man made, would probably
have preferred to follow the British policy of making those
concerned pay the costs of colonies.? oOn December 10, 1885
he told the Reichstag:

I am absolutely opposed to founding colonies in a manner

which .I regard as unsound: namely, obtaining a terri-

tory, installing officials and a garrison, and then
inviting people to come and live in it. I do not think

12Henry Ashby Turner, Jr., in his essay "Bismarck's
Imperialist Venture; Anti-British in Origin?" which forms the
second chapter of Prosser Gifford and Wm. Roger Louis'
Britain and Germany in Africa; Imperial Rivalry and Colonial
Rule (Yale University Press: New Haven and London, 1967),
-attempts to deal with Bismarck's colonial motivations. 1In
doing so, Turner tries to refute, among others, the interpre-
tation of Bismarck's colonial policy as put forth by A..J. P.
Taylor in Germany's First Bid for Colonies 1884-1885 (London,
1938) . Turner also reviews other standard interpretations,
such as those put forward by Erich Eyck (and subsequently
challenged by William 0. Aydelotte), Mary E. Townsend and
Taylor. The success or failure of his article must be judged
by one more familiar with Turner's source material than is
the present writer.
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it is8 possible to create colonies artificially. What is

entirely another matter is whether the Imperial Govern-

ment has a duty to grant its protection when this is
called for by subjects who have embarked on colonial
undertakings whereby Germany's excess population can
find a natural outlet. Reference has been made to the
expenses the Treasury will have to meet if this scheme
is to be effective. I intend to spend nothing for this
purpose, but to leave the colonies in question to the
enterprise of the traders who have founded them.%3

Like England, he granted sovereign powers to chartered
companies, the first to the disreputable Luderitz and his
German South West Africa Company in 1885. Another went to
the equally devious, although indomitable, Carl Peters and
his East Africa Company in 1886.

As for France, Jules Ferry had set her upon the course
of colonial expansion in 1881.%%* Although forced from power
in 1885 he continued to plead his case. The connection which
Ferry drew between protectionism and colonization did not
really exist, of course.*® The colonies did not supply French
industry with a profitable monopoly because French industry
could not supply them. The policy of expansion surely cost

France more than it brought in.'® Nonetheless, Ferry saw his

hoped for policy of protection enacted in 1892.

13as quoted in Henri Brunshwig, L'Expansion allemande
outre-mer (Paris, 1957), pp. 130-131.

1471 1881, France chose a small incident to invade
Tunis. See Ch. III, Sec. A.

15pjiscours et opinions de Jules Ferry, Vols. V and VI,

pub..avec commentaires et notes par Paul Rubiquet (Paris,
A. Colin).

16grunshwig, Colonialism, p. 96.
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It becomes evident then, that the forces tending toward
the partition of Africa stem in part from the differing
theoretical and practical experiences of colonialism in the
competing European countries. In West Africa the most im-
portant competition was between England and France. From
the British standpoint, however, there were another set of
factors which affected the "European" diplomatic partition
of Africa--the history of British Commerce on the West Coast
of Africa, particularly on and around the Niger delta and
Middle Niger, itself. It is to this that we must now turn

our attention.

B. BRITISH COMMERCE IN WEST AFRICA--
THE ROYAL NIGER COMPANY

The story of British West Africa cannot be told without
reference to the historic developments of British enterprise.
In particular, of course, it is necessary to define the
ambiguous role the Royal Niger Company, or its founder and
guiding spirit George Goldie-Taubman (later Sir George Goldie),
played between commercial profitmaker, vehicle for British
international diplomacy, and progenitor--as the first admin-
istrator in Norther Nigeria--of certain elements of "Indirect
Rule." It must be stressed, however, that Northern Nigeria,
as opposed to Southern Nigeria and the riverain areas, never

was of much value commercially, although the territory was



w2 2ac

2t
Tl
RS
oo

L.
29 v

..
AT




17

always assumed to be a potentially valuable one.t7

Although British expansion into Northern Nigeria came
relatively later, and also faster, than expansion into other
areas, it was partially a product of four hundred years of
trading activity in the Niger delta region. In any case,
to understand the tremendous impact of George Goldie and the
Royal Niger Company on Northern Nigeria, and Indirect Rule,
the background of the trade must be sketched.

Prior to 1700 there are four descriptions of trade in
the Niger Delta, and innumerable accounts after that date.l®
Nonetheless, all describe a situation which remained rela-
tively similar over nearly the first 350 years of contact
with European traders. Brass rods, spirits, in some cases
firearms, and a few other items were exchanged with the
inhabitants of these coastal delta towns principally for
slaves and ivory. The situation was unique in that the Niger
Delta presents many miles of swamps, flood plains, and dense

jungles that were unhealthy, unknown and therefore

17gee for example, Edmund D. Morel, Affairs of West
Africa (London: Heinemann, 1902) .

18phe Esmeraldo de Situ Orbis describes accurately the
Rio Real region and what could be the town of Bonny during
the Portuguese period between 1450 and 1550; Dapper's
Description de 1'Afrique in 1686 speaks of 0ld Calabar when
Dutch merchants dominated the Niger Delta trade; John Marbot
made two voyages to Rio Real in 1578 and 1582; and the ex-
tant Abstract of a Voyage of New Calabar River, or Rio Real
in the vear 1699 records James Barbot's similar voyage to
the area. See G. I. Jones, The Trading States of the 0Oil
Rivers: A Study of Political Development in Eastern Nigeria
(London: Oxford University Press, 1963), pp. 33-42.
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unpenetrable to European merchants. In this area a number
of towns grew up, which, although entirely dependent for
their food supplies upon the interior, were easily able to
keep the European merchants away from the interior and the
sources of slaves and ivory.1®

In 1807 this situation was radically changed by the
abolition of the legal status of slavery, and consequently
(although by no means immediately) the slave trade, by
England. It was especially important for the Niger Delta
because by this time the principle traders in the region were
Liverpool slavers. -As companies had extensive experience
and holdings in the region, they were faced with either turn-
ing to legitimate trade or going bankrupt. Fortunately, a
revolution in European cleanliness saved the day.2° As life
became dirtier with the spreading industrialization, the
recognition that washing was essential to health gained
greater acceptance. Making soap (basically from tallow) that
would produce a good lather required blending with vegatable

oils. Fortuituously for Liverpool, palm oil proved to be

19Nor surprisingly, Bonny, which was the first of the
important trading towns of the Niger Delta, was situated at
the east end of the delta where the swamps were not as ex-
tensive as elsewhere and relations with the interior were
easier. 01ld Calabar or Efik, even farther to the east and
out of the Niger complex completely, was the other early
center of Eastern Nigerian trade. Over the decades the trade
and towns spread westward in the delta, with Akassa eventual-
ly becoming a principle trading port near the home of the
famous, or infamous, Brassmen that so plagued 19th century
merchants. See ibid., pp. 20-21.

20Flint ’ QR' Cit oy pp . 9-12 .
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the best for the purpose. As the principal source of palm
oil was the Niger delta region, Liverpool merchants were
able to turn their shipping and capital resources into

"legitimate trade."2?%

The paradox of the world's foulest
trade being shifted to the cleanest is striking. Nonetheless,
Liverpool was producing nearly 30,000 tons of soap a year by
1850.22 By 1870 bulk export of the raw palm o0il reached the
same figure of 30,000 tons.23 By this time the delta was
known to the world as the 0il Rivers. Even so:
. « . The development of a 'legitimate commerce' made
no revolution in the basis of Afro-European relations.
The elaborate system of native middle-men through which
the slave trade had passed was adapted to the palm oil
trade in the same way that the Europeans had adapted
their own organization. The pattern of trade remained
the same.2*
Numerous energetic people had tried to break the hold
of the coastal states and to get to the interior where the

palm oil was grown and processed.®5 Essentially however,

2lvregitimate trade" in this instance has the dual mean-
ing of legitimate morally as well as legitimate legally after
1833.

22gy 1850 certain amounts of palm oil was also used as
an industrial lubricant. Jones, ibid., p. 10.

23g. 0. Dike, Trade and Politics in the Niger Delta
(London: Oxford University Press, 1956), pp. 97-127.

24plint, op. cit., p. 11.

25Among the more famous attempts were those of MacGregor
Laird in 1838 and Thomas Fowell Buxton in 1841. A combination
of political unrest and disease was the undoing of both and a
particular disaster for Buxton. Information about the in-
terior was gradually accumulating however, and when Barth
crossed the Benue River new interest was stimulated about open-
ing regular trade with the interior sources of the oil trade.
Laird was the most energetic of the merchants to re-enter the
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cut-throat competition among the British merchants themselves
prevented action.2®

This situation was dramatically changed with the sudden
emergence of George Goldie-Taubman into the picture.27 By

1879, even though he was:

. . . completely 'green', without more knowledge of the
Niger than that provided by one brief visit, with no

race for the interior. He organized various Liverpool mer-
chants into an African Association to lobby for their inter-
ests and likewise was a leader in procuring the arms necessary
to defeat the coastal establishments (especially the Brassmen)
and provide safe conduct for their river traffic. Throughout
this period the British government was a negative and vacil-
lating factor.

26Flint, op. cit. In chapter two Flint deals with the
problems faced by the merchants in the coastal peoples who
wished to impede their getting to the interior.

27In 1875 the smallest of the three major competitors
for the 0il Rivers trade was in financial trouble. Goldie's
family was persuaded to purchase the company owned by Holland
Jacques and in charge of its assets sent the hitherto errant
member of the family to Nigeria to see what could be done
about the situation. The results were little short of amazing.
At the time of Goldie's first trip there were two companies
larger than his own; they were Miller Brothers and a free-
lance company under James Pinnock which specialized in the 0il
Rivers trade.

The Taubman family was itself a wealthy merchant family
with extensive holdings in many enterprises. George had in-
herited a small, though quite sufficient estate as a young man
and had used it to philander in the company of an Egyptian
girl. On his return he was forced, by a compromising situa-
tion, into marriage with a family governess. Perhaps this
can explain his desire, as well as his family's desire, for
him to get out. 1In any case, at 33 he had done little to be
proud of. His original plans on leaving for Nigeria, indeed,
had been to cross the desert and get to Egypt. .Nevertheless,
he eventually succeeded where others of more experience had
failed.
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experience of trading or shipping, or even that which

another career might have given him;
and without financial power, George Goldie had formed a
monopoly of the Liverpool trading interests in the 0il Rivers
area.2® Goldie's United African Company, in which he was
not even the principal shareholder, was to become the agent
of British Imperialism in Nigeria. In 1879 and in the next
few years thereafter, however, the Company had other prob-
lems .3°

The principal problem of the new Company was its success.
The monopoly effected iower prices, but lower prices brought
in new competition uncontrolled by Goldie's monopoly. If
the competition had been simply other British merchants,
Goldie's original triumph would have become a dismal failure.
Competition was not British, however, it was largely French.
French designs, political as well as commercial, were also a

serious threat to the Company's existence, particularly as

28plint, ibid., p. 31.

29Ggoldie's magnetism has to be lauded because "the amal-
gamation of the Niger firms meant that a group of tough hard-
headed business men like John Edgar of the West African Com-
pahy with widespread interests in cotton, palm o0il, chemicals,
and the manufacture of ice, or individuals like James Pinnock,
put their trust in a young man of no proven talents, known to
be something of a profligate, who had already bungled an army
career, made an unfortunate marriage, and who was yet only
thirty-three years old." Ibid.

30Goldie's company went through a number of name changes
before settling upon the Royal Niger Company, by which it has
become generally known. This name was, however, adopted only
after the company had been granted political powers over
Nigeria by the British Parliament.
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long as Britain adhered to the recommendations of the 1865
Committee.3! 1In the longer run, however, French intervention
was to provide Goldie with potentially advantageous politi-
cal possibilities.32

In the delta region French intervention was direct and
immediately showed its results. Wherever Goldie's Company
established some sort of paramount trading position the

33 Aas an

French intervened by direct treaty arrangement.
example, in Nupe in 1880 Goldie had persuaded the local Emir
to go along with his monopoly. Some sub-chiefs (Baloguns)
were offended and signed a treaty with the French. 1In the
battle, or skirmish, that followed Goldie's Company was the
loser, and Nupe was not the only such example. By 1882 the
French commercial interests in the Oil Rivers region had

been consolidated into a single company and were as dgreat as

those held by Goldie's United African Company.Z3%

3lamong other things the "1865 Committee" recommended
not assuming further commitments in Africa. See footnote 2.

32gee Chapter III, Sec. "B" for applicable sections and
related material on Berlin Act of 1885, this thesis.

33ynlike later French ventures in West Africa, the

Compagne Francaise de l*Afrique Equatoriale was indeed a
bona fide commercial vemture and represented a real economic,
.as well as political threat to the National African Company.

That threat, it must be admitted, was in pafrt due to
the fact that there was little enough profit for one company
on the Niger and that if two competed both might go bankrupt.

See financial returns of the National African Company,
variously found in Flint, op. cit., U. A. C..Archives and in
P. R. O. sources such as Blue Books for Colonies, etc.

34Flint, op. cit., p. 42.
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By this time Goldie was playing for higher stakes.
In 1881 Parliament had granted a charter to the British

S Goldie was immediately struck by the

North Borneo Company.>
resemblances to the Nigerian situation and he worked cease-
lessly to create the same benefits for his own Company in
Nigeria. Although the odds were not at all in Goldie's
favor, British fears of growing French influence had been
steadily heightened and the events in 1884-1885 gave Goldie
his opportunity.

Of primary importance was the impending convening of
of the Berlin Conference. Goldie was shrewd enough to
realize that this might be the appropriate moment to demon-
strate his complete control of the Niger, indeed perhaps the
last opportunity, to gain recognition as a chartered company.
Hence, despite their nearly equal size, Goldie spent most of
1884 attempting to buy the "Compagne Francaise de l'Afrique
Equatoriale.”" Only in October of 1884 was the purchase of
the French Company agreed to, at a price of £60,000 or 6,000
fully paid shares of the National African Company.

At the same time Goldie was arranging this purchse, he

had been actively moving to consolidate his treaty position

3Srhe Borneo Company based its claim to rule on agree-
ments signed with local Muslim rulers giving them exclusive
monopoly over trade and all rights to deal for them with
foreign powers. Such treaties were quite similar to ones
already signed by the National African Company with Niger
area chiefs, including some with Moslim potentates.
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within Nigeria, particularly the Middle and Upper Niger.

The capstone of his efforts was the mission of Joseph Thomson,
who signed treaties on behalf of the Company with the power-
ful Emirs of Sokoto and Gandu in 1885.2® These treaties,

at least in their European version, gave to the Company
exclusive trading rights and control over relations with other
European powers.

In the meantime, Goldie had hurried off to Berlin to
lobby for whatever gains his new paramount position might
gain for his Company. In this respect, from the minute book
of the National African Company, it is interesting to note
that at a meeting on January 11, 1885,

the question was raised as to the special expenses in-

curred by the Vice-Chairman (George Goldie) in Berlin

during the Conference. . . . It was resolved on

Mr. James Hutton's motion that towards defraying the

heavy expense incurred by Vice-Chairman,. Mr. Taubman-

Goldie in Berlin on behalf of the Company, the Board

vote £100 to be paid in addition to his traveling

expenses .37

Because of the rules laid out at Berlin3® these feats
put Goldie in a paramount position to become the agent of

British imperialism. Nonetheless, the granting of a charter

by Parliament involved a good deal of persuasion on the part

36For details see J. Thomson, Up_the Niger to the
Central Sudan (Good Words; XXVII, 1886) .

37y. A. C. safe files 1/5008.

38gee Chapter III, Sec. "B" this thesis.
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of Goldie and his associates.®® Not the least of the ob-
jections came from Goldie's Liverpool merchant associates

who realized that the old system even with its drawbacks had
its advantages; principally that there were no taxes to be
paid. In spite of their objections the charter was issued

on July 10, 1886 and the Royal Niger Company came into exist-
ence with both administrative and political powers to
supplement its commercial interest in Nigeria.

The grant of a charter, based on the treaties negotiated
by the company, imposed upon the company the responsibilities
undertaken by Great Britain in the Niger Navigation Articles
of the Act of Berlin. 1In essence, the charter prohibited
monopoly, enforced duty arrangements agreed to at Berlin,
and bound the company to submit to Her Majesty's government
in regard to dealings with foreign powers. The budget- of this
new chartered company was fixed at £90,000 per year through
1895, that being deemed sufficient for operating expenses.
Under the charter, in 1887, the now Royal Niger Company sub-
mitted over 200 treaties, including the agreements with
Sokoto and Gandu, to Her Majesty's Government. These treaties
delimited the sphere of the company; hence, in October 1887,

proper notification was issued by the Foreign Office to the

397 great deal of backroom London politicking was in-
volved in order for Goldie to even have a chance. Some of
this was outright bribery by using company positions as bait.
This background information is dealt with in detail by
Flint, op. cit., Chapters III and IV.
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signatory Powers of the Berlin Act placing these areas,
newly acquired, under the protection of the British Crown.
The British Protectorate of the Niger District comprises
the territories on the line of coast between the British
Protectorate of Lagos and the right or western river
bank of the mouth of the Rio del Ray. It further com-
prises all territories in the basin of the Niger and its
affluents, which are, or may be for the time being,
subject to the government of the National African Com-
pany, Ltd., [Royal Niger Company], in accordance with
the provisions of the charter of said Company, dated
the 10th of July, 1886.4%°
Under the charter the administrative organization which
Goldie set up has been of utmost importance for subsequent
Nigerian history. Ultimate power of course rested with
Goldie and his Board of Directors in London. In Africa
authority was divided; but what is most significant, and
least surprising, is that the posts were simply new titles
for old commercial positions. The chief trading agent for
the company now became the "Agent-General," and so on. The
foundation of the administration was the District Agent.
The District Agents were in fact merely the company's Euro-
pean tréding agents under a new name."%! More importantly
they held powers under all three branches of administration,

administrative, judicial, and constabulary or military.

The District Agent was responsible for a large area and was

40gir Edward Hertslet, ed., The Map of Africa by

Treaty, Vol. I (London: F. Cass, 1967, reprint), pp. 127-
156.

4lplint, op. cit., p. 92.
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solely responsible to the Agent General. This type of
organization did not change throughout the company's tenure
in Africa.

Goldie's emphasis on the role of the District Agent
cannot be overstated. Stemming directly out of Nigeria's
commercial past, it was of necessity a form of indirect rule
and was applied originally in Eastern Nigeria where strong
kingship was not present. Obviously, it bore little resem-
blance at this stage to either Fulani or Buganda situations
that easily fit what we have come to think of as models for
"Indirect Rule." Goldie's theory of thus indirectly ruling
was never carried out to any great extent, but it is not
hard to see the reasons for its appeal to a hard-headed
monopolist like Goldie. It would be cheaper than paying
company employees!*2

The Company, however successful as the agent of British
imperialism, was not without its detractors. Particular
criticism came from Liverpool merchants and traders, and the
Liverpool Chamber of Commerce, who were very bitter at the

tariffs and duties which the Royal Niger Company imposed

42plint, ibid., claims a much greater role for Goldie
in institutionalizing Indirect Rule than in fact seems war-
ranted (pp. 96 and 258) . "Goldie played a direct part not
only in beginning effective indirect rule in the Emirates but
also in actually playing down the policy which Lugard was
instructed to follow."

The points of dispute rest on Flint's use of the words

"effective" and "instructed" however, much will be said on
both points later.
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upon any new competitors.*3 Criticism reached such peaks
that in 1889 an official inquiry was held into the position
of the Company. The inquiry was conducted by Sir Claud

44 and it resulted in

MacDonald, her Majesty's Commissioner,
the dismissal of all the more important charges made against
the Company's administration. MacDonald's observations have
a certain bearing on the later history of the Middle Niger.
The Commissioner ascended the Niger from its mouth to
Rabba, in Nupe, very little short of the rapids which impede
navigation at Boussa, and also up the Benue to beyond Yola.
His report states that from the Niger mouth to Lokoja, the
Company had 209 treaties. The company paid subsidies to
the various chiefs with whom they had these treaties of
£1,284. MacDonald was convinced that these treaties were,
with two exceptions, understood and upheld by the native
signatories.
On the Benue River from Lokoja to Garua beyond Yola,
subsidies to the extent of £293 per year were being paid.
The Commissioner wrote that:
for the entire distance they [the Company] have complete
command of the waterway from an administrative point of
view, and it would be possible for any European to pro-

ceed from Lokoja to Garua in a steam launch without fear
of molestation. This, some few years ago, would have

431bid., pp. 188-192, but see also U. A. C. Archives, and

CO 694/1.

44plint, ibid., chapter seven, original in FO 84/1940
MacDonald to Alisbury 12/6/89 Inc. 1.
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been an utter impossibility, and it is entirely due to
the energy, skill, and perseverance of the Company that
this large and beautiful and attractive country has
been opened up.%S
On the Niger itself from Lokoja to Rabbah there were
only three treaties, but these included the important Emirs
of Nupe, Sokoto and Gandu. In total, in areas north and
west of the Benue, subsidies totalling %4,425 per year were
paid, however the bulk of this money went to the three princi-
pal states of Nupe, Gandu and Sokoto. In regard to this area
the Commissioner said:
If the Company have little jurisdiction on land, they
have undoubtedly complete jurisdiction and control over
the waterway from Lokoja up to Rabbah, and if they were
to withdraw from their factories, the river would most
certainly not be safe, and merchants would run great
risk in trading above Lokoja.%®
Indeed, Sir Claud MacDonald summed up:
I consider the Nupe treaty, even without the Gandu one,
is sufficiently strong, and gives sufficiently extensive
powers, to justify the company applying for a charter.
On the strength of the Gandu treaty, which I believe to
be a bona fide one, I consider the company to be de jure
the rulers in Nupe.*7
The importance of the Commission's report stems not
entirely from its content but from the date when it was
written. For after 1890, France and England began to compete
for control of the Middle Niger, particularly the rapids at

Boussa which impede navigation on the Upper Niger. As this
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competition increased in intensity, the Royal Niger Company
reacted in two ways: first, by drawing more precise
treaties; and second, by signing new treaties whereaver they
thought that their current treaty network was not complete.
Hence by 1894, the total list of treaties was something over
350. The French, however, were able by that same time, 1894,
to invalidate certain of the company's treaties by having
signed their own set of agreements in areas where Company
jurisdiction was not completely augmented by a proper treaty
system.%®

Commercially, Goldie was left little time to enjoy con-
trol of so vast an area, indirectly or otherwise. From 1894
on, it became increasingly apparent that the company would
sooner or later lose its position. Goldie gradually became
deeply involved in a campaign to persuade Parliament to buy

49 Naturally,

the assets of the Company at inflated prices.
he was reluctant to expand the company when sale was imminent,
and its control in Nigeria suffered accordingly. Perhaps the
long haggling over price, and Goldie's knowledge of the dis-
repair of organization, sapped his enthusiasm, for he later
declined an opportunity to become the first Governor of the

eventually constituted Protectorate of Northern Nigeria in

1900. At the time he was only fifty-four.

48The relative importance of these native treaties is
dealt with in Chapter IV, this thesis.

49plint, op. cit., p. 307.
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The history of West African commerce is not particularly
elevating. The men who engaged in it were a tough lot, and
their methods, as the slavers who preceded them, were often
not salubrious. Goldie, in particular, had his faults, but
he and his company were not without a vision--a British
Nigeria. Largely through their efforts, enough of Britain's
claim was intact by 1898 so that Joseph Chamberlain could

rescue the bulk of their dreams.




I

on

-
~
w'n

Yl




CHAPTER III
A. INTERNATIONAL PRECIS

For the first seventy years of the 19th century, Africa
engendered but sporadic European concern. To be sure,
William Wilber force made England the bastion of anti-slavery
relatively early in the century, and in so doing spared the
world the untold misery of an Africa partitioned while slavery
remained legal. But for the most part, outside the white Cape
Colony, parts of Algeria and Egypt, Africa remained the Dark
Continent: intrepid adventurers occasionally penetrated the
i;terior of Africa and returned to present their papers to
the geographical societies; equally intrepid missionaries
returned to England to fulminate against the slave trade; and
only a few merchants braved the rigors of the enclaves along
the coasts of Tropical Africa to return with the various
products, particularly palm oil, upon which commerce could
be built. There seemed little reason to foresee any radical
change.

By 1871, however, events in Europe heralded drastic
alteration in Africa's status. First importance must be laid
upon the completion of the Suez Canal in 1869. This engineer-

ing feat of De Lesseps, financed by French capital, opened
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up the whole East Coast of Africa, without mentioning the
fundamental geo-political re-evaluations which its completion
necessitated in the eastern Mediterranean, India, and the
Far East. Equally important were the events of 1871 in
Europe. For the first time since 1848, or perhaps even 1815,
Europe achieved a certain stability which enabled her com-
ponent states to look outside Europe and to begin to compete
with England for the raw materials of the non-white world.
The conclusion of the Franco-Prussian war did not, of course,
signal the commencement of any "scramble" for colonies.
First Europe had to decide to let the decision of 1871 stand,
which, although threatened severely, it did.

Benjamin Disraeli quickly perceived the significance of
Suez to the British Empire. When opportunity presented it-
self in 1875, he was quick to purchase 40% of the stock in
the Suez Canal Company from the bankrupt Khedive Egypt on
his own authority, a move that was quickly endorsed by his

cabinet and Parliament.? Although overshadowed in Europe by

11n all fairness to Disraeli, this purchase was not "a
bid for exclusive supremacy in Cairo. It was intended only
to give the British a voice in the management of the water-
way and to keep the balance of influence even with France."
Robinson and Gallagher, Africa and the Victorians (New York:
St. Martins Press, 1961), p. 83. See also W. F. Moneypenny
and G. E. Buckle, Life of Benjamin Disraeli (1910-1920), Vol.
IV, pp. 330-340 and Vol. V, p. 449.

Nonetheless Disraeli's attitude was radically different
from his predecessors and he was an avowed imperialist. See,
for instance, J. R. M. Butler "Imperial Questions in British
Politics" in Vol. III of Cambridge Hlstory p.- 40.

From economic motives of expansion approached from an
imperial rather than commercial viewpoint, see W. Schlote,
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the Near Eastern Crises in the succeeding years, Disraeli's
assertion that Africa was an important corollary in British
Imperial Policy was to have immense repercussions. Disraeli's
colonial expansion was not everywhere popular, however, and
after unpleasant and nasty little wars in South Africa and
India, Gladstone and the Liberal free-traders were returned

to office.

Despite Gladstone, events in Africa were beginning to
churn at a faster pace. In 1881, with Bismarck's blessings
and Salisbury's prior consent® France--rather Jules Ferry--
chose to exploit a small incident and to invade Tunisia.

The French action infuriated the Italians,3 but the momentum

British Overseas Trade from 1700 to the 1930's (Oxford, 1952);
A. K. Cairncross, Home and Foreign Investment (1953); Brind-
ley Thomas', Migration and Economic Growth; and H. Feis,
Europe, the World's Banker 1870-1914 (New Haven, 1930).

2Though not in office in 1881, Salisbury, as party to
the negotiations of the Berlin Treaty of 1878, had "given a
hint to Paris that 'we should not have the slightest jealousy
or fear' if French statesmen sought an extension of their
African territory in the direction of Tunis." A. L. Kennedy,
Salisbury 1830-1903: Portrait of a Statesman (London: John
Murray, 1953), p. 128.

Lady Gwendolyn Cecil in her Life of Robert, Marguls of
Salisbury, goes even farther and states that, in return for
British occupation of Cyprus, Salisbury had agreed to reserve
Tunis as an area for French expansion.

3The French action also irritated the new Liberal govern-
ment in England who had "only grudgingly recognized the
commitments undertaken by Salisbury." F. H. Insley, "Inter-
national Rivalry in the Colonial Sphere, 1869-80," in
Cambridge History, p. 108. But the French had in part decided
to act because of quarrels with Italy over Tunis, The French
being "more anxious to deny Tunisia to other Powers than to
acquire it herself.”" Ibid.

Of course, the best source for this information is
Documenti Diplomatici Italiani, however, more convenient
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for partition had begun in earnest. A year later, in 1882,
Gladstone was forced against his wishes to take a strong
stand in the Arabi revolts in Egypt. Even the Liberals could
not stand idle while France consolidated complete control of
the Eastern Mediterranean, as her paramount posltion in
Syria, Egypt, Algeria, and now Tunis indicated she soon would
have. Paradoxically, France was prevented by internal crisis
from joining England in her Egyptian venture, and the anti-
colonial Gladstonians were forced to bear the onus of British
occupation of Egypt--a course of affairs it might be added
which did not displease the majority of the English electorate,
although it gave Gladstone's Conservative opposition no end
of jibes and amusement.

The colonial parties in each of the respective European
states were by now in full swing.* Perhaps the most astute

of those with designs on Africa was Leopold II of Belgium.

The tergiversations and chicanery of Leopold's Congo policy

sources include: C. A. Julian, Histoire de 1'Afrique du Nord;
Jules Ferry in Les politiques d'expansion imperialistes; M.

Emerit "Aux origines de la colonisation francaise en tunisie--
L'affaire de Side Tibet," in Revue Africaine; and Jean Ganiag,

Les origins du protectorat francias en tunisie.

4Not to mention forces such as the Church Missionary
Society in West Africa; the Wesleyans, the Basel Mission, the
Presbyterians, and the Roman Catholics on the West Coast of
Africa; the London Missionary Society; the White Fathers; and
the Livingstonia Central African Trading Company, who all
played their part in African partition--but were not particu-
larly significant in Northern Nigeria.

From the standpoint of Nigeria and trade thereon, the
Liverpool Chamber of Commerce was the most active British
lobby concerned with Northern Nigerian questions. - See, for
example, Morel, op. cit.
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are legend, but by 1885 they had borne fruit.® The Berlin
Conference of that same year, which had stamped the Congo
Free State as the exclusive sphere of Leopold, also added
the final stimulus to French, German and English interest

in partition of Africa by setting out the rules for its dis-

memberment .

B. THE BERLIN CONFERENCE OF 1885

The Berlin Conference of 1885, and the Berlin Act which
culminated its efforts, is not a significant turning point
in European diplomatic history. For Africa, however, there
is no more important date; indeed, one can posit the modern
history of Tropical Africa from its conclusion. Why Bismarck
sponsored this conference is still subject to debate;® none-
theless, all European parties with interests in Africa con-
vened. They agreed among themselves as to what the ground
rules should be for the partition of Africa.

At this Conference, Northern Nigeria was not a signifi-
cant question, but formed an adjunct to the question of
navigation and trade on the Niger.

During the opening meeting of the Conference in 1884,

The British Ambassador was able to make a bland assertion:

SThere is a mass of written material on this phase of
African History, i.e., Leopold II's assertion of sovereignty
over the Congo. For a short, yet readible, synopsis of this
period see Ruth Slade King Leopold's Congo (Oxford University
Press, 1962), esp. Ch. 3. There are, however, many volumes
devoted solely to this question, too numerous to list here.

8Turner, op. cit.
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that owing to the spirit of enterprise of the National African
Company, commerce on the Niger was entirely at that time in
British hands; that the most important tribes had been
efficiently placed under the protection of Great Britain; and
that the coast and interior portions of the river were suf-
ficiently under British control for Her Majesty's Government

7 How laconic that state-

to be able to regulate navigation.
ment was has already been indicated, in that Goldie's purchase
agreement of the "CompagnieFrancaise de l‘'Afrique Equatoriale"
had sat barely long enough for the ink to dry.

Be that as it may, the Berlin Conference decided not to
create an international commission for the Niger, as had been
done for the Congo, but to leave to the riverain powers
responsibility for applying to the Niger the principles of
free navigation to which the Conference adhered. This re-
sponsibility was formally accepted by Great Britain and France,
which were then the only riverain powers, and was duly re-
corded in the Act of Navigation.® France, of course, had
extensive claims in the upper waters of the Niger, though

she was effectively excluded by the monopoly of the National

African Company from the Middle and Lower Niger.® It is

7For the influence of the Niger Company at Berlin, see
Protocol No. 1, page 11 (French text) at the Berlin Confer-
ence. In Hertslet, op. cit.

8articles XXX and XXXI of Berlin Act. See Hertslet,
op. cit., Vol. II, pp. 483-484.

9The National African Company could effectively block all
competition, for while the Berlin Act forbade discrimination
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interesting to note, however, that special provision was
made at the Berlin Conference, that any regulation for the
navigation of the Niger which might be drawn up by Great
Britain or France in their respective spheres would only be
legal provided that these regulations were not opposed to
the spirit of the engagements entered into.!® Granted that
these rules were complied with, all nations, and their ships,
had to be "treated on a footing of perfect equality," both
as regards access to and protection on the Niger.

The fifth chapter of the Berlin Act contains a "Act of
Navigation for the Niger." From this navigation act, the
following articles have special bearing on this dissertation.t?
Article XXVI

The Navigation of the Niger, without excepting any of its

branches and outlets, is and shall remain entirely free

for the merchant ships of all nations equally, whether
with cargo or in ballast, for the transportation of goods
and passengers. It shall be regulated by the provision
of this act of navigation, and by the rules to be made

in pursuance of this act.

In the exercise of this navigation, subjects and flags of

all nations shall be treated, in all circumstances, on a

footing of perfect equality, not only for the direct

navigation from the open sea to the inland course of the

Niger, and vice versa, but for the great and small coast-
ing trade, and for boat trade in the course of the river.

and insured free access to the Niger, such safeguards were
valueless if non-company ships could not navigate the Boussa
rapids to get to French Territory, and could not procure land
for their own coaling stations--prohibitive restrictions being
placed on such by the Company.

10protocol No. 5, page 149, French text.

llgee Hertslet, op. cit., Vol. II, pp. 481-484.
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Consequently, on all the course and mouths of the Niger
there will be no distinction made between the subjects

of the riverain states and those of non-riverain states;
and no exclusive privilege of navigation will be con-
ceded to companies, corporations, or private persons.

12

Article XXVII stipulates that no restrictions, obliga-
tions, landing or other dues shall be imposed on navigation;
that no transit dues, river tolls, or differential duties,
with the exception of taxes or duties which shall be the
equivalent for services rendered to navigation itself, shall
be levied on ships or goods.

Article XXVIII legislates that the affluents of the
Niger are, in all respects, "subject to the same rules as the
river of which they are tributaries."

Article XXIX, though not unusual in its wording, has
specific interest for this thesis because the principle point
of dispute during the "Borgu Crisis" of 1897-1898 was the
French desire to gain access to the Boussa Rapids, which im-
pede all river traffic from the mouth of the Niger to the
French portion of the River. By this article, should the
French gain access to Boussa and effectively solve the navi-
gational problems these rapids present, she could break the
effective British monopoly of the Niger. This article reads
as follows:

The roads, railways, or lateral canals which may be con-

structed with the special object of obviating the in-

navigability or correcting the imperfections of the

river route on certain sections of the Niger, its afflu-
ents, branches, and outlets, shall be considered in

1271pid.
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their quality of means of communication, as dependencies
of this river, and as equally open to traffic of all
nations.

And, as on the river itself, so there shall be collected
on these roads, railways, and canals, only tolls calcu-
lated on the cost of construction, maintenance, and
management, and on the profits due to the promoters.

As regards the Tariff of these tolls, strangers and the
natives of the respective territories shall be treated
on a footing of perfect equality.%3

A declaration is embodied in Articles XXXIV and XXXV of
Chapter VI of the Berlin Act relating to the essential con-
ditions to be observed in order that new occupations on the
coast of the African continent may be held to be effective.

It is striking that these conditions were not difficult to
fulfill, even if they were subject to differing interpretation.
The text of these Articles is as follows:

Article XXXIV

Any Power which henceforth takes possession of a tract
of land on the coasts of the African continent outside
of its present possessions, or which, being hitherto
without such possessions, shall acquire them, as well

as the Power which assumes a Protectorate there, shall
accompany the respective act with a notification thereof,
addressed to the other Signatory Powers of the present
Act, in order to enable them, if need be, to make good
any claims of their own.

Article XxXxXv

The Signatory Powers of the present Act recognize the
obligation to insure the establishment of authority in
regions occupied by them on the coasts of the African
Continent sufficient to protect existing rights, and,

as the case may be, freedom of trade and of transit under
the conditions agreed upon.}*

131pid., p. 483.

l41bid., pp. 484-485.
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The British Commission which examined the Berlin Act had
reservations about Articles XXXIV and XXXV above, respecting
the occupation of the African Coast. Chiefly, the British
Commission was concerned that since the declaration "only had
the African Coast in view"!® its restrictive character made
it less useful than it should be. They would have preferred
"that the rules which are about to be settled for the acquisi-
tion of new possessions in Africa should be applicable to the
whole African Continent."1® 1In particular the British noted
that as the coasts "are very near being occupied for the
whole of their extent,® hence, if these articles were strictly
limited to the unoccupied coasts they would have little mean-
ing.

The French ambassador, Baron de Courcel, did not agree.
Granting that there existed "hut little available territory
on the coast" these territories made amends;

by possessing an importance which justifies new arrange-

ments of which they would be the object. Along the

seashore, moreover, the ground is truly defined, whilst,
in regard to territorial delimitations, there is much

that is uncertain and unknown in the interior of Africa.l?

In part because the "coastal character" of these two

articles was not removed, the British and German governments

fixed their respective spheres of influence in the Gulf of

1%parliamentary papers (C-4361) page 214 annex 1 to
Protocol No. 8.

161pid.

171pid.
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Guinea in May, 1885.28 The Lower Niger, of course, was to
remain in the British sphere. Duties were to be levied
solely for meeting the necessary expenses for carrying out
the obligations of the protectorate under the decree of
Berlin. Once German objections had been removed, the
British government could officially declare a protectorate
over the Niger. And, on June 5, 1885, such a protectorate
was duly notified to the powers in accordance with the Act

of Berlin.®

A further agreement was reached with Germany
the following year prolonging the coastal definition inland
to the town of Yola, leaving that town within the British

sphere.

C. THE BRUSSELS ACT OF 1890

Although chronologically somewhat ahead of sequence,
the Brussels Act of 1890 is the second international agree-
ment with bearing on this thesis. Articles VIII and IX are
principally concerned with slavery and how to stop it. 1In
particular they refer to the circumstances under which a
party might, or might not be armed, which has special refer-
ence in that the activities of certain French missions within
what was, by the English version at least, the British sphere

of influence, were constant sources of friction.

l8parliamentary Papers, 1885, Africa No. 6 (C. 4442),
LV, p. 551.

19gee Hertslet, Vol. I, op. cit., pp. 127-156.
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By the 8th article of the Brussels Act®° the powers
decided among other things, that firearms, especially rifles
and improved weapons, as well as ammunition, should be pro-
hibited in the territories comprised between the 20th
parallel of north latitude and the 22nd parallel of south
latitude and extending westward to the Atlantic Ocean and
eastward to the Indian Ocean and its dependencies. The other
relevant clause, paragraph four of the 9th article runs as
follows:

Besides the measures directly taken by governments for

-arming the public force and the organizations of their
defense, individual exceptions shall be admitted for
persons affording sufficient guarantees that the arms
and ammunition delivered to them will not be given,
assigned, or sold to third persons, and for travelers
provided with the declaration of their government stat-
ing that the weapons and ammunition are destined

exclusively for their personal defense .21

To get somewhat ahead of the story, this section did not

answer the question of what rights an armed party might have

in travelling in disputed territory.

D. LORD SALISBURY--ARCHITECT OF BRITISH
TROPICAL AFRICA

Lord Salisbury was the most influential European in the

peaceful partition of Africa.2?2 This olympian statesman was

20gertslet, Vol. II, op. cit., pp. 488-516.
211pid.
28There are many sources for Salisbury; the best, of

course, are the Salisbury Papers at Christ Church and the
incomplete biography by his daughter Lady Gwendolyn Cecil,
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in office for all but two of the years between 1886 and

1902, and for most of this period he combined the office of
Prime Minister and Secretary for Foreign Affairs into one.

It is worthy of note that Salisbury's first two cabinet posts
were as Secretary for the India Office, the second of which
was served under Disraeli. Salisbury had also toured the
colonies (South Africa, Australia, and New Zealand) in his
youth and maintained fond remembrances of them.

It must be borne in mind, however, that when Salisbury's
Second Ministry first came to power in 1886, the Berlin Con-
ference of 1885 had just determined the criteria for the
dismemberment of Africa between the several states. England
stood grandly isolated from the European treaty structure,
and it seemed entirely possible that as colonial fervor
grew, Europe might combine against England. Certainly any-
where in the world that French, German, Russian, or even
Japanese imperialism turned, it ran into British commercial
interests which often had maintained for years a monopoly of
the best and most lucrative trade items and territories.
Salisbury was also constantly distracted from his favorite
occupation, that of the formation of Foreign Policy, by the
continuing Irish crises.

Salisbury was convinced, however, that there was plenty
of room in the world for the imperialisms of all the major

powers‘to co-exist peacefully. It only remained for England

op. cit. Most useful of the shorter works is Kennedy's one
volume book, op. cit.
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to make concessions at the proper times to prevent any
untoward European coalition. Africa needed close attention,
however, as the rules laid down at Berlin in 1885 postulated
that occupation meant more than previous treaties with
African chiefs, whose validity was often in doubt.  In a way
this format meant that African land acquisitions would not
be terribly expensive, as a small expedition could, in a
loose way, "occupy" a quite large piece of territory. 1In
particular, in West Africa the French were willing to make
the arrangements and to provide the money for military ex-
peditions. Salisbury was constrained by a Parliament that
had not yet grown accustomed to the necessity of annexation
and would not vote credits to govern what England already
possessed, let alone consider annexations of land that had
doubtful utility.

As it was also clear that the chartered companies could
not meet the challenges of the French or Germans in 1889,
Salisbury negotiated a West Africa Agreement with France.
This Convention effectively defined the boundaries of the
Sene-Gambia, Gold Coast, and Dahomey-Slave Coast (Lagos)
boundary as they extended inland from the coast .®3

With the disappearance of Bismarck, Salisbury was able
to negotiate the famous Africa-Heligoland treaty of June 28,

1890.24 The principle arrangements were that English control

23parliamentary Papers, 1890 (C. 5905), Africa No. 3.

24parliamentary Papers, 1890 (C. 6046), Africa No. 6.
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of the Island of Zanzibar and Pemba was recognized by Berlin
in return for the strategic North Sea Island of Heligoland.
The British, however, also were keen to prevent hinterland
disputes in East Africa, and although Cecil Rhodes' much
desired railroad route from the Cape to Cairo was blocked by
German Tanganyika extending to the Belgian Congo, British
control of the Kenya hinterland was valued for its proximity
to the headwaters of the Nile. 1In West Africa, a rather
minor portion of the agreement delimited an Anglo-German
demarkation on the Gulf of Guinea and extending inland for
enough to prevent riverain disputes.2®S
Salisbury’s grasp of the African situation is amply
illustrated by his defense of the Anglo-German treaty in the
House of Lords on July 10, 1890. 1In particular, Salisbury
was replying to criticism from Lord Rosebery, who had chided
Salisbury for ever allowing the Germans access to Africa in
the first place. His reply was apt, as it cleverly exoner-
ated his government from the charge of having been the
innovator of any aggressive imperialism.
Up to ten years ago we remained masters of Africa, prac-
tically, or the greater part of it, without being put
to the inconvenience of protectorates or anything of
that sort, by the simple fact that we were masters of
the sea and that we have had considerable experience in
dealing with native races. So much was that the case
that we left enormous stretches of coast to the native
rulers in the full confidence that they would go on under
native rulers and in the hope that they would gradually

acquire their own proper civilization without any inter-
ference on our part.

25see Hertslet, Vol. I, op. cit., p. 85.
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Then, suddenly, we found out that that position, how-
ever convenient, had no foundation whatever in inter-
national law. We had no rights over all these vast
stretches of coast, both on the West and East coasts of
Africa. We had no power of preventing any other nation
from coming in and seizing a portion of them.26

In the same statement before the House of Lords,
Salisbury's concern for a proper delimitation of Africa is
manifest, and although he was specifically referring to the
East African Anglo-German rivalry, he could just as well have
been speaking of the West African Anglo-French disputes.

I will say that, during these negotiations, it occurred
to me more than once that it might be wiser to break

them off altogether and to allow the years to pass over
us until the natural progress of civilization and the
struggle for existence should have determined in a far
more effective way than can be done by protocols and
treaties, who are to be supreme, and in what parts of
that vast continent each nation is to rule. But, on
reflection, we could not convince ourselves that that,
though for the most part comfortable course, would be

our duty; because, in front of this advancing tide of
colonization, there are numbers of men of both nationali-
ties,--men of energy and strong will, but not distinguished
by any great restraint over their feelings,--who would

be urging in every part where rivalry existed and the two
Powers touched, the claims of each nation to supremacy in
each particular piece of territory; . . . trying to es-
tablish by means which must constantly degenerate into
violence, the supremacy of that nation for which they
were passionately contending. . . .

. « . I fear that if the existing state of things had
gone on, harmony between the two countries might not have
been long maintained.27

Though criticism of his African policies did not cease,

Salisbury did not slacken his efforts for peaceful boundary

delimitation in Africa.

2681,ady Gwendolyn Cecil, op. cit., Vol. IV, pp. 225-226.

271pid., p. 228.
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In part because of the success of this Anglo-German
agreement France was re-stimulated to seek further agreement
with England in their African areas of conflict. The major
points of the Declaration exchanged between the Government
of France and England on the 5th of August, 1890, concerned
the interior of West Africa and the Island of Madagascar .2®
In short, France accepted English control of Zanzibar for a
reciprocal recognition of French control of Madagascar. 1In
West Africa England consolidated a somewhat shaky control of
the Niger through George Goldie's Royal Niger Company, by
giving France the vast stretch of territory extending from
her Algerian possessions to a line drawn from the Eastern
end of Lake Chad at Barruwa to Say on the Upper Niger. This
famous Say-Barruwa line was modified to the extent that all
territory which could rightly and fairly be included within
the kingdom of Sokoto should fall within the British sphere
of influence. Upon this point much will be said later.2®
Further, the Agreement stipulated that a joint Committee
would meet periodically in Paris to determine the final Anglo-
French West African boundaries. These negotiations lasted
intermittently for most of the period of the dissertation,

1890-1904, until final agreements were reached in 1904.3°

28parliamentary Papers, 1890 (C. 6130), Africa No. 9.

2%por the full text see Hertslet, op. cit., Vol. II,
p. 739.

30rhe final on the ground delimitation convention, based
on the Anglo-French Entente of 1904, was not signed until
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Nothing better illustrates the steady rationalism, and
humor, of Salisbury than his concluding remarks before the
House of Lords concerning the Anglo-French treaty of 1890.3%
His oft quoted statement that the vast stretches of land left
to France between the Mediterranean and the Say-Barruwa line
were what agriculturalists would call "light" aptly illus-
trates his sentiments. "Light" the land certainly was--
consisting exclusively of the Sahara Desert--and Salisbury
could rightly congratulate himself for having swapped value-
less territory for the Niger and an end to much French
hostility. Nevertheless, it was an unfortunate remark since
the French representatives were quite as aware as he that
the Sahara had little value, but had hoped to use this great
new swatch of blue on the map of Africa as a sop to the
colonialists and public opinion.

Great in importance as the Say-Barruwa line was, its
limitations should be noted, as the solution of its defects
forms the diplomatic portion of this thesis. Primarily, the
Say-Barruwa line was an East-West line. It gave France a
great stretch of the Sahara between Algeria and the Say-
Barruwa line but did not define the lateral extensions which
France might or might not be able to claim. Naturally, con-
flicts arose. They came first in the hinterland of the Gold

Coast, where British interests were effectively excluded by

29 May"1906 and ratified on 29 August -1906. See Hertslet,

3lcecil, op. cit., Vol. IV.
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the French. A second area left undetermined was the Sudan,
but Fashoda, of course, eventually set the eastern limits
of the French expansion in the direction of the Upper Nile.
The third area of conflict, with which this thesis will be
concerned, were the French attempts to make a south-east end
run around Say, by extending the hinterland of Dahomey into
Borgu on the Middle Niger. 1In this the French were only
partially successful and control of the Niger above the all
important Boussa Rapids remained in British hands. The
fourth area of conflict, with which this thesis is also con-
cerned, came over what could fairly be included in the king-
dom of Sokoto. 1In this area the French made certain terri-
torial gains, but there is no doubt that Lugard and
Lansdowne were able to exploit the French desire to have a
watered route from Dakar to Lake Chad to British advantage.
In sum, then, by the end of 1890 the diplomatic process
of West African boundary delimitation was well under way.
The precedents for the agreements of 1889 and 1890 were a
combination of the pressures of European diplomacy and the
internal thrusts of imperialism as it developed in England,
France and Germany toward Africa. It is the final chapters
of West African boundary delimitation which concern the
remainder of this thesis. Until 1897, the story continues
to be largely, but not completely, one of the European
diplomacy. After mid-1898, as the crisis in Borgu settles

down, the center of interest increasingly shifts to internal
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developments in Northern Nigeriaias the impending transfer
of the sovereign rights of the Royal Niger Company to the
Government approaches. With the approach of Government
control, the development of Indirect Rule takes the major
part of this thesis. It would be difficult to determine
which process has had the most effect on Nigeria, the final

boundary settlement, or Indirect Rule.






CHAPTER IV

A. DIPLOMACY AND INTERNAL AFFAIRS,
1890-1895

Lord Salisbury and most members of parliament were well
satisfied with the Anglo-French West African agreement of
1890. They probably would have been delighted had the sub-
ject never come up in diplomatic debate again. However, in
part due to Lord Salisbury's own tactless remarks regarding
the relative worth of the Sahara Desert, which had been
assigned to France, certain individuals within the French
government were determined that they would right the slights
to French prestige in West Africa by assuring themselves
control of a port on the Middle Niger below the rapids at
Boussa. Obviously, this was not going to be an easy task,
as the rights of the Royal Niger Company were well established
in the Middle and Lower Niger, both by international treaty
and by Anglo-French accords. 1In fact, the French Colonial
parties were faced with the prospect of negating the rights
of the Royal Niger Company in the Niger without coming into
serious conflict with Great Britain, or for that matter,

Germany.1

lGermany had claims in Togo, the Kameruns and a possible
claim on Gando.

52
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The first steps of the French Colonial Party were taken
in 1891 and 1892. A certain Lieutenant Mizon was sent on an
expedition by a commercial syndicate in France® to explore
beyond Yola on the Benue, an area outside the Company's
limits. Mizon's party consisted of a Captain of Dragoons and
several non-commissioned officers, beside natives. They were
armed with rifles and a Hotchkiss gun which was mounted on a
steam launch in which they were conveyed. They entered the
Niger through a little-used creek without giving any notice
to the company, and soon became involved in disputes with
the natives, during which Lieutenant Mizon and others were
wounded .3

Once aware of the Mizon party, the Royal Niger Company
allowed them free use of the river, as stipulated by the
Berlin Actvof 1885, but would not allow Mizon to call for
fuel or provigsions at any of the Company's ports until the
apparent military nature of the expedition was explained.

It will be remembered, however, from Sir Claud MacDonald's

report,* that anyone using the Niger, yet unable to use

2At least according to a statement made by M. Wadding-
ton, the French Minister to Lord Salisbury in Apr., 1891,
and recorded on page 8 of a long "Memorandum on the Claim of
Great Britain and France in the Basin of the Middle and
Lower Niger" compiled@ by Colonel William Everett, C.M.G.,
then the assistant Adjutant-General in the intelligence divi-
sion of the War Office in November, 1897 as Confidential
African (West) No. 539. Found in CO 879/50.

31bid., or Memorandum of Sir Clement Hill 6 May 1895.
co 879/50.

‘4see footnote 44, Chapter II, this thesis.
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Company ports of call, would be in a very difficult situa-
tion, to say the least. The restriction on using Company
facilities was, however, lifted on three conditions:

(1) that the expedition would engage to respect the laws of
the Company while within their jurisdiction; (2) that it
would not use cannon and rifles within Company jurisdiction;
and (3) that Mizon would not attempt to go overland through
the British territories.® Mizon paid scant heed to these
stipulations, however.

The British government contended that the action of
Lieutenant Mizon involved a breach of Section 4 of the 9th
Article of the Brussels Act.® The French government on the
other hand contended that the limitations placed on the
transit of the expedition by water up the Niger were incon-
sistent with the 26th and 30th articles of the Berlin Act,
which stipulate that all agents and/or companies or persons
must have equal treatment and must be accorded equal pro-
tection on the River Niger. . They argued that M. Mizon's
expedition did not possess a military characrer and that the
Company could not expect their regulations to be observed

when they had never been published.'

SEverett, op. cit., p. 9.

SHertslet, op. cit.; see Chapter III, Section C, this
thesis.

TEverett, op. cit., p. 10 in CO 879/50.
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Despite the quibbling nature of the argument, the stakes
were large. 1In particular, the French had two goals: one,
of course, was a port on the navigable course on the Niger
below Boussa; the second, was concerned with heretofore un-
claimed territory east of Yola. It will be remembered that
the Anglo-German delimitation had reached only as far as Yola,
and territory to the North and east of Yola had a direct
bearing on French interest in the Congo. 1Indeed, this area
had a potentially crucial significance by virtue of its
proximity to Lake Chad which had become the focal point of
communication between French West Africa and French Equatorial
Africa. After considerable exchange of diplomatic notes and
discussion at the Niger Commission meetings in Paris, little
was accomplished but the annoyance of both parties to the
dispute.®

Lieutenant Mizon did, however, continue his travels
toward Yola, and if his methods were highhanded, the Niger
Company for its part was never cooperative. On the 25th of
May 1893, in fact, the Niger Company sent a long letter com-
plaining of M. Mizon's proceedings and claiming £100,000 in

damages.® 1In part, because of the Company's complaints, and

8For correspondence relative to this question see M.
Waddington, 31 August 1891; Mr. Phipps No. 196, 27 July,
1891; to the Marquis of Dufferin No. 198, 1892; To the Mar-
quis of Dufferin, No. 222, 1892, as well as Sir Clement Hill's
memorandum of 1895, op. cit.

S®There is quite a bit of reference material pertaining
to this incident. The most concise statements are set forth
in a memorandum and other documents with an enclosure in a
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after a further exchange of notes, the French government
sent out instructions to M. Mizon to return home to explain
his conduct. However, his successor was to proceed on the
mission beyond British territory.

Perhaps not surprisingly, M. Mizon at first declined
his orders as authentic, considering the obstructive nature
of the Royal Niger Company to this point. To further compli-
cate matters, as Mizon was proceeding down the river on the
"Sergeant Malamine," his craft was seized by the Niger
Company®s authorities on the ground of having been engaged
in commerce in contravention of regulations and without pay-

ing custom duties.!® He was tried and formally condemned

letter from the Company to the Foreign Office. (Niger Com-
pany to Foreign Office, May 25, 1893). Flint, op. cit.,
also has a rather complete discussion of the incident.

Specifically, the acts of Lieutenant Mizon for which
the Company asked compensation are as follows:

"1. That he (Mizon) had disregarded his formal written
agreement to respect their (Company) territory up to beyond
Yola, on the south bank of the Benue, and to 100 miles beyond
Ribago on the north bank of that river.

2. That he had stopped their coastal vessels and had
threatened to fire on them.

3. That he had raised the incident with the Emir of
Muri with whom they had concluded a treaty in 1885 (30th of
January, see treaties concluded between the Royal Niger Com-
pany and native chiefs).

4. That he had made a treaty with the Sultan of Mure
and had supplied him with arms and ammunition.

5. That he and his soldiers personally used cannon and
rifles to assist the Sultan of Mure in capturing the important
pagan town of Kwana, under British protection, and had re-
duced to slavery all the inhabitants who were not killed dur-
ing the attack or subsequently starved in the bush." See
Everett Memorandum CO 879/50.

10gee Chapter III, Section "B", footnote 7, Hertslet,
op. cit., this thesis.
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on the charge. Although both sides were doubtlessly irri=-
tated, the actions of both Mizon and local Company officials
in no way rendered easy the diplomatic tasks of settlement.

The Mizon expedition brought clearly into focus the
incomplete nature of the British Protectorate of Nigeria,
even though in the agreement of 1889 a clause had been in-
serted*? by which the line of demarcation between the British
possessions in the colony of Lagos and the French possessions
on the Slave Coast!® had been definitely determined.

In Article IV, Section 1 of the Brussels Act, it was
stated that the line of demarcation "shall be identical with
that meridian which intersects the territory of Porto Novo
at the Ajarra Creek." The article goes on to say that "it
shall follow the above-mentioned meridian as far as the 9th
degree of north latitude, where it shall stop." Hence, it
is clearly seen that from the coast to the 9th degree of
north latitude no question could arise between the Niger
Company sphere of influence and the French sphere of influ-
ence.

The problem which faced the French and British repre-
sentatives was then to determine the boundary line between
this 9th degree of north latitude and Say on the Upper Niger.

In this region the British, and in particular the Royal

Niger Company, had come to assume that the territory fairly

llarticle IV, Section 1.

127mne present country of Dahomey.
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belonged to them, as the Company held that Borgu was a nominal
tributary of Gando which was tributary to Sokoto, the latter
two both having signed valid treaties with the Royal Niger
Company. The French for their part had either to demonstrate
that the treaties signed by the Royal Niger Company with

Gando or Sokoto were invalid, or that parts of Borgu had never
formed any part either of the spheres of influence of Gando

or Sokoto.

Moreover, to the north the French were becoming more and
more aware of the inconveniences which the Say-Barrua line
posed upon French communications between French West Africa
and French Equatorial Africa. Barrua on the eastern shore of
Lake Chad was of particular concern, for should the Say-Barrua
line continue operative, the French would be faced with the
inconvenient problem of going to the north and east of Lake
Chad, an area largely desert, in order to maintain any sort
of communication between French Equatorial Africa and French
West Africa by land. Moreover, the Lake Chad region had a
certain strategic importance for French aims in the Sudan and
Upper Nile.

But M. Mizon's mission was not the only expedition which
French capital and ingenuity had sent into the heart of
Africa. During the same period, one Lieutenant Monteil was
commissioned to explore the Lake Chad area, which by 1893 he
had done. In so doing, Monteil had crossed, knowingly, or

unknowingly, into what nominally came under the British sphere
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of Nigeria in Bornu south of the Say-Barrua line and in the
northeast corner of what is today Nigeria. Monteil was
struck, as indeed is anyone who looks at a map of West Africa,
with the superior advantages of a route between French Equa-
torial Africa and French West Africa which passed south and
west of Lake Chad. He, therefore, entered Bornu and con-
tracted a number of treaties with local potentates, in particu-
lar at Kuka. Bornu, of course, had never come under the
jurisdiction of Sokoto or any of the Fulani Emirates. None-
theless, it would be necessary for France, in order to gain
any of the Burnu territory, substahtially to call into doubt
the . Ssay-Barrua portion of the agreement of 1890.

Indeed, in both Bornu, south of Lake Chad, and in Borgu
east of Middle Niger, the French government had begun the
process of denegrating the diplomatic arrangements which had
been made previously. In July 1893 M. Hanotaux informed
Mr. Phipps!® that Captain Monteil had obtained important in-
formation relative to the district of Say-Barrua, which might
affect the line of demarcation, and that he had ﬁeen received
in Kuka in Bornu south of the Say-Barrua line. It was at the
same time stated in French papers that in defiance of the
1890 agreement Monteil had concluded a treaty with the Sultan
of Sokoto, an area expressly reserved to British protection.

The French government proceeded to develop the theory

that while Great Britain was debarred by this line from

13Mr. Phipps was then one of the British commissioners
at the Paris Niger Commission meetings.
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advancing northward, or France southwards over the Say-
Barrua line, France was free to enter and acquire the terri-
tories to the south of it from any other quarter. M. Hanotaux,
in fact, wished to be allowed to examine any British treaties
which would interfere with such actions.

Mr. Phipp's instructions as to how to reply were recorded
on the 26th of August 1893:

As regards to the limitation to the east of the Niger,

I have to observe that the production of treaties is
unnecessary and inadvisable. By the arrangement of 1890,
the boundary line between the British and French spheres
was drawn from Say in the Niger to Barrua on Lake Chad,
the line to be deflected so as to leave the entire kingdom
of Sokoto on the British side. The French have no right
to interfere to the south of that line nor the British to
the north of it: Neither party has any concern with
treaties concluded by the other within its own sphere.
If, therefore, M. Monteil concluded a treaty with Bornu
-affecting territories south of Barrua, the treaty is as
invalid as are M. Mizon's treaties of engagements in the
Benue district. The contention put forward in the French
press that Sokoto only, with its dependencies, is placed
by the agreement within the British sphere, is totally
untenable; it is contrary to the spirit of the agreement,
and also to its letter, as it has never been pretended
that Barrua, which belongs to Bornu, is a dependency of
Sokoto. You must, consequently, decline to enter into
any discussion as to the validity of British titles in
the British sphere.*

In February 1894, M. Casimir-Perier,?> in upholding the
right of M. Mizon to act as he had done at Yola, reverted to
the argument that the arrangement of 1890 did not apply, and

could not be interpreted as settling the question of the

14Barl of Rosebery to Mr. Phipps, 26 August 1893.

15M. casimir-Perier was at that time serving as French
Commissioner to the Niger Commission sitting in Paris.
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respective spheres of influence south of the Niger and the
Benue.

M. Hanotaux subsequently amplified this argument, assert-
ing that the recognition by England of the French sphere of
influence to the south of her Algerian possessions was in
compensation for the recognition of the British protectorate
over Zanzibar, and did not imply any settlement of the British
sphere of influence.?® Not surprisingly, Lord Rosebery lost
no time in refuting this proposition of M. Hanotaux.

Goldie, of course, was particularly alive to the threat
posed by French interference in the middle stretches of the
Niger, particularly the rapids at Boussa. Should the French
be able to insert themselves on the Niger below the rapids
at Boussa, Goldie's hard-won monopoly of trade on the Niger
would be at an end. Hence, when it was rumored that France
was commissioning a new mission to negotiate treaties in the
eastern part of Borgu, particularly at Nikki, Goldie was
ready. He commissioned Captain Frederick Lugard to form a
commission and head to Borgu, particularly to Nikki via Kishi,
and to negotiate treaties throughout the territories of
Eastern Borgu, which today is in Dahomey.!7 This famous
"race to Nikki" which ensued is but one of the more colorful

episodes of the early Borgu crisis.

16gee too, Marquis of Dufferin No. 64 Africa, March 4,
1894.

- 17The details of Lugard's mission are covered exhaustive-
ly in Margery Perham's Diaries of Lord Lugard (Evanston,
Illinois: Northwestern University Press, 1959), 4 vols.
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Goldie, like most of the British cabinet, had little
commercial interest in the Bornu region of northeast Nigeria.
But all were concerned that if the French were able to call
into doubt sections of the 1890 agreement, they would have
less trouble in calling into doubt the more important sec-
tions relating to Borgu in eastern Nigeria.

At this juncture Lord Salisbury's conservative ministry,
with the addition of Joseph Chamberlain at the Colonial
Office, was returned to office. For the next three years,
between 1895 and 1898, the settlement of the eastern boundary
of Nigeria hung fire, and though it did not become the spark
to ignite Europe, the period has come to be known for good
reason as the "Borgu Crisis."

In short, this period represented a clash of wills be-
tween the imperially minded Chamberlain--who was determined
to push to the very limit of possibility British expansion
in the world--and elements of the French Colonial Society
equally determined to extend French interest in West Africa

to the utmost.

B. THE NIGER COMMISSION

After bringing the events of the Middle and Lower Niger
to 1895, it is necessary now to turn with some detail to the
diplomacy and actions of the Niger Commission. It will be
recalled that the final paragraph of Clause 2 of the Conven-

tion of 1890 stated that such a Commission would meet from
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time to time in Paris.t®

This Commission was empowered to
examine the whole question, or questions, of the Niger as
well as other West African territories, which should arise
between England and France.

The first of these commissions was appointed in 1892,
the commissioners being Mr. Phipps and Sir Joseph Crowe for
Great Britain, and M. Hanotaux and M. Haussmann for France.
This first Commission, in part due to the Mizon controversy,
found it impossible to reach agreement on any question relat-
ing to African boundary controversies. In principle, however,
the Boundary Commission did agree that the line between
spheres west of the Niger should run from Say to the north-
west angle of the neutral zone, the hinterland of the Gold
Coast, and thence to the French town of Bonduku. But the two
governments could not reach so easy a conclusion and negotia-
tions were temporarily broken off.

In 1894 another effort was made to arrive at a settle-
ment. A line which would have been drawn from the termination
on the 9th parallel of the eastern frontier of Dahomey to

the intersection of the Niger by the 12th parallel of north

latitude was discussed by Mr. Phipps and Mr. Hanotaux.

18gee Hertslet, op. cit., and Chapter III, Sec. "D"
this thesis. The Public Record Office in London also has an
enormous amount of material which eminated from these discus-
sions scattered throughout FO and CO files. The reports,
etc., are collected, howewver, for the purposes of this thesis
the partial references for the later years in CO 446 series
were quite sufficient.
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Practically speaking, this line formed a continuation of
the eastern frontier of Dahomey to the Niger in the north.
The chief problem involved here, however, was a divergence
of opinion respecting the position of Nikki. It will be
noted had this line been accepted, Nikki would have been in
French territory. However, as both the exact position of
Nikki and that of parts of the Niger River itself were
matters of contention, none of the participants involved was
disposed to make a good settlement. The Royal Niger Company
in particular was indisposed to see Nikki assigned to any
French sphere. For its part the Company considered Nikki to
be one of the residences of the Sultan of Borgu, with whom
they had a treaty.l®
Nonetheless, a basis for negotiation was in principal
agreed upon by Mr. Phipps and Mr. Hanotaux in 1894:
As for the delimitation of British and French spheres
of interest west of the Niger, a line traced eastward
from tge Dahomey frontier, running along the Niger to
the 12~ parallel, will be recognized as the line of
separation. This line of partage acknowledges to
France a large part of Borgu and Gourme, and the English
will renounce all trade conducted by her west of the
altered line.2°
-Despite this tentative arrangement, neither the French
nor English governments were again disposed to proceed and
active negotiations were terminated indefinitely.

At the beginning of 1896, on the settlement of certain

disputes in Siam and Tunis, Salisbury decided that a favorable

1%Everett, op. cit., p. 31.

20Mr. Phipps, No. 226, 9 October 1894.
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opportunity had .appeared for proposing to the French that
the Niger Commission should resume its meetings. Paris was
agreeable and new commissioners were appointed. For Great
Britain, they were Mr. Howard and Sir Augustus Hemming and
for France, M. Larrouy and M. Roume. Soon after their
appointment, however, Colonel Everett replaced Mr. Hemming,
who had been in the meantime appointed Governor of British
Guinea, and had proceeded to his post. Serious negotiations
began in the fall of 1896.

The British Commissioners, in the case of the Say-Barrua
line, were instructed to take the basis of agreement between
Mr. Phipps and M. Hanotaux as the starting point for further

discussions.2?

The French commissioners for their part de-
clined to admit that the Phipps-Hanotaux conversations in any
way formulated positions of agreement. They implied that
they were merely a "Premier avant project." They chose to
revert to a former contention of their government, hinted at
earlier, which interpreted the Declaration of 1890 in the
following manner .22

1. That the Say-Barrua line debarred Britain from ad-

vancing northward over this line. However, France was free

to acquire territories not belonging to Sokoto to the south

of that line from any other quarter.

2lgee Marquis of Salisbury No. 33 Africa, 7 February
1896.

22British Commissioner's Dispatch to Marquis of Dufferin,
15 February 1896.
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2. That France had treaties concluded by Monteil in the
triangle Say-Argungu-Gomba territory, moreover, which did
not belong to Sokoto and hence should belong to France.

3. That France had rights at Yola, where a French post
still existed.®3

4. That as Sokoto clearly had never controlled Bornu and
as neither France nor Great Britain had a treaty with Bornu,
France was entirely free to enter and contract treaties with
Bornu as she chose.2®%

Not unnaturally, Lord Salisbury, who had negotiated the
Convention of 1890, was much disturbed by such denigration
of the value of the Say-Barrua line. After hearing of the
French commission's reasoning, Lord Salisbury addressed a
long dispatch to Lord Dufferin which was intended to prove
conclusively;

that I signed in the full belief that the line was a

separation between French and British possessions, the

French to the north and the British to the south. But

it does not only prove what my own interpretation was,

it proves also what was the interpretation of M. Wad-
dington himself attributed to it. I know that he read
the speech, because three or four days afterwards he
wrote to me a letter which I now possess, commenting on

another portion of it; and he would certainly have called
my attention to my erroneous conception of the operation

23yola, of course, being the extreme limit of the British
sphere of influence on the Benue.

241t will be remembered, of course, that while Bornu had
no particular commercial value to the Royal Niger Company, it
had a large strategic value for France, as control of Bornu
would give France a well-watered trade route south of Lake
Chad between her West African and Equatorial African posses-
sions.
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of the treaty on the Sultanote of Bornu and the shores
of Lake Chad, if he had been at variance with his own
interpretation of the agreement. From what I know of

M. Waddington, and I had known him for a great number of
years, it is absolutely impossible that he should have
known that I was signing the treaty in belief that the
line was a limit between French and British possessions
when in his view it was a form of words which would per-
mit the assertion of a claim to French territory to the
south of that line.2®5

It must be stressed that Lord Rosebery had not made con-
cessions during the Niger Commission meetings of 1893 and 1894
to which Lord Salisbury was unaware. Indeed in a dispatch
of the 26th of August 1893, he remarks,

The French have no right to interfere to the south of

that line (Say-Barrua line), nor British to the north

of it; neither party has any concern with treaties con-

cluded by the other in its own sphere. 1If, therefore,

M. Monteil concluded a treaty with Bornu affecting

territory south of Barrua, the treaty is as invalid as

are M. Mizon's treaties or engagements in the Benue
district.28

Although Lord Salisbury was surprised to find that the
French had suddenly formed a new interpretation of the con-
vention of 1890, knowledgeable people in the Colonial Office
who had been keeping close track of affairs within France
were aware of the internal pressures to which all French
politicians were then being subjected by colonial advocates.

This pressure continued to mount until by August 31, 1895

Sir Percy Anderson,27 in a memorandum could state: "Attempts

25yo0. 56, Africa, Foreign Office, 21 November 1896.

26Rosebery to Niger Commission, 26 August 1893, as in
Everett, op. cit.

27anderson was one of a number of "old hands" who had
some special competence in West African affairs. He figures
prominently in correspondence regarding Nigeria.
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made in the French press to escape from the Say-Barrua line,
though probably dishonest, have been supported by French
statesmen in recent negotiations." In this same memorandum,
however, Sir Percy Anderson goes on to note that the Niger
Company, in particular Sir George Goldie, has presented its
own equally ambitious plan for the partition of West Africa.

In essence, the Niger Company would have preferred to
see a line drawn south from Say so as to meet the northern
extension of the Dahomey-Lagos border at the 9th parallel
accepted as the final definition of the territory of Northern
Nigeria. This ambitious proposal would, of course, have left
Nikki, including most of what is today Northern Dahomey,
within the Royal Niger Company's sphere of operations and
monopoly. Although this definition of the future of Northern
Nigeria was politically impracticable from the standpoint of
London, the Niger Company had good reason other than mere
aggrandizement for proclaiming it.

It must be remembered that at the time of the convention
of 1890, the Niger Company had some scattered treaties with
chiefs to a distance of some 300 miles up river of Say. It
can be assured that Sir George Goldie would not have relin-
quished them except on the understanding that territory south
of the Say-Barrua line would remain in perpetuity in the
exclusive sphere of the Royal Niger Company. Indeed, the
Royal Niger Company qould point to the fact that public opin-

ion within France in 1889 and 1890 was far less frenetic than
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the present situation. In fact, a map, published in
Le Temps on August 13, 1890, assigned to the Niger Company
exactly such a line as Goldie continued to propose: a per-
pendicular southward line from Say to the coast of Kotonou.

'Nonetheless, despite the protestations of Lord Salisbury,
Lord Rosebery, and Sir George Goldie, the second article of
the Declaration of 1890 was not entirely specific in the
meaning which it attached to the Say-Barrua line. 1In failing
to define the meaning of the line exactly, the French govern-
ment could probably rightly conclude that the British govern-
ment had tacitly admitted the possibility of a French advance
to the south of this line from another quarter .28

It must further be recognized, of course, that by 1896
the inconvenience of the Say-Barrua line to French hopes for a
West African empire had become obvious to all concerned. To
make the best use of the great stretches of territory in
Central, West, and Equatorial Africa to which France had by
now laid claim, France needed two things from what had
hitherto been assigned to the Royal Niger Company. First,
they needed a navigable port on the Niger to insure that the
hinterland of Dahomey and the Kingdom of Mossi, now under con-
trol of Captain Toutee, would have a proper outlet to the
sea. And second, they needed the aforementioned route south

of Lake Chad to connect their West African and Equatorial

—

) 28gverett, op. cit., p. 26. Or so later rueful inquiry
indicated.



70

African possessions.2®

To return to the Niger Commission meetings themselves,
on 26 April, after several meetings in the latter part of
February and April, the British commissioners proposed a
boundary line according to the following formula. The Bound-
ary would extend eastward from the intersection of the 9th
parallel of latitude with the meridian forming the eastern
frontier of Dahomey along the 9th parallel as far as 1° east
of Paris (3°20' east of Greenwich), and thence northward
along the meridian up to its intersection with a line drawn
direct from Say to Barrua. According to Everett, who by then
was an active participant in negotiations,

in making this proposal, the British commissioners said

that they were actuated solely by conciliatory motives,

and by a desire to satisfy to their utmost the wishes
of France, and to obtain a settlement along the line
which would be satisfactory to their respective govern-
ments. They also requested their colleagues to take
note that, in the event of such a settlement not being
arrived at, they would not relinquish any of the claims
made by them to the territory which they were now about
to propose to abandon.3°

The French commissioners, however, declined to accept
this formula as a basis for discussion. They made the follow-

ing counter proposal:

That a line starting from the eastern frontier of
Dahomey at its intersection with the 8th degree of

29(The Germans had as yet made no effective occupation
of the northern territories of Cameroon which abutted Lake
Chad and which in theory would break French communications as
effectively as the British sphere of interest in Bornu. The
French had good reason to hope that they could dislodge both
the English and German interest on the shores of Lake Chad.)

301bid., p. 32.
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north latitude should follow that parallel eastward to
the Niger, and then that river up to Say, the right bank
falling to France and the left bank to Great Britain.3?%

Principally, of course, this proposal would give to the
French government a very convenient stretch of the Niger below
the Boussa rapids upon which she could link her rail lines and
communications to the interior and at the same time have a
navigable port to the open sea.

Characteristically, Lord Salisbury was not disposed to
see territory given up easily, and in a note to the Marquis
of Dufferin on May 12, 1896, he records the following:

Her Majesty's Government has learned with surprise the
nature of the counterproposal now made by the French
Commissioners, which would deprive Great Britain of the
whole of her sphere of influence to the west of Niger
and north of the 9th parallel of latitude. The basis of
the agreements of 1890 and 1894 was the existence of two
spheres requiring to limitation by commission, and this
has also been the basis of subsequent negotiations to
which I have referred.

The present proposal is an entirely new departure. It
renders the past work of the commission inoperative. It
leaves no ground open for future discussion by them.

It substitutes absolute surrender by one party for an
amicable arrangement between the two powers. The plan
proposed by the British commissioners had the latter sub-
ject in view, but the counterproposal is wholly unaccept-
able .32

Upon learning of Salisbury's expostulations, the French
government, or in particular M. Hanotaux, made the following

counter-proposal.

3lsee British Commissioner's Dispatch, 8 May 1896.

32pritish Commissioner's Dispatch, 23 May 1896.
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The boundary, as before, would start from the inter-
section of the meridian forming the eastern frontier of
Dahomey with the 8th degree in north latitude, but,
instead of following the parallel eastward, it should
proceed in a straight line drawn obliquely to the inter-
section of the 9th parallel of latitude with the 4th
meridian of longitude east of Greenwich, and then, follow
this parallel eastward to the Niger, to be drawn along
the right bank of that river, as before, to Say.32
As this proposal also gave the French government the
requisite stretch of navigable Niger below the Boussa rapids,
it was, of course, rejected by the British commissioners.
Despite this unseemly intransigence on the part of the
two Commissions, and in spite of Salisbury's strong words,
there is little doubt that due to increasing Anglo-French
tensions had Lord Salisbury and the British Foreign Office
been left entirely in charge of affairs in West Africa, France
would have received large concessions in the Middle and Lower
Niger. 1In October Lord Salisbury was friendliness itself when
speaking with Courcel on West African subjects.3%* Doubtless,
British success in Egypt had the end effect of driving French
politicians to seek greater gains in West Africa, while stimu-
lating Salisbury's overtures. Nevertheless, as late as
December 31, 1896, Everett could write in private to Sir
Clement Hill that:
Thinking how bent the French are on getting to the Niger
below the jrapids--I discovered why it might constitute a
very satisfactory quid pro quo, for, at least, the tri-

angle of territory which lies south of the 9th parallel
in Hanotaux's second proposal.

33courcel to Hanotaux, 3 October 1896; D.D.F., XII, No.
468, as in M. Robinson and Gallagher, op. cit., p. 403.

341pid.
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Briefly, it consists in such a rectification of the west-
ern frontier of the Gold Coast agreed to July 1893 as
would give the colony all that is wanted in Gaman.

Though I have no knowledge of how such an exchange would
be viewed by the Colonial Office, I should think they
would gladly sacrifice this bit of Lagos for the Gaman
country, and I believe the French would agree without even
formal protest. I need not now go into details, but, if
we got this, together with Bona, Lobi, and a frontier to
the north, leaving Dafina and Yatenga to France and giv-
ing up Mossi, and if, in addition, we obtained, the best
we ought fairly to obtain in any case, the 14th parallel
of latitude from the Niger to Lake Chad, the French might
have Borgu amd the right bank of the Niger down to Liaba
and welcome. So far as we know, it is a worthless tract
of country which would never be of much use to us or to
anyone else.

There would remain the question of the port. You know
Goldie's views as well as I do. He has said to me more
than once, 1If ever the French get a port on the Niger,

I will sell up the whole business and clear out. As long
then, as the Niger Company are there, I do not see quite
how that port is to be managed; but if Her Majesty's
government took over the administration and were prepared
to spend a little money--which Goldie cannot afford to do--
neither I nor Howard can see any solid objection to the
arrangement. Only we ought not let them have a port op-
posite Jebba or Rabba, or any other place just in the bend
of the river, if we can help it. . . . To escape from
this difficulty I should propose to modify Hanotaux's line
from the intersection of the east Dahomey frontier with

8 degree latitude the intersection of 9 degree latitude
with 4 east longitude, by producing it to the Niger in-
stead of turning it eastward along 9 degrees latitude.

I believe it would cut the Niger somewhere in the vicinity
of Arenberg, but, in any case, I should be inclined to let
the French have that place so that their amour propre
might be satisfied. They would then have a port on the
navigable portion of the Niger, and we could establish
ourselves firmly at Jebba, or Rabba, and turn all the
trade from the east down the river.3S

Hence, despite the apparent cordiality between the Brit-

and French commissioners and the willingness to make

some concessions at least on the part of the British

35c01. Everett to Sir Clement Hill, 31 December 1896;

CO 879/48.
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commissioners, and in particular Lord Salisbury, Anglo-
French relations in the Middle Niger were approaching a
point of crisis by the end of 1896.

Early in 1896 Captain Toutee purchased a piece of land
on the Niger from the King of Bajibo and constructed a fort
garrisoned with French troops. At the time,3® the French
declared this territory to be "no man's land" and hence felt
they had as much right as anyone to occupy the land. Although
it is not exactly clear why, if this territory was "no man's
land," the French felt obliged to purchase the territory,
the action of Toutee in building a garrison and fort on the
Niger spurred the Royal Niger Company, in particular Sir George
Goldie, to action; and after repeated and urgent protests,
initiated by both George Goldie and Joseph Chamberlain, the
French were eventually induced to quit Fort Arenburg. This
fort was subsequently garrisoned by troops of the Royal Niger
Company, and the fort itself was renamed Fort Goldie.

For its part, the Company had been having its problems
with native Emirs farther south, particularly in Nupe and
Ilorin. Hence, Sir George Goldie decided that it was neces-
sary as well as opportune for the Royal Niger Company to make
a definitive showing of force. An expedition to Nupe would
have the dual effect of reinforcing Royal Niger Company con-
trol there and demonstrating to the French government the

effective power possessed by the Company. Hence, in the

38pritish Commissioner's Dispatch, 23 May 1896.
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winter of 1896-1897, Sir George Goldie himself conducted
an expedition against the Emir of Nupe.

The preparations for this expedition quite naturally
caused the French government some anxiety, and they made
representations on the subject to the British government .37
The French were particularly concerned lest the Royal Niger
Company not restrict its operations to the lower reaches of
the Niger around Nupe and Ilorin, but continue northwards.

The French government was not satisfied with the assur-
ances made during November, however, and on 8 December 1896,
the French Minister for the colonies stated in the Chamber
that M. Ballot, the Governor of Dahomey, had received instruc-
tions to return to his post and consolidate the existing
rights of France in that region.

Sir George Goldie's operations were successfully con-
cluded about 25 February 1897, and resulted in the complete
submission of both Nupe and Ilorin.®® Goldie, however, was
greatly concerned by reported information that a French ex-
pedition had occupied Boussa territory and that a French
resident had been installed there.

In fact, Goldie's information was correct. A force under
one Lieutenant Bretonnet of the French navy, originating
from Dahomey, had proceeded as far north as Ilo on the Niger

and thence descended to Boussa, leaving detachments at

37British Commissioner®s Dispatch, 21 November 1896.

38gee Flint, op. cit., Chapter 11.
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various posts on the righthand bank of the river as they

descended. Goldie immediately telegramed the information to

the Council of the Royal Niger Company to bring the Bretonnet

mission to the attention of the government immediately.

On March 9, 1897, Henry Morley, Secretary of the Council

of the Royal Niger Company addressed the following urgent

message to the Under Secretary of State:

The Council cannot too strongly urge on Her Majesty's
government the necessity of immediate representations
being made to the French government with a view of the
prompt withdrawal of this expedition from territory
within the British sphere.

The Council cannot but feel that such an encouragement
is all the more flagrant when it is remembered that the
French government received an assurance from Her
Majesty's government that the recent operations of the
Company should not extend north of Bajibo. Had it not
been for this assurance, the Governor of the Company on
receiving news of the approach of this expedition, would
have proceeded direct to Boussa prior to undertaking the
march on Ilorin.

The Council further wish to point out that the French
government claimed the right to such assurance on the
ground that, in their view, the territory on the right
bank of the river in this region was in dispute--and
there could be no other ground for asking for an assur-
ance of this nature--pledge given should surely have been
mutual and equally applicable to any French expedition
operating in the hinterland of Dahomey. The Council wish
to draw special attention to the fact that the Company's
troops are in occupation of posts in Boussa territory,
that there is subsequently grave danger of collision at
any moment unless this aggressive action on the part of
the French officials is immediately put a stop to.3°

The danger of a possible clash in Borgu was made all the

more serious by the aggressive and sometimes belligerent

3%Henry Morley, Secretary of the Council of the Royal

Niger Company to the Under Secretary of State for the Colon-

ies,

9 March 1897; cO 879/50.
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imperialism of the new minister for the colonies, Joseph
Chamberlain. Indeed Chamberlain, a man of strong opinions,
had some sharp disagreements with Lord Salisbury on the rela-
tive value of the West African empire.*° 1In any case with
public feeling already running high over Egypt, especially
in France, this new Borgu crisis had the potential for even
more seriously impairing relations between England and France.
Before dealing with the details and repercussions of the
"crisis in Borgu," it is necessary to retrace the events of
the preceding decade to determine the relative merits of the
treaties which both the Royal Niger Company and the French
government had negotiated with the various Emirs, kings, and
chiefs of the Upper and Middle Niger region. For, despite
the tempers and military interventions into the Niger region,
the eventual settlement of 1898, was based for the most part
on the presumed legality and jurisdiction of the potentates

with whom these various treaties were signed.

C. PROBLEMS CONCERNING THE TREATY STRUCTURE
WITH INDIGENOUS STATES
In general terms, the whole crisis in Borgu, indeed the
whole question of delimitation of the Anglo-French spheres
of influence in the Middle Niger, can be subsumed under three

headings. The first consists of the disputed claim of Great

40gee Robinson and Gallagher, op. cit., pp. 402-409.
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Britain to the whole of Borgu under the treaty of 1890 with
the King of Boussa. In other words, was the King of Boussa
sovereign over the whole of Borgu as the Royal Niger Company
would like to claim; or was the French contention more accur-
ate that Borgu contained a number of more or less sovereign
entities which had no governmental or feudal duties of ogli-
gation to one another? 1If, of course, the British claim
could be substantiated, then the whole of the petty bicker-
ings of the Niger Commission would be largely irrelevant.

The second problem concerned what might properly be
claimed as the extent of the authority of the King of Nikki.
This question, of course, assumes that the Kiné of Nikki owed
no allegiance to the King or Emir of Boussa. It also includes
the problem of the validity of the treaty which Captain Lugard
signed at Nikki in 1894. This treaty had its validity
seriously challenged by the French deputies at the Niger Com-
mission in Paris. 1Indeed, the doubt which they were able to
cast upon the validity of this treaty eventually had much
influence on the British Commissioners, and in particular
Lord Salisbury.

The third question, which is not subsumed in the answer
to the first, consists of the claim of Great Britain to
Gurma in Gando under the treaty of 1894 with the King of Gando.
The problem was somewhat similar to that of the Kinngf Boussa
in Borgu; just exactly how much territory properly fell under
British protection and jurisdiction by right of a valid

treaty with the Emir of Gando?
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The implications involved in answering these three com-
plicated and highly complex questions would form the bulk
of a very large thesis. It is possible here only to deal in
a general and rather brief manner with the problems which
these questions present.
In regard to the first question--the title of the King
of Boussa to sovereignty over Borgu--the French claim, that
the King of Boussa did not have feudal sovereignty in its
European sense, seems to have the weight of logic behind it.
The Royal Niger Company, of course, and Sir George Goldie in
particular, claimed on the authority of Lander%! that Boussa
was, indeed, the predominant kingdom and that Keioma and Nikki
were subordinate rulers of a kingdom which except for these
large cities was practically one. -What Lander actually said
was that:
The kings of Boussa had the reputation of being the
greatest monarchs, next to the sovereigns of Bornu, be-
tween that empire and the sea; and this enviable distinc-
tion is acknowledged by every rival chief. Yet it cannot
be owing either to their power, their state, or their
opulence, for of all the Borgu rulers, they are perhaps
the poorest and feeblest. The superior dignity of the
kings of Boussa, and the honor and reverance which are
universally paid them, have arisen, it is said, from the
respectability of their origin, for they are believed to
be descendants of the oldest family in Africa, which in
ancient times, long before the introduction of the
Mohammedan religion, was the great head of the fetish:

hence the profound respect which is yet shown them by
the professors of the new faith, and those who still

4lgee Bibliography, Section III, nos. 114 and 115.
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cling to the superstitions of the old, and the influence

which they exercise as far as their name is known.%2

‘Clapperton in his volumes about his expeditions of 1825
and again in 1830, which in part went through Borgu, helps
to clarify this situation. Clapperton found the Borgu king-
dom divided into four petty states of Nikki, Kiama, Wawa,
and Boussa; of which Boussa "was considered the head and
Nikki the next."#3 Clapperton further states that in case of
conflict the King of Boussa had certain rights of arbitration
which were generally respected.** Clapperton goes on to say,
moreover, 3 that the King of Nikki was descended from a
younger branch of the family of the King of Boussa, informa-
tion which tends to facilitate understanding of the relaticn-
ship between Nikki and Boussa.

In his travels of 1830 Clapperton found that although
the King of Boussa was "acknowledged to be the greatest of
the sovereigns of Borgu, . . . Nikki was the most powerful

n46

monarch in all of Borgu. Hence, in Borgu as a whole it

becomes evident that only the original members of the ruling

42Richard and John Lander, Journal of an Expedition to
Explore the Course and Termination of the Niger (London:
John Murray, 1832), Vol. II, p. 106.

43Hugh Clapperton, Journal of a Second Expedition into
the Interior of Africa from the Bight of Benin to Soccatoo
. « « . (London: cCass, 1966), quote taken from initial edi-
tion, p. 117.

441bid.
451bid., pp. 103-105.
461pbjd., Vol. I, p. 233 and Vol. II, p. 134.
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family resided at Boussa on the Niger. And, while retaining
the respect of other branches of the family, those branches
which moved west soon came to overshadow the parent city of
Boussa in wealth and power. This interpretation seems to be
corroborated by later evidence of contemporary and reliable
sources.  In Ilo, a town north of Boussa on the Niger, Mr.
Wallace, then Agent-General for the Royal Niger Company in
Nigeria, noted in the early 1890's, that the King of Ilo was
by custom usually either a half brother or an elder brother
of the King of Boussa.*?7 1Ilo was a relatively important
town, and it would seem probable that it need not have owed
Boussa any allegiance, if it were not sanctioned by custom,
based on special proximity alone. This position of customary
respect extended south as well, and it is stated by Lieutenant
Barton, who commanded the Company's post at Liaba during the
early 1890's, that the King of Wawa was a blood relation to
the King of Boussa and when called upon furnished the latter
troops without hesitation.*®

It is interesting to note, moreover, that in territories
further west of Nikki, particularly in Kiama and Bue, the
rulers there at the time of debate over the delimitation of

French and British spheres on the Middle Niger were both full

47gee proceedings of the Royal Geographical Society for
December, 1896, a paper by Mr. Wallace entitled "The Hausa
Territories.”

48gee Niger Company to Foreign Office, September 24,
1897.
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brothers of the King of Nikki,*® a rather interesting case
of westward movement of ruling families.

Quite naturally Sir George Goldie had a somewhat dif-
ferent version of the authority of the King of Boussa. The
following statement records his view:

I visited Boussa on the 22nd, 23rd, and 24th of February
last 1896. During my stay I had two long interviews
with the King. 1In the course of conversation I alluded
to my journey up from Jebba, and asked him how far south
his kingdom extended on the west bank of the river. He
answered at once, "as far as the frontier of Ilorin,"
and although I tried to shake him on this point, he ad-
hered to his statement that there was no gap whatever
between his territory and that of Ilorin.

I asked him whether Ilo, up river, really belonged to
him. He replied in the affirmative. When I asked him
how it was that Gomba, lower down, did not belong to him
he made no reply, and I learnt afterwards that this
intrusion of Gando across the river at Gomba is a very
sore point with the King of Borgu.

As the Niger Company has treaties with Nikki and Keioma,
as well as with Boussa, I was not concerned to obtain
conclusive evidence on the question of the mutual
dependence or otherwise of these states; . . .

« « « In short, I feel convinced that the present posi-
tion in Borgu is very much the same as it was when Lander
first visited it in 1831, when he found that Boussa was
the paramount, and Keioma and Nikki the subordinate
rulers of the kingdom practically one, owing to the neces-
sity of constant defense, which has lasted for 80 years,
- against the Foulah advance which has swept awag all the
great pagan kingdoms to the east of the Niger.>°

Despite Sir George Goldie's evidence to the contrary,

there seems to be no particular reason to call into doubt the

49gee an article by F. D. Lugard in The 19th Century,
June, 1895, p. 902. See also, British Commissioner's Dispatch,
21 March 1896.

SOstatement used as evidence by Everett, op. cit., pp.
78-79, from Goldie.
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French claim that Borgu consisted of a number of nominally
independent states. The evidence does seem good, of course,
that the various components of Borgu, or at least their
rulers, were related by certain mutual ties of kinship and
loyalty. However, there seems no reason to assume that there
was any strict regulation of priority between the various
components of Borgu. Certainly there were no priorities
which could be so interpreted in European law and treaty for-
malitieg. None that would make it possible to construe one
loosely related part of Borgu as being included within the
sphere of influence of one of the great European powers simply
by virtue of another of these loosely inter-related parts of
Borgu signing a treaty with any European nation, at any rate.
It was also of considerable interest to the Commissioners
sitting in Paris to discover the exact northern limits of
Borgu. The most easily identifiable spot in the northern
boundary is the City of Ilo. Quite naturally, in a memoran-
dum on the subject,5! Sir George Goldie states that the King
of Boussa included Ilo within his domain. Lugard in his
Journals of 1894 also states that Ilo is well within the
boundary of the Emir of Boussa.®2 However, Lugard never got
farther north than Nikki, his testimony on the subject is

questionable.

Sl1pid.

S52gee Perham, Diaries, op. cit.
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Perhaps the most conclusive proof that the territory of
Boussa went at least as far north as the town of Ilo is
contained in the testimony of Captain Toutée, as quoted in
Colonel Everett's memorandum, >3 that Ilo is "a large town
inhabited by people of the Borgu race, and governed by a
chief who is the eldest brother of the King of Boussa and
the youngest brother of the King of Nikki." Although this in
itself is not conclusive proof of Ilo's relationship to
Boussa, Captain Toutée seemed convinced enough of the con-
nection that the treaty which he concluded with the Chief of
Ilo did not seem to have been included among those notified
to Her Majesty's government by Baron de Courcel on the 4th
of March 1896.5%

It is significant, however, that Captain Toutée placed
the northern limit of Borgu between Ilo and Kirotachi, some-
what north along the River Niger. Hence, in the final con-
vention of 1898, when Ilo became the boundary, the British
Commissioners did make a slight concession. However, they
did retain the town of Ilo in the British sphere of influence.

As to the second question, about the extent of authority
of the King of Nikki, it would seem an understatement to
suppose that the boundaries given by Lugard, de Coeur, or
Ballot represent anything like the actual boundaries or views

of any African ruler.

S3gverett, op. cit., p. 74.

S4gee Baron de Courcel to the Marquis of Salisbury,
4 March 1896.
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It will be recalled that in the famous race to Nikki,
Lugard arrived first, and on 18 November 1894, negotiated
a treaty with what he thought to be a legitimate represen-
tative of the King of Nikki. Lugard had hardly left the
town of Nikki before a French officer, Captain de Coeur,
arrived from Dahomey. He concluded a treaty with the King of
Nikki on 26 November 1894. Some few months later M. Ballot
arrived in Nikki, escorted by a strong force at his back,
and had no difficulty in signing a third treaty with the King
of Nikki. These treaties were signed on 20 and 21 January
1896.

The principal difficulty concerning Lugard's treaty with
Nikki, despite the fact that he had arrived first, centers
on the fact that, by his own admission, 55 Lugard did not deal
directly with the King of Nikki. The reason, Lugard states,
was that the King of Nikki supposedly had a fear of actually
meeting with white men and hence designated some of his
principal chiefs to sign the treaty for him. Lugard does,
however, give an additional reason--that the King of Nikki was
reportedly blind or nearly so. Furthermore, Lugard did not
meet with the best of receptions in Nikki, and contrary to
the proposed instructions of Goldie, who sent Lugard on his
mission, he did not proceed farther north, but returned from

Nikki to Jebba and thence homeward.

SSsee Perham, Diaries, op. cit.
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Quite naturally, de Coeur and Ballot did their best to
discredit‘the validity of the British treaty and to build
up the value of their own, not, however, without reason.

Both de Coeur and Ballot insisted that the copies of the
treaty which Lugard left behind him were not properly signed
or at least not signed in a way which they supposed most
African chiefs were capable of doing.

The French had discovered, much to their credit, that
most African Emirs in the western part of Africa knew enough
Arabic to sign their own name in Arabic even if they were
not, normally speaking, scholars or literate. Most of the
British treaties, on the other hand, were signed in a manner
in which the interpreter took the hand of the chief or sign-
ing dignitary and helped him trace an "X" in the proper space
on the treaty form. In most cases, this "X", when coupled
with the declaration by the interpreter and witnesses that
the chief had understood all clauses of the treaty, sufficed.

In the case of Lugard's treaty with Nikki, however, this
method, coupled with the admitted failure actually to treat
with the King himself, coupled with evidence coming to light
later that the King of Nikki was not blind as Lugard had
supposed, lent stfength to the French position. In particular,
the treaty signed by M. Ballot in January 1895 was, in
European terms, valid-in all respects. The British had rather
wryly to admit that the considerable force which accompanied

M. Ballot on his mission may have accounted for part of his
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success; however, there was little that the British Commis-
sioners could do in the latter part of 1896 to remedy the
situation.

To Lugard's credit it must be remembered that the
treaties he signed prior to reaching Nikki were of inestim-
able value for the British position. In particular, the
treaties Lugard concluded with the King of Kishi on 13
October, 1894, and at Kioma, were in no way impugned by
subsequent French expostulations.

The third question which confronted the Niger Commission
was the status of the King of Gando and the limits of his
kingdom. This was important because, although Gando was
clearly secondary in importance and influence to Sokoto, it
nevertheless controlled, or was presumed to control, a large
stretch of territory to the southwest and northwest of
Sokoto itself. 1In terms of the Niger Delimitation Commis-
sion, this meant that the status of the Kingdom of Borgu was
relevant on the left bank of the Niger between Borgu and
whatever might fairly be deemed to come under the kingdom of
Sokoto as contained in the Convention of 1890.

As it turned out, the relative position of Gando meant
little in the final delimitation of territory. And by the
1898 Convention, the only significant portion of the boundary
whose claims Gando in any way affected was a short stretch
of territory between Ilo on the right bank of the Niger and

the arc of territory with a 100-mile radius, its center being
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in Sokoto, which formed the final decision of the 1898 Com-
mission.

The history of the treaty structure with Gando, however,
is very relevant to the position of Sokoto. Hence, a de-
tailed discussion of the Gando question is not out of place:
indeed it forms a very convenient introduction to the whole
problem of Sokoto and the northwest arc of territory of what
is today Nigeria. The question of Sokoto and the northern
boundary between Sokoto and Lake Chad, and the influence of
Sokoto on Lugard's eventual system of Indirect Rule form the
bulk of the latter half of this thesis.

Without repeating what can be read in detail elsewhere, 5©
the Empire of Sokoto was established sometime around the turn
of the century (circa 1800) by Othman dan Fodio. Dan Fodio
was a Moslem reformer, and after initial conquests centered
around Sikoto, he deputed lieutenants to continue the spread
of the faith, i.e., the Tijamiya version of the Muslim faith.
With remarkable vigor a comparatively small number of men,
most of whom were Fulah or Fulani by race, conquered a very
large proportion of what today consists of Northern Nigeria,
Northern Dahomey, Northern Togo, parts of the Cameroon, and

a large part of what is today in Niger and Chad.

S6although there are many sources devoted particularly
to the Empire of Sokoto. Perhaps as good as any from the
standpoint of this thesis is John D. Hargreaves, Prelude to
the Partition of West Africa (New York and London:
Macmillan Co., 1963 and 1966) .




The ger
t+at each o
‘0 set hims

rered; and

piritual
Snetime
treat emp
Ne n
e claiy
3 Nomina
dilegiar
ate hej;
“ando 3
Stkatg
thﬁ’ggh
Seligy
0 thg
Strenc_
in Ga

~

°f Ga

W

H

..,‘s 1



89

The general pattern of this Fulani conquest was such
that each of the lieutenants designated by dan Fodio tended
to set himself up as Emir of the region which he had con-
quered; and allocate his fief in a somewhat feudal manner
among those of his followers who had supported him in war.
All of the various Emirs, however, originally owed both
spiritual and secular allegiance to dan Fodio and Sokoto.
Sometime around 1817 dan Fodio died and subsequently this
great empire was more or less divided between his heirs.

No matter what the subdivision of power, all the Emirs
who claim some sort of Fulani origin continued, at least in
a nominal manner, to owe spiritual as well as secular
allegiance to Sokoto. As it happened, however, the immedi-
ate heir of Othman dan Fodio did not receive Sokoto, but
Gando and a number of provinces heretofore subject only to
Sokoto. Through vigorous leadership, the Emirs of Gando
though spacially not far distant from Sokoto, quickly con-
solidated for themselves a power within the empire second only
to that of Sokoto. Despite the relative position of military
strength, however, it was never questioned either by those
in Gando or by anyone else in the Sokoto empire that the Emir
of Gando owed his immediate allegiance to the Emir of Sokoto,

his near kinsman as well as overlord.®? It is significant to

S7Por the original information on the political events
in early Sokoto, see H. Barth, Travels and Discoveries in
North and Central Africa: being a journal of an expedition
undertaken under the auspices of H. B. Majesty's Government
(New York: Drallup, 1896), Vol. IV, M. Clapperton, op. cit.,

and Landers, Travels, op. cit., Vol. II.
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add that the one territory which consistently eluded the
control of Sokoto was Borgu, although for a time Sokoto did
have control of the Town of Boussa.

Hence, in 1885, when the Royal Niger Company, or as it
was then, the National African Company, at the instigation
of Sir George Goldie, was attempting to secure its monopoly
on the whole Middle and Lower Basin of the Niger, the Company
was careful to conclude treaties with both Sokoto and Gando.
The agent delegated for this job was a Mr. Joseph Thomson
who, on Junéi/}BBS, concluded a treaty with Sokoto and on
the 13th of that same month concluded a treaty with Gando.
By the treaty with Sokoto, the Sultan transferred to the
National African Company its entire rights to the country on
both sides of the River Benue and of the rivers flowing into
it throughout his domain.

This clause, of course, is of some interest as Lieuten-
ant Mizon in 1891-1893 attempted to reassert the French
claim on the City of Yola, a city already assigned to England
by the Anglo-German Conventions of 1889 and 1893, and which
had clearly once been part of the empire of Sokoto and still
maintained nominal allegiance to it.

Thompson's treaty with Gando was of a similar nature
with that of Sokoto, ceding the entire rights of the Emir to
the National African Company. The Company, however, did not
rest securely with these treaties of 1885, and in 1890, this

time under the auspices of the Royal Niger Company, treaties
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were again signed with both the Sultan of Sokoto and the Emir
of Gando. In the second treaty the Niger Company obtained
full and complete power and jurisdiction over all foreigners
vigiting or residing in any part of the King's domain or
dominions.

Reacting to French intervention in 1892 and 1893, the
Royal Niger Company once more in 1894 sent out its Agent
General, Mr. Wallace, again to treat with the Sultan of
Sokoto and the Emir of Gando.

With respect to this third treaty with Gando, dated
4 July 1894, concluded with one Omoru, the Sultan of Gando,
the Sultan recognized that the company received their power
from the Queen of Great Britain and that they were Her
Majesty's representatives to the Sultan. The Sultan also
undertook not to recognize the representatives of any other
white nation. It was furthermore stated in this treaty that
the country of Ilorin and the country of Gurma were included
in the Sultan's domains, the latter extending to Libtako.
Perhaps feeling guilty at the immense possession which the
Sultan of Gando had conceded to the Royal Niger Company, a
clause was inserted to the effect that an annual subsidy of
some 2,000 bags of cowries had been paid annually to the
Sultan by the Company for the nine preceding years. This
clause undoubtedly was fostered by Sir George Goldie who
feared that it might be implied by other powers that the
Sultan of Gando did not fully understand the clauses of the

treaty on which he had put his "X".
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The relation of Gondo to Sokoto was never questioned
by the French in any way; in fact, was admitted by M. Ballot
in a report dated April 5, 1893.58 what the French did try
to infer, however, was that Gondo's relationship with Sokoto
did not necessarily mean that all the territory which was
nominally tributary to her was necessarily fully within her
power. This, of course, makes sense because the original
empire of Sokoto was based predominantly on control of the
caravan routes which extended from one center of population
to another and tended to avoid areas that were either unsettled
or through which travel was extremely dangerous, as, for
example, the pagan areas of Bauchi. Hence, the French could
claim with some justification that a good share of the terri-
tory claimed in the west by the Sultan of Gondo was, in fact,
seldom disturbed in any manner by the Sultan, who claimed
that the area was nominally tributary to him. This, of course,
was not a condition that was new in 1890. A similar conclu-
sion could be reached by carefully studying Barth's comments
on Bondo and Sokoto made during his travels in 1853. Hence,
despite Gondo's undoubted subordinate relationship to Sokoto
and despite its undoubted claim to a quite large tract of
territory, especially to the west of that city, it was in
fact very difficult for the British commissioner to maintain

with justification Gondo's claim to even that small bit of

58see enclosure 1 in British Commissioners Dispatch,
20 March 1896.
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territory between Ilo and the 100-mile arc surrounding Sokoto

itself.

In summary, then, the basic delimitation problems of
the western boundary of Nigeria between Dahomey and Lagos
prior to 1897 were: one, tense feelings engendered by dual
occupation of various points along the Niger, and two, dif-
fering, but not insupportable claims of sovereignty. Hence,
the position of the delimitation commission could be summed
up as follows.

First, it must be remembered that without the second
portion of Clause 2 of the Declaration of the 5th of August
1890, the whole of the territory that was in dispute south
and east of Say would without difficulty have long since been
included within the British sphere of influence. But the
clever French interpretation of the second part of this
Article prevented outright British control.

The French contended that the Say-Barrua line was a limit
to northward expansion of the British interests only. They
felt it did not preclude the French government from signing
treaties south of that line provided their parties came from
any other quarter than from the north. Hence, the French
asserted that all territory on the right bank of the Niger
down to a lateral extension of the boundary line which reached
the 8th parallel between Dahomey and Lagos extending westward

until it reached the Niger should belong to France.
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It can, on the other hand, clearly be established that
the Niger Company had clear claim to the cities and districts
of Boussa, Kiama, Kishi, and Ilisha despite French counter-
claims. But the claim of the Niger Company to the whole of
Borgu based on an 1890 treaty with a King of Boussa rested
on a somewhat doubtful and shaky assertion that the whole
territory of Borgu, including the Kingdom of Nikki, was sub-
servient to Boussa.

It has also been shown that despite Captain Lugard's
previous treaty with Nikki, the French counterclaim that
Lugard's treaty had serious flaws must be admitted to have a
good deal of validity to it. Likewise, the extensive claims
of the Royal Niger Company, based on its treaties with the
Sultan of Gondo, to the west of that city extending to Say
are extremely difficult to prove. Especially when the French
could produce treaties as they rapidly were able to, with
various cities, throughout territory that was once undeniably
within the empire or sphere of interest of Gondo.

All this information becomes extremely relevant at the
beginning of 1897, when for the first time Sir George Goldie
found a kindred spirit in the Colonial Office in the person
of Joseph Chamberlain. Chamberlain, as already pointed out,
was fully prepared to exert the full weight of British power
to gain what he could in West Africa for the Royal Niger
Company .

It is perhaps significant that had Chamberlain appeared

on the scene but a few short years earlier, he might have
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prevented large cessions of territory to France, particularly
the hinterland of Dahomey. As it was he clearly saved as
much as he could, preventing the French from gaining a port
below the rapids at Boussa on land controlled by France, and
barely averting a rather serious incident on the Middle Niger
which might in the tense situation of 1897-1898 have led to

serious European repercussions.



CHAPTER V
THE ANGLO-FRENCH SETTLEMENT OF 1898

The preceding chapter has examined in some detail the
relative merits of the Niger treaty system, its flaws, and
the difficulties of reaching suitable settlement in the
Middle Niger based upon those treaties. Diplomacy, however,
proceeds at a slow pace unless the principals on both sides
seriously desire a settlement.

Prior to late 1897, there had been little determination
on the British side to bring negotiations of the Niger Com-
mission to any speedy conclusion. There were good reasons,
of course, for Lord Salisbury's lack of interest, or rather
preoccupation with other parts of the world.! To his mind,
he had already conceded much to France in this part of the
world. And in any case, his attention had been riveted else-
where in Africa.

In M. Hanotaux the French, on the contrary, possessed
a statesman of vigorous imagination who was determined to

push France's new African empire to the limits of its

lgsee F. H. Hinsley, "British Foreign Policy and Colonial
Questions, 1895-1904," in Vol. III of The Cambridge History
of the British Empire, op. cit., to note how minor an issue
the Niger must have seemed to Salisbury.
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logical possibilities. Certainly, with reference to West
Africa, the French possessed a superior colonial system
in terms of organization. And throughout most of the period
with which this thesis deals the French were far more ready
to commit ﬁen and money to advancing their territorial
interests.?

The fervor with which Hanotaux approached African ques-
tions can be appreciated from reading his own apologia,

Le Partage de L'Afrique.® 1In the simplest terms, Hanotaux’

grand dream was the utmost extension of France in Africa.

He hoped for uninterrupted possession from the Mediterranean
to the Congo and from the Atlantic to the Red Sea. Imme-
diately after the formation of the Meline Cabinet of the end
of April 1896, Hanotaux helped formulate a policy by which
France from then through 1898 would aim at confronting Britain
with a series of accomplished facts. That is, Britain was to
wake up one day and discover that French troops were actually
in possession of much of what, prior to then, British traders
had presumed was British territory.* A part of this plan, of

course, refers to Captain Marchand, who was to insure French

2g5ce, for instance, Robert Dee Ceix in Historie Generale,
ed. by Ernest Lavisse and Alfred Rambaud, Vol. 7, pp. 720-730.

SEspecially pages 132-135, and page 155.

“see, for instance, Andre LeBon, in his La Politique de
la France en Afrique, 1896-1898, especially page 66. M.
LeBon was himself the Minister for the Colonies in the Moline
Cabinet.
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access to the Upper Nile. In West Africa the Governor of
Dahomey, one M. Ballot, was to carry out during 1897 a series
of "fanwise" treaty-making expeditions.® The effect of these
French missions had already been noted, and by mid-1897 the
French had effectively called into doubt the clause of the
Convention of 1890 which had given all territory south of the
Say-Barrua line to Britain.

What would have happened had not Joseph Chamberlain
chosen this time to assert his vigorous personality, in terms
of the West African empire, is open to doubt. Most probably
a good share of what is today Western Nigeria would be part
of Dahomey and Northern Nigeria would be part of Niger. It
is interesting to note that already, by July of 1897, Goldie
had written to the Colonial Office in discouraged terms that
he no longer felt the Royal Niger Company was capable of with-
standing French pressure.

I think it is desirable, in Imperial interests, that the

administration of Nigeria should no longer be conducted

by a company which is also engaged in trade, and by

trade I mean only trade, and not monopolies of land or

minerals which are general in all civilized communities.

This duality of the Niger Company's functions has pro-

duced a bitter hostility amongst a handful of persons in

Liverpool, which has had serious international effects.

Their continuous and carefully organized communications

to the French press during the last two years have great-

ly contributed to excite French feeling against the Niger

Company and England, and have naturally given ground for

confidant expectations of the triumph of France and

French political interests over the Niger Company's

interests. Now, political interests of the Niger Com-
pany are those of Great Britain.®

S5ibid., p. 67.

6sir G. T. Goldie to the Colonial Office, 21 July 1897;
CO 879/48.
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In this same note, Goldie then went on to hope that perhaps
something could be made of Sir John Kirk's scheme for admin-
istration of the Niger. Failing that, he would suggest,

A. That the private rights of the Niger Company should

be bought out; B. That Nigeria, the Niger Coast Protector-
ate and the Colony of Lagos, should be thrown into one
West African territory. C. That a West African Council
should be created for the active administration of the
West African Territory, with functions analogous to those
of the Council of the Governor General in India--I do not
refer to the India Council at home--or those of the Gov-
ernor of the West African Coast Colony. D. That the West
African Council should be controlled by the Secretary of
State for the Colonies, just as the Council of the
Governor General in India is controlled by the Secretary
of State for India, or as the Governor of a Crown colony
is controlled by the Secretary of State of the Colonies.
E. That the members of the West African Council should

be men of African experience and should hold their seats
permanently, subject to removal by the Secretary of State.
F. That the West African Council should sit in London and
not in West African territory, thus differing from the
Governor General's Council in India, who sit at Calcutta
and Simla, and from the Governors of West Africa coast
colonies, who reside, as much as the climate permits, in
their colonies. G. That the West African territory should
be divided into districts, each locally administered,
under the West African Council by two administrators or
executive officers, who would alternate with each other,
as do the Niger Company's executive officers and judges,
with their terms (one year each) overlapping sufficiently
to allow some weeks of residence together, so as to admit
a complete continuity of knowledge.

According to Mary Kingsley "Mr. Chamberlain alone of all
our statesmen, saw the great possibility and importance of
West Africa."7 Undoubtedly this is an accurate statement, but

8

as Chamberlain's biographer notes® the Colonial Secretary was

'Mary Kingsley, West African Studies (3rd ed., New York:
Barnes and Noble, 1964), p. 307.

83. L. Garvin, The Life of Joseph Chamberlain (London:
Macmillan & Co., Ltd., 1934), Vol III, pp. 202-205.
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too preoccupied with administering Victoria's Jubilee Season
to take any effective interest in West Africa until late in
1897. Garvin writes that when Chamberlain finally did have
time to examine carefully the West African papers which had
piled up during his Jubilee preoccupation, he was much dis-
turbed. He was increasingly upset by Lord Salisbury's placid
acceptance of French ambitions. "My own idea was that the
only hope of a peaceful arrangement was to convince the
French, from the first, that they had tried our patience too
far and that they must give way or take the consequences."®
Chamberlain, however, did not limit himself to retrospective
and reflective notes. He was seriously disturbed at the
French penetration of what he considered valid British claims,
and most especially Chamberlain wished to bargain hard with
France and make sure that whatever gains she got in West
African territory ware reciprocated by British gains else-
where .°

Chamberlain was not the only person seriously disturbed
by French encroachments on the Niger itself, particularly

below the rapids at Boussa. Goldie often voiced his distress

to the Colonial Office.!® 1In particular, Goldie reminded the

SChamberlain to Lord Selbourne, from Interlaken, 12
September 1897 as quoted in Garvin, ibid., p. 204.

10gee, for instance, Mr. Chamberlain to Governor
McCallum, 23 July 1897, in CO 879/48, for a more detailed
description of Chamberlain's policy towards the Niger.

1lgee, for instance, Royal Niger Company to Foreign
Office, July 27, 1897; CO 879/48.
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Colonial Office of the treaty rights and accepted position

of the Royal Niger Company in the Niger Territory. This posi-
tion, he noted, often had been tacitly recognized by France

as late as 1895.

Goldie had good right to be somewhat despondent. The
position of the Company had deteriorated seriously in the
confluence area of the Niger and Benue, particularly at Nupe
and Ilorin. Furthermore, the Company's influence was serious-
ly undermined in the upper stretches of the Niger as French
missions penetrated the area and made things difficult for
Company traders and emissaries. Goldie was disconsolate be-
cause he knew that the Royal Niger Company could not finance
expeditions on the scale of the French government. Indeed,
if the treaties with the major Emirs were going to be invali-
dated, as in July it seemed evident they might be, then it was
useless for the Niger Company, or for anyone, to try and
occupy a series of towns scattered throughout such a wide
territory. Any such action would, of course, call forth from
the French an occupation of towns, perhaps more towns, in the
same general area of somewhat of a checkerboard pattern.

Such competition would, of course, be ruinous financially to
any chartered company.

Chamberlain's response to growing French pressure was to
create a capable West African Frontier Force, (WAFF), which
could effectively meet any French military challenge in the

Niger area. The creation of such a force, naturally, must be
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handled tactfully, both to receive parliamentary approval
and not to offend the often sensitive Goldie. Chamberlain's
main problem was to assure that the British position in
Nigeria did not deteriorate to the point where such a force
would be useless. The obvious answer was some sort of
resuscitation of the military efforts of the Royal Niger Com-
pany. This was not the easiest of tasks, for Chamberlain
who was not inclined by personality or by inclination to take
advice from the often irrascible and high-handed Goldie, no
matter how greatly esteemed the latter might be in govern-
ment circles.2

It was equally galling for Sir George Goldie to be brushed
aside from the territory which he quite rightfully could take
credit for holding within the British sphere. It will be
recalled that in the first month of 1897 Goldie had conducted
a quite brilliant little campaign against the Emirs of Nupe,
Ilorin and the Markum of Nupe. He had been prevented then,
on the direct wishes of Lord Salisbury, from taking his small
but victorious force north along the Niger to dispute with
France for possession of Borgu.l3

One hardly blames Goldie for resenting Chamberlain's
attitude so clearly outlined in a letter of Chamberlain to

Lord Selbourne on September 19, 1897:

12Garvin, op. cit., p. 209.

13por the details of Goldie's expedition and his deal-
ings with both Chamberlain and Salisbury, see Flint, op. cit.,
Chapters 10-12.
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Now Goldie seems refractory and practically refuses to
move. . . . I should like to tell him that British
government do not understand the contract with the com-
pany as he does, nor do they agree that he is to take all
the profits and that we are to spend hundreds of thousands
or possibly millions in securing his claims against the
French, and that he is then to step in and enjoy without
cost all the security that we have gained for him.

If this is his view, our best course will be to expro-
priate him, lock, stock, and barrel, pegging the capital
value of his property but allowing nothing for good will
or future profits since these are altogether dependent
upon the expeditions we are to make. In fact I should
take a very high line with him and tell him that in this
crisis he must be with us or against us, and that we can-
not allow him to dictate terms.*
Goldie's intransigence was equalled in the fall of 1897
by the persistence of the Quai d'Orsay. It may have been that
the French methods of M. Hanotaux were based upon a profoundly

false estimate of British psychology.tS

Nonetheless, the
issue at stake had begun to come to a head: whether the full
command of the Lower Niger and its basin would remain in
British hands or whether French pressure on this 600-mile
stretch of river would succeed in joining that territory to
other French possessions in West Africa.

Chamberlain fully recognized Hanotaux' policy of
"effective occupation." He was determined that England should
not give in as easily as they had in Sierra Leone and the

Gambia and by December 1, 1897, he had come to open disagree-

ment on this subject with Salisbury.

14Garvin, op. cit., p. 210.

15As quoted in Garvin, ibid., see Le Patage de L'Afrique,
p. 87.
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I regret that I am unable to agree with the proposals

in the Foreign Office memorandum that we should concede
to France a position on the west bank of the Niger in

the neighborhood of Jebba, and a right of way across our
territory from there to the northern territory of
Dahomey. I believe that a grant to another European
nation of an enclave in British territory is unprece-
dented and would lead to the most serious complications
in the future. There is some confusion in the dispatches
between a definite concession of a port on the Niger,

and what is called free access to the Niger, and free
navigation of the river. . . . In any transaction the
sacrifice made on both sides should be similar in char-
acter. Doubtful claims may be exchanged for doubtful
claims and rights; but the French only proposed to abandon
doubtful claims in exchange for the surrender of us of
undoubted rights.

The above is written on the assumption that the French
propose to deal with West Africa by itself. If they
seriously suggest a general settlement, including Egypt
and Newfoundland, the circumstances would be entirely
altered and must be regarded from a new point of view. . .
I do not think that we ought to yield a jot to threats.l®
Chamberlain had good reason to be discouraged. Events
in Paris indicated, in part due to the disturbing events of
the Dreyfus case, that French opinion was aroused to the point
where conflict might break out over the Niger.17 Throughout
January and February Chamberlain fought doggedly in Cabinet
sessions to prevent any cession of a French corridor to the
Niger through British territory. In February 1898 Chamberlain
was able, through dexterous manipulation of disturbing reports
from the Niger, to obtain acquiescence in the House of Com-

mons to his already formed West African Frontier Force.l®

l18chamberlain to Salisbury, December 1, 1897, Garvin,
Pp. 212-213.

17gee Sir E. Monson to Lord Salisbury, 14 January 1898.

18gee, in particular, debates, House of Commons, February
8, and more especially Hansard's 4th Series, Vol. 53, columns
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Not only did Chamberlain receive Parliamentary approval

for his West African Force, but he also made the significant

1617 through 1628, for February 24.

But if a few in Parliament were concerned, the French was
more so. On the 10th of April, 1898, for instance, the
Journal Des Debates, headed an article on West Africa "La France
et L'Engleterre dans L,Ouest African," which Monson noted had
all the appearance of a semi-official inspiration (Monson to
Salisbury, 20 April 1898 in CO 446/2). 1In this article the
author indicated that British troops in Nigeria (over 5,000)
were to be carried up the Niger in gunboats and disembarked at a
spot only 10 days march from Sokoto. "It is therefore desir-
able that the approaching Anglo-French delimitation may confirm
the treaty of 1890, as far as regards the Say-Barrus line, if
it be wished to avoid further difficulties in the future."

On the 15th of April 1898, Le Matin commenting on the
Niger negotiations noted that Her Majesty's government were
planning to raise a large force for the Niger territory. 1In a
note from a communication from Monson in Paris on the 25th of
April, referring to an article from the Journal Des Debates
of April 19th, 1898 relative to Lugard, it was noted "the
French persist in magnifying our Frontier Force, and in send-
ing it to Sokoto." (CO 446/2) 1In general the article did not
mind if Lugard was sent to Sokoto but they seemed worried
lest Lugard not abide by the Say-Barrua line of 1890. The
article intimated quite strongly the French government must
not be forced to fall back both in Borgu and along the Niger
north of Ilo.

Such agitation in the French, and German, press continued
up to the convention signing during June. Indeed, even after
the convention signing, Le Temps complained of the greater
value of British gains (see Gosselin to Salisbury, June 22,
1898; CO 446/2) .

The German press, while only mildly concerned over the
West African Frontier Force did react over Gandu. Indeed the
National Zeitung on the 11th of June, 1898, rather plaintively
noted that Germany had notified both England and France of
Germany's treaty with Gandu. In commenting on this article,
Gough noted that although "attention has frequently been
called to the German claims on Gandu, for a long time past the
Colonial Party have not seemed to expect that Gandu would be
actually taken possession of by Germany, but the claim is
always brought up as an object of value which can be exchanged
for territory elsewhere." (See Gough to Salisbury, June 18,
1898; CO 446/2.)
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choice of its leader, Captain F. J. Lugard. Lugard had a
number of excellent qualifications for the job: in particu-
lar he had been active in East Africa in the Uganda consoli-
dation and was already familiar with the Niger region via
his treaty expedition to Nikki in 1894 at the behest and
direction of Sir George Goldie. Though Chamberlain appointed
Lugard not without reservations, he actually had little choice
as Lugard was one of the few people who was acceptable to Sir
George Goldie, who was at this point still quite reluctant
to aid the Colonial Office to any significant degree.}®

In any case, Goldie had good reason for objecting to
the formation of the West African Frontier Force. 1In particu-
lar, its formation seemed to indicate, and would most certainly
appear to Parliament, as though the Royal Niger Company was
not capable of protecting and controlling the territories
which Parliament had committed to her charge. Knowing of
the West African Frontier Force's near completion, Goldie had
even threatened at one point in February to rush Company
troops to Boussa to confront the French occupation of that
territory. Indeed, in his biography of Goldie, Flint makes
much of the eventual placement of the West African Frontier
Force as it was dispatched by Chamberlain, implying that its

moves were anti-Company as well as anti-French.

197he organization of Lugard's force, its qualifications,
and the effective leadership of his second in command,
Willcocks, may be studied in detail in M. Perham's edition of

Lord Lugard's Diaries.
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For whatever reasons, the first months of 1898 were
extremely tense. Not only were French and British garrisons
in dual occupation along many points of the Middle Niger,
but they were often within shouting distance of one another.
In February, Hanotaux had been forced to repudiate a French
expedition which had penetrated Sokoto with the aim of call-
ing into doubt the protected position of the empire in the
Convention of 1890.2° 1In April and May, when elements of
the West African Frontier Force began to disperse themselves
throughout the area, it often seemed likely that a small
incident in this part of the Niger might be the signal for
a more general confrontation.2®* sSuffice it to say that it
was due in large measure to the patience of both French and
British officers, in particular to Willcocks, that some in-
advertent spark did not ignite extremely volatile public
sentiments.

Events on the Niger, however, were extremely strained
until the latter part of May,®2 when after extremely arduous
negotiations in Paris, which, if might be added, often had
seemed likely to fall apart, settlement of the Niger question

seemed imminent. 1Indeed there was general optimism that the

20gee Garvin, op. cit., p. 216.

2lpor the details of the Borgu crisis of April, May and
June, 1898, during which time Lugard was physically present,
see Perham, Diaries, op. cit.

221pid.
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negotiations of the Niger Commission might finally bear fruit.
In general, it was assumed that the pending division would
leave those parts of Borgu to which the Company had good
claim in British hands: in particular, Kiama, Kishi, Boussa
up to Ilo, and those portions of Gondo between Ilo and an
100-mile arc centered Sokoto which were not irreparably in-
validated by French military action.

Suddenly, however, on June 1, 1898, Hanotaux demanded
the British cession of the town of Ilo on the Niger. The
reaction of Salisbury and Chamberlain to this demand was
typical. Salisbury, very true to his formula that the world
contained room for both French and British imperialism to
co-exist, was inclined to accede to Hanotaux' demand. 1In a
note to Chamberlain on June 2, 1898, is the following:

I think we have come to a critical point on the West
African negotiations and must consider our further
course carefully. . . . I cannot find that we have any
claim to Ilo by treaty eo Nomine . . . on the other hand,
Lugard's telegram (received by me this morning) of the
31st May is very grave. It means that we cannot take
any measures for meeting the French concentration at Ilo,
without finding ourselves at war with Gondo and Sokoto.
It will be a war in which we shall be very far removed
from our base, and in which we shall have to meet the two
most powerful principalities of those regions. We know
so little about those countries that we cannot discern
what sort of difficulty it will be that this contingency
will open to us--but it may be very grave and its cost
will certainly buy out the value of Ilo a hundred times
over. I say nothing about the quarrel with the French--
for this is familiar ground. I therefore should confi-
dently counsel the abandonment of Ilo. . . . The deci-
sion of yesterday in the French Chamber seems to me to
lend considerable urgency to this view.23

237he speech here referred to by Salisbury was by Monsieur
Paul Des Chanel in the French Chamber. Garvin, op. cit.
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To Chamberlain the demand for Ilo by Hanotaux should be
met with an equal assertion. To him Salisbury's view was
an admission of weakness. On the same day that he received
Salisbury's note, June 2, he replied:

I have very anxiously considered your letter, as I feel
that a wrong decision may lead to momentous conse-
quences. . . .

I cannot agree with you that the cession of Ilo would
not be a climb-down.

From the first, the Colonial Office have always attached
the greatest of force to the retention of this place. . . .

As regards to the future, it is becoming clear that the
so-called Empire of Sokoto is in a state of disillusion
like that of the great mogul in the time of Clive. I
imagine that in accordance with the precedent a small
European force, with perhaps Indian anxiliaries and
modern armaments would be able to establish our authority,
but we shall have a very great responsibility for the
future government of this vast country. . . .

Although, therefore, I am most anxious to meet your
wishes, I have reluctantly come to the conclusion that
I have gone to the extreme limit to which, especially
charged with these interests, I am entitled to go, and
that on the side of the Niger at any rate I could not
defend any further surrender.

As at Bona--which you will remember you were told on the
authority of the French Commissioners a fortnight ago was
the only obstacle to a settleméent--I am ready to give
way. . . .

I think that we shall not be the greatest losers even
if the present negotiations fall through. In that case,
I hope we may take steps to put ourselves in a better
position before they are resumed. There is no reason
why we should not follow the example of the French and
occupy places in their hinterland which would give us
something to exchange when they are tired of the danger
and expense of the present situation.2%

2471bid.
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Salisbury's reply on June 3, the following day, is
classic:
I am wholly unconvinced of the value of Ilo: and I can-
not discover on what our claim to it rests. But I should
prefer giving up Ilo because our title to Bona seems to
me positively bad. It will be a pity if we break off the
negotiations, for it will add to our difficulties in the
Nile valley. . . . If we are to send British or Indian
troops in the hope of fighting another Plassey with
Lugard as our Clive and Sokoto as our Bengal, the pros-
pect becomes very much serious. Our Clive will be in no
danger of being astonished at his own moderation. There
is no loot to get except in Goldie's dreams. If you wish
to come to terms, it would be prudent to do so before we
take Khartum. We shall get nothing out of the French
assembly after that event.2®S
Nonetheless, despite Salisbury's sarcasm, he acceded to
Chamberlain's wish not to give up Ilo. And, making Chamberlain
a good prophet, Hanotaux consented to settle on June 8, 1898 .26
The Anglo-French convention was signed on June 14, 1898. 1In
a note to Lord Salisbury on June 15, 1898, Sir E. Monson noted
that the British government had obtained "that, which at the
outset, it appeared impossible, or at the least supremely
improbable, would ever be recognized as theirs.27
Curiously enough, the Meline Cabinet which had lasted
for over two years, one of the longest in the history of the
Third Republic, fell the day following the signature of the

convention. M. Hanotaux, that brilliant statesman, and orig-

inator of French African policy, so successful in retrospect,

251pid.

26gee British Documents on the Origins of the War, Vol.
1, p. 156.

27gsir E. Monson to Lord Salisbury, June 15, 1898.
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never held high office again. It is to his credit that,
although in the final event he was forced to concede to the
British government positions on the Niger, which he once
hoped to claim as French, his policy was one of brilliant
success. He consolidated French Equatorial Africa and French
West Africa, despite the humiliation the policy he initiated
in sending Captain Marchand the Upper Nile meant for France.
It is now time to turn to the precedents, of which the
boundary settlement prior to 1898 formed so important a part,
of the development and historical accretion of elements in
the history in Nigeria that developed by 1904 into what we

now know and call "Indirect Rule."



CHAPTER VI

MOUNTING PRESSURES FOR COLONIAL OFFICE CONTROL

A. CONTINUED COMPETITION--FOR LAKE CHAD

From January through June of 1898, the British Colonial
Office, in particular Mr. Chamberlain, had been particularly
interested in the retention of as much of Borgu under British
rule as was possible. The French government, due to the
vision of M. Hanotaux, had had much wider interests in African
spheres of territory. But, as it became clear to the French
government that Borgu might lead to serious trouble, should
they press more vigorously than they already had been doing
to extend French claims in that region, the French government
began to extend its energies in other directions.

By the middle of 1898, such energies were aimed at the
last relatively large section of Africa to which none of the
major European states laid claim. This region consisted of
the territory to the east, northeast and southeast of Lake
Chad. The principal geographical feature of this area is
the Shari River, which is the major tributary to Lake Chad.
Politically the territory was then usually referred to as

Baghirmi .

112



113

For the purposes of this thesis, the importance of
French interest in Lake Chad centers upon the French military
missions which were sent toward the lake to secure it for
France. These missions, their successes, failures, and con-
tacts with African elements were the stimulus for both Brit-
ish and German governments to continue their efforts to
solidify and delimit their "pen and ink" acquisitions. 1In
particular, the score or so of French missions and their
dealings with Africans in presumed British territory was more
than ample rationale for the continuance of the West African
Frontier Force, though the Borgu Crisis had passed, and for
the continued pressure to adhere the possessions of the
Royal Niger Company to the Colonial Office in a more secure
manner .

The French government had already, by 1898, sent a
number of missions toward the Chad region. These missions
had but two good avenues of approach; those from the west,
which must necessarily come very close to the Say-Barrua
line if the missions were proceeding from either French
Guiﬁea or French Dahomey,1 and those from the southwest,
which had to come up the Congo basin through the French Congo.
In either case these French missions excited considerable

attention, in the west from the British in Nigeria and in the

lpue to the fact that the Say-Barrua line extends to the
limit of watered routes, east-west, on the south of the
Sahara.
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southwest from German officials in the Cameroons.?

For a time the two missions which most concerned the
British colonial service in Nigeria were the Voulet-Chanoine
mission and the Forreau-Lamy mission.

The Voulet-Chanoine mission originally left the hinter-
land of French Guinea on the extreme upper Niger under Captain
Voulet and Lieutenant Colonel Klobb. It proceeded to the town
of Sansanne-Houssa up-river of Say by water. Meanwhile Cap-
tain Chanoine proceeded by land to the same town across the
bend of the Niger. The two groups joined forces on the 2nd
of January, 1899,°3 where Lt. Col. Klobb turned back toward
Timbucktoo and Voulet and Chanoine proceeded towards Say.
Things did not go well for this party as they proceeded to
cross the Eastern frontier of Nigeria via Zinder toward Lake
Chad. British authorities in Nigeria who, through the first
part of 1899, had no contact whatsoever with Sokoto were

fearful lest this mission cross into British territory.*

21ndeed by September of 1898, the French government had
seven military, or quasi-military, expeditions converging
toward the Shari basin. See in particular reports from
Director of Military Intelligence in CO 446/1-3, but also the
rather considerable press commentary and Colonial Office
memoranda especially in CO 446/2.

3see Daily Chronicle, London, December 21, 1898.

‘Despite some official minuting on the subject, it seems
Certain that the French mission did remain in French terri-
tory. For Colonial Office press clippings and commentary
See CO 446/1-3, and also CO 446/4.
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During April 1899, the force ran into some serious

fighting with Taureg bands, and as a consequence of fighting

and hard marching in desert country, had serious trouble and

mutiny among its porters. During the repercussions of this

mutiny a certain Lieutenant Peteau was sent home by Captain
Voulet as "wanting in enthusiasm and energy,"® but more prob-
ably on account of Peteau's lack of enthusiasm for the harsh
cruelties meted out by Voulet and Chanoine as punishment.

In spite of trouble, however, the mission finally reached

In the meantime, however, word of

Zinder during July 1899.
the difficulties and cruelties perpetrated by the Voulet

mi ssion had reached Paris, and Klobb was instructed to follow

the mission and take over command. Incredible as it may seem,

Li eutenant Colonel Klobb, Lieutenant Meynier, plus several

€S corts, were shot on Voulet's orders as they approached the

M1l s sion near Zinder. The mission was, of course, immediately

OQ t Jawed by the French government, but it is hardly surpris-
ing that the presence of a renegade force of up to 600 armed

NAa+t jves under French leadership should cause the Colonial

Of £ jce much concern.
Before any French expedition could be put together to

Puxigh Voulet, his own actions caught up with him, and upon
e:Lng deserted by the bulk of his forces, he was eventually

ki A led by a combination of his own troops and local elements.

\

3 n Ssee West Africa Confidential No. 1, September 11, 1899
CO 446/5.
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A second French mission, the Forreau-Lamy mission, left

Algeria in November 1898. This expedition was very large

and included more than one thousand camels for carrying bag-

gage and supplies. Its purpose was to cross the Sahara by way
of the old caravan routes and eventually to link up with other

French missions heading toward Lake Chad from the west and

Forreau and Lamy also ran into considerable trouble,

south.
and were lost to European observers

again from Taureg attacks,
for a period of several months. This mission finally suc-

ceeded in reaching the Shari via Air and Ghat though much

reduced in size. Upon reaching the Shari basin, the remnants
Of the Fourreau-Lamy mission were attacked by elements of the

former Egyptian renegade Rabeh's army. In one of these

actions Lamy was killed.®
French missions which were sent toward Baghirmi via the

French Congo had more success and in general caused the

One group, under M. Gentil,

Co 2. onial Office less concern.
Gentil had some

haa gycceeded in reaching Lake Chad by 1897.
SU < cess in establishing a French colonial administration in

Ba-g’fl.'xirmi. However, before his work was completed he had

S & driven out by Rabeh. Due to the danger presented by
Rabeh, two other French missions were sent out via the French

C .
Ql'lgo. One was under a Lieutenant Bretonnet and another

u
NQer M. Behagle. Behagle preceded Bretonnet, and in chasing

\
hil‘n a

In honor of this brave man, Fort Lamy was named for
nd is today the Capital of the State of Chad.

|
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Rabeh he crossed over German territory and into British
Bornu where Rabeh was able to mass overwhelming numbers and

destroy his force.”
none of these missions should have caused

In themselves,
either the German or the British government undue alarm.
Communications were poor, however,® and as neither the British

nor the Germans had any type of military influence in the

Lake Chad-Bornu region, they were understandably nervous
about the various French missions, some of which were of con-
siderable size. The British government was particularly
handicapped because in 1898-1899 transfer of the Royal Niger
Company to the Colonial Office was not complete. Indeed,

when Colonel Lugard had returned to London in the fall of
1898, Willcocks, next in command of the W.A.F.F., had all he

Cow 1d do to maintain order in the Borgu sections of the Niger.

The German response was equally slow. However, by the

Micqle of 1899 the German government had sponsored two
€XPp>editions in the Cameroons. One under Von Tuttkemer was
OPe xative in the south and had the additional duty of recon-

nc>-‘i-‘l:ering the lower parts of the Nigeria-Cameroon-Gulf of

\

7See Le Depeche Colonile, Paris, 16 November 1898;
15 November 1898, and 23 December 1898; and

Le -
IJQ\.TEI“EQ-' Paris,
== ly Chronicle, London, 29 November 1898.

8A good bit of the British information on French mis-

:;‘lgns in the Sudan and Chadic regions came from M. Jago, in
= British legation at Tripoli, whose information filtered
sub thward via the caravan routes which crossed the Sahara.
<=h sources of information quite naturally left anyone free
assume the worst of the various French Missions. His re-

tQ
bQ
X=ts are scattered throughout CO 446/1-10.
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Guinea border. The second expedition under Captain Van Kamptz
was directed to the north to garrison various points in the
north and on the shores of Lake Chad, lest the German govern-
ment continue to be embarrassed by having French missions
chasing recalcitrant Africans through its territory with im-
punity.®

In any case, despite the settlement with France in 1898,
continued French pressure in the Lake Chad area where British
influence was non-existant made it necessary for some sort
of British presence in the area, lest Whitehall have West
African questions re-opened through inaction. Questions,

indeed, which from the British standpoint had been tidily

Settled and hopefully put away.

B. THE WEST AFRICAN FRONTIER FORCE

The creation of the West African Frontier Force by
Ch =mberlain, touched upon in chapter five, undoubtedly helped
to pave the way for the Anglo-French settlement of 1898, if
foxr o other reason than that both the French and German
IO ~rernments ascribed to this Force large ambitions in terms
O €  territorial occupation.?® It is not the purpose of this

t:blﬁasis to follow in detail the various movements of the

\

a 9see Lascalles to Colonial Office, Berlin, 18 July
8 99; in co 446/5.

s 10gee, for example, Sir F. Lascalles to the Marquis of
=N Aisbury, Berlin, March 5, 1898; CO 446/2.
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West African Frontier Force. However, as the Force itself,
and in particular, Frederick Lugard's association with the
Force had a certain influence on the subsequent history of
Northern Nigeria, certain information about the Force is
quite relevant; but it will be necessary to backtrack in
time to the period of the Borgu Crises.

Chamberlain, it will be recalled, took steps towards
forming the W.A.F.F. prior to its actual approval by Parlia-
ment. The primary training of the Force, which was to con-
sist mostly of West Africans, principally Yorubas and Ha'usas,
was originally conducted by Colonel Pilcher of the Lagos
Protectorate. The Royal Niger Constabulary,?? however, was

@l so to make available certain of its forces to be at the
di sposal of the West African Frontier Force. These latter
txr oops were sent north into Borgu prior to the actual arrival
OFf the W.A.F.F. troops proper .2
A note from Mr. Antrobus to Mr. Wingfield and Lord
Se 2 bourne on March 15, 1898, describes part of the problems
OF¥ organizing the Force.
From this telegram and from Colonel Pilcher's letter
referred to by the Director of Military Intelligence in
3590, it would appear that Colonel Pilcher did not quite

understand his position, which is, I think correctly
stated by Colonel Lugard in 4683.

l1ilthe military arm of the Royal Niger Company.

= 121t is interesting to note that Goldie had wished to
:Et‘oceed to Borgu after his successful Bida campaign in the
Qall of 1897, but had at that time been restrained by

I amberlain. See Flint, op. cit., Chapter 11.
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Until Colonel Lugard arrives, Colonel Pilcher's
business is simply to equip and train his battalion.

I attach a semi-private letter which I have received
from the Director of Military Intelligence. There is no
doubt a dual control at the present time; but, as Colonel
Pilcher is not or ought not to be taking the field, there
is not a triple control.

The dual control cannot be avoided as long as the
company exists; but, Colonel Lugard is to have the com-
mand of the forces which have advanced from Lagos as well
as the West African Frontier Force, it will not become a
triple one when the new force is ready. The Director of
Military Intelligence has not yet seen our dispatch to
Lagos on February 18 explaining this.

The turning back of the two companies of the West
African Frontier Force to which the Director of Military
Intelligence refers was due to Colonel McCullum's dis-
regarding his orders not to send them through Ilorin
without ‘'very strong reason'.

It would be well, I think, to explain to Colonel
Pilcher that the company acted with the approval of Her
Majesty's government and that it would not be desirable
that he should be consulted as to the Sokoto expedition;
-and to say that at the present his duties are necessarilY
confined to the equipment and training of his battalion.*3

A minute was added to this letter by Lord Selbourne to the
© £ fect that Colonel Lugard would have exclusive command of
the West African Frontier Force, Colonel Allen's column, and
Q1 1 the troops that the Royal Niger Company could spare:
so that there will then not be a triple nor a dual but
a single command. It should also be explained to him
[Pilcher] that the necessity for the Niger Company's
column to be sent to Sokoto was due to the invasion of
the French onto the left bank and that either that
column had to go as it did or no force could have been
sent at all.l*
It is not difficult to understand, however, that each

S £ the various officers in charge of one or another of the

\

< 13antrobus to Wingfield and Selbourne, March 15, 1898;
S 4461,

l41pid.
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heretofore independent forces on the Niger was eager to face
the possibility of action with the French in command of the
forces he had trained. Each was repeatedly told by the
Colonial Office, however, that Lugard would have complete
control when he arrived. Lugard finally appeared on the Niger
on March 31, 1898. However, it was not until the 5th of
April that the complicated command route of Chamberlain at
the Colonial Office through Goldie of the Royal Niger Company
to Morley at Company headquarters in London sent orders to
the Niger Company forces to return to Ilo after their Argangu
expedition to await the arrival of Colonel Lugard.lS

All this activity did not escape the notice, and prob-
ably was intended not to escape the notice, of the French or

German press.'® On the 3rd of March the Kolonial Zeitung,

in a long article commenting on the French-British confronta-
tion in Borgu, gave the following assessment of British
military preparations on the Niger.

Under these circumstances, it appears to us to be
probable that the English intend a great coup against
the Hausa States, the military weakness of which they
have realized. Hence the considerable armaments, and
the rapidity with which regiment after regiment is sent
up the Niger. It is hoped by this energetic action, and
by a victorious entrance into Gandu and Wurnu, to wipe
out of existence the claims raised by Germany on account
of her treaty with Gandu, and any claims which may be
advanced by the French. The skirmishing against France
is only intended to conceal the true object of this
expedition.

15Morley's orders to the Niger Company forces were sent
on 5 April 1898 from London; CO 446/3.

18gee footnote 18, Chapter III, this thesis.
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As regards the attitude of Germany in this matter,
we cannot assume that the British government will take
over the territory of the Royal Niger Company and convert
it into a Crown Colony before the question of Gandu has
been completely settled. As the German treaty with
Gandu, which secures considerable rights to us, was
officially notified some years ago, they will neither
date nor be able simply to ignore it.17

By the 12th of April, 1898, Lugard had left for Jebba.
The Niger Company expedition to Argungu, despite reliable
information in February that at least three French officers
and some 300 men had camped near Argungu during February,

found no French in occupation of the town, which was clearly

within the British sphere of influence.® The expedition of

the Royal Niger Constabulary so far to the north quite
naturally weakened intermediary posts, such as Fort Goldie,

to a dangerous degree. Hence, Lugard arrived at an opportune

MO ment for displaying the power of the W.A.F.F. vis a vis
th e Niger Constabulary and for exerting Colonial Office

QAW thority in the Borgu Crisis.

The Argungu occupation, with its implied invasion of

S<>]<oto, stirred sections of the British press. 1Interest was

9 X eat enough, indeed, that on the 22nd of April, 1898, Sir

Chuarles Dilke and Mr. M. Lambert both asked questions in

—

17Twhich rights it might be added the British proceeded

to ignore. See Lascalles to Marquis of Salisbury, March 5,
1898; co 446/2.

18gee Memorandum by F. Bertie, April 27, 1898;
Co 446/1.
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Parliament as to whether the French were in Argungu.l®
Mr. Chamberlain's reply is interesting. He stated that to a
similar question addressed to the French government on
February 22 M. Hanotaux had replied to Sir E. Monson on the
following day that "according to his information obtained
from the Minister for the Colonies, no French force has
entered Sokoto or the Country of Argungu, and that no expedi-
tion has been sent into these regions." According to
Chamberlain, M. Hanotaux reaffirmed these assertions verbal-
ly on the 25th of February and again on March 6. On the
latter date, M. Hanotaux stated that there were no French
forces on the east of the Niger south of the Say-Barrua line,
that the strictest orders had been given long ago that no
MO wement was to be made across the Niger, and that France
ha q no designs on territory lying east of the river or to the
SOwuath of the Ssay-Barrua line. Mr. Chamberlain went on to
S&ay», however, that on 19 March Sir E. Monson had reported
£x om France that the Ministry for the Colonies had received
in formation from Dahomey to the effect that Captain Casamajou,
in spite of orders to the contrary, had passed through
A:'l"gungu on his way north but that he had had few European
COrmpanions and a small following. On March 25th M. Hanotaux
hag further repeated that the expedition under Captain
casamajou was privately organized and that it had been

—

19phe questions of Dilke and Lambert were raised on
22 april 1898; see Houses of Parliament in CO 446/3.
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ordered to keep north of the Say-Barrua line, but had appar-
entiy been forced to go in the neighborhood of Ilo and
Argungu in search of supplies. M. Hanotaux insisted that
this modification of the original itinerary was unauthorized.
By April 22nd, Chamberlain was able to assure Parliament
that he had received information from Colonel Lugard that a
much smaller force than had heretofore been assumed had in-
deed been in Argungu but had gone north. In summation "it
appears from this that both sides were more or less misin-
formed, as our reports greatly exaggerated the numbers of
the expedition, of the presence of which in Argungu the
French were in the first instance entirely unaware."2°

This incident, like many others in the Borgu crisis,
was easily blown out of proportion by lack of adequate or
timely information. But bland assurances by Mr. Chamberlain
did not quiet Parliamentary concern. On April 25th Mr.
Labouchere, in the House of Commons, inquired if the govern-
ment was intending to purchase any rights of the Royal Niger
Company; and if so, which ones, and what fiscal arrangements
might there be. The question was evaded publicly and the
Member answered privately.?! However, Mr. Wingfield in a
note on the subject noted that Goldie was:

very chary of giving us all of the assistance we wanted
for the establishment of the Frontier Force in Lokoja,

2071pid.

2lHouses of Parliament, op. cit., CO 446/3.
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and in consequence of his hesitation we made repeated
representations to the Foreign Office and the Treasury
as to the desirability of a speedy settlement. The
Treasury finally answered in No. 257/secret that ‘it
is not possible to define the company's true position
until the investigation now being held in Paris had
been to an end.' 1In 278/secret the Foreign Office
replied that the subject 'is matter for the considera-
tion for the Chancellor of the Exchequer.' We have
heard nothing more officially.22

By May the Royal Niger Company expedition was returning
to Jebba.23 However, Brodie had been sent on to Sokoto to
check on the possibility of French activity there.

As the crisis in Borgu steadily intensified, the Colonial
Of fice was driven to consideration of all possible means to
improve its position vis a vis the French. On May 27, 1898,
the draft of a telegram to Colonel Lugard by Butler and
Antrobus entitled "Proposed Occupation of parts in hinterland
O f Dahomey" suggested that in order to equalize matters they

were:

anxious to know whether, in the event of the negotiations
at Paris failing you will then be in a position to es-
tablish posts in the hinterland of Dahomey, in Garubari,
Nikki, Gurma, or Torode . The French are at present in
our hinterland, but we are not in theirs, and it may
become very desirable that the position should be equal-
ized. Report fully your views as to whether or when of
movement with this object in mind could be made. If such
a movement is made, it would be preferable that places
should be occupied which are free from French troops, but
we might make a joint occupation as the French have done
at Kishi.2¢

22gee minute by Mr. Wingfield, ibid.
23pjlcher to Colonial Office; CO 446/3 (page 28).

24praft of telegram to Col. Lugard by Butler and Antrobus,
22 May 1898; CO 446/3.
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From the foregoing, it is obvious that from the moment
Lugard set foot in Nigeria he and his West African Force
were plunged into the intricate problems of European diplomacy,
Colonial Office and Foreign Office red tape, and the diffi-
culties and bitternesses which divided authority in Nigeria.
What is significant is that Lugard's experiences in Nigeria
between March and September of 1898 heavily influenced his
policies when he returned in December of 1899 to take over
formal control of the protectorate of Northern Nigeria on
January 1, 1900. And from the Colonial Office standpoint,
there was just enough pressure from the Liverpool interests,
that when Lugard was able to put forth a unique and workable
rationale for government in Northern Nigeria, the Colonial
Office was indeed happy to have the pressure removed from
their operation.

After the signing of the Anglo-French convention in
June of 1898, Willcocks®® and Lugard proceeded to organize
and occupy the territory assigned to England. He was some-
what delayed in this process by sending part of the West
African Frontier Force to Eastern Nigeria into Ibo country
at the request of the Royal Niger Constabulary, a'request

Lugard felt honor bound to grant in that the Royal Niger

25Not the least of Lugard's important decisions was his
X equest that Col. Willcocks should be his second in command,
Qn officer heretofore in the shadow of Pilcher but whose
Qbilities appealed to Lugard. His choice, it might be added,
Was an apt one. Lugard to Colonial Office, 3 April 1898;
Co 446/1.



Conste
that :
moved
teen ¢

withi

cerny

S} 4



127

Constabulary had been generous with its troops.2%

Before leaving the crisis of Borgu, it may be noted
that it was Willcocks who was in charge of the forces which
moved toward Keima and on into Kishi territory, that had
been occupied by French soldiers even though it was clearly
within the British zone.27

At the same time, Lugard wrote the Colonial Office con-
cerning Sokoto that:

the position, then, as regards Sokoto, is that he has

ordered the British out of the country, his latest

letter announces his [Emir of Sokoto's] intention of
fighting the white man, and he is stated to have sent
letters to Zaria, Kano, et cetera, with this ofject,
while representatives of the Royal Niger Comgany have
sent a letter declaring him to be an enemy.2
This information from Lugard on the difficulty which would
be encountered by the force going north in Sokoto disturbed
Salisbury greatly in the latter part of negotiations at Paris
and was part of the reason why Salisbury felt that concessions
should be made to France.

Even after the territorial delimitation had been agreed
upon in 1898 in Paris, Lugard's problems in Nigeria had but
begun. His initial complaints centered on the difficulty of

requesting gunboats for the use of his troops on the Niger.

This request was seemingly a simple one, and not expensive

26gee CO 446/1 (p. 143).

27see Lugard to Colonial Office, May 22, 23, and 24;
CO 446/1.

2829 May 1898; CO 446/1.
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® However, numerous difficul-

support for imperial troops.Z
ties with the Niger Company prevented speedy action.

Indeed, the major problem confronting Lugard during
August, September, and October of 1898 were his relations
with the Royal Niger Company. Goldie by this time knew
that his tenure on the Niger was limited. He was both bitter
and pecuniary toward the government and took out his frustra-
tion in part on the West African Frontier Force.3° The
Company attempted to insist that all military supplies and
stores be bought through the Company.

The company, of course, it will be remembered, had a
legal monopoly of trade on the Niger. However, such a monop-
oly was irritating to Lugard when the quality of goods avail-
able was poor and prices inflated. To make matters worse,
the Royal Niger Constabulary forces had been stationed at
many points in Borgu upon the evacuation of French forces.
The Company, it must be admitted, had made substantial fi-
nancial contributions during the Borgu crisis. They were,
however, at this point short of funds and had neglected to

pay certain of their forces which were near mutiny by

October.31

29gee Lugard to Colonial Office, 10 August 1898; CO
446/1.

30see Flint, op. cit.

. 3lgee Lugard to Colonial Office, 10 October 1898; CO
46/1.
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Salisbury was worried about the consequences of a pos-
sible mutiny. Others in the Colonial Office and War Office
were concerned about French actions in Bornu and the possi-
bility of raids by Rabeh into British territory. Much of
this concern over the reliability of the Constabulary forces
came from the Foreign Office who were worried lest the Anglo-
French convention of June not be ratified in Paris. It had,
of course, yet to pass the French Chamber and would not be
passed until December.

A third area of particular grievance to Lugard was the
insolent behavior and the depredations of the Emir of Ilorin,
who had badly mistreated a few of his soldiers. More import-
ant to Lugard was his wounded pride when the Emir's insolent
behaviour could not immediately be punished. Lugard had
first to officially consult with the agent-general of the
Niger Company whose treaty with Ilorin gave him original
jurisdiction.®® Quite naturally Watts, then acting agent-
general of the Royal Niger Company, on orders from Goldie,
wished to prevent the West African Frontier Force from usurp-

33 Goldie, moreover,

ing the company's sovereignty in Ilorin.
was in deep negotiation with the Foreign Office and the

Treasury over exactly how much the Royal Niger Company was

32phere is a quite large amount of correspondence on
the subject of Ilorin in CO 446/3, but also in CO 446/1.

33gee Goldie to Colonial Office, 13 October 1898;
CO 446/3.
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to be paid for turning over its presumed rights and proper-
ties to the government. At such an inconvenient point in
his negotiations, he would not be pleased with any indica-
tion of misrule or lack of company ability to control terri-
tory under its charge.

Nonetheless, a long letter from Lugard to Antobus from
Ilorin on 22 October 1898 makes abundantly clear Lugard's
frustration and annoyance. He was especially upset over high
prices charged by the company, the gross continuation of
slavery, and by the insolent behavior of the Emir of Ilorin.

No doubt the initial mistake was ever sending out
imperial forces with imperial officers to act under the
orders of a few traders. It does not do--the Niger

Company naturally (and I don't blame them) want to make

out a fine case (for valuation) for themselves, and they

therefore pretend to have rule of this country. Believe
me, beyond the walls of their warehouses, they haven't
got nor ever have had a single bit of power. It is easy
enough to keep in with a native ruler if you wink the
other eye at slavery, et cetera, and that is exactly
what they have done. This I had from Watts himself.3%

By October Lugard had also formed definite opinions on
the external political situation of Northern Nigeria. 1In a
signed copy of a foreign Office minute3®5 Lugard makes the
devious suggestion that although England by the convention
of June 14, 1898, was prevented from crossing a meridian

through the center of Lake Chad and although England specifi-

cally admitted that the eastern shore of Lake Chad was French,

34co 446/1.

35Minute to Niger No. 21341 found in CO 446/3 signed by
Lugard in London on 10/17/98, but dated Forelgn Office 27
Otober 1898.
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there was still the possibility that England could procure
an interest in Wadai to the east of Lake Chad. This area
was about the last piece of Africa which had not been
specifically claimed by any European power.

English control of this area would have dashed any
French hopes for continuous passage between French Equatorial
Africa and French West Africa. After commenting on the
various French missions which might be heading in that
direction, Lugard suggested that due to the British position
in Nigeria it would be difficult to get to Wadai by way of
Nigeria, a good solution might be an advance on Darfur
nominally in pursuit of the Khalifa from the Egyptian Sudan.
From thence, although a considerable distance, it would not
be difficult for a mounted party to reach Wadai. To Lugard

it would later be an invaluable asset to exchange if

necessary or in settlement of the Egyptian and Tunisian
questions, for it would stand in the way of the junction
of their northern and southern territories. It is also
commercially a very important place--and politically no
less as being the mainstay of Senoussi--who is to the

French in the Sahara, Tunis, and Algeria, what Samory

was in the west, but a vastly more dangerous (because

religious and fanatical) adversary.3®

What is more important than the impracticability of this
wild scheme was the fact that Lugard very quickly adopted
some very ambitious plans both for Nigeria and for the British
empire.

After returning to London in the late fall of 1898,

Lugard spent considerable time and concern defending the

361pid.
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independence of the West African Frontier Force from those
who, like Sir R. Moore, would have preferred an amalgamation
of military forces preparatory to a total amalgamation of
the territories of Nigeria.3®7 others, like Lord Selbourne,
were simply of the opinion that

The particular situation which made it necessary to apply
to Parliament for this Force has passed away, and though
Colonel Lugard refers to the French and German expedi-
tions converging on Lake Chad it can scarcely be serious-
ly suggested that these movements threaten our terri-
tories. In these territories there are no signs at
present of unavoidable danger. Borgu has, no doubt, a
turbulent population, but it is an unpromising country
commercially and future developments do not lie that way.
Sokoto is quiescent, and by all accounts, Rabeh will not
trouble us if we do not trouble him, and he does not lie
between us and Kano, another important town to which we
want access. Our expedition so far as we can see will
be confined to the punishment of robber tribes which
infest the river banks, and these tribes are pagan and at
feud as far as they dare with the Mohammedan powers.

I venture to think, therefore, that the opinions which
Mr . Chamberlain has expressed that the time has come for
a material reduction in the strength of the W.A.F.F. is
not controverted successfully by Colonel Lugard's argu-
ment. . . .

. « o It would, therefore, be a serious matter to accept
his view, and it would encourage him to contemplate
military operations which, from our point of view, it is
most important to avoid, which have a fascination for
every officer in the force. 1In the meantime we have to
be excessively careful about our civil expenditure;

thus, while we are spending this great sum on the Force,
we cannot afford £500 for a dredger for the Niger, which
is required to make navigation reasonably possible.38

37Memorandum by Sir Ralph Moor on advisability of amalga-
mation; CO 446/3 (p. 162). For Lugard's position re: main-
tenance of strength of the West African Frontier Force, see
his memorandum on the 24 August 1899; CO 446/8, in that useful
as this little force had been, Lugard was concerned for its
survival.

38Mjinute appended to Lugard‘'s memo, ibid., 24 August 1899;
CO 446/8. ’ -
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Lugard, of course, held strongly for an independent
W.A.F.F. He was very definite that such a force should be
modelled on Indian precedents, with regular officers and
long leaves that would procure superior ones.

From Lugard's return to London in late 1898, until his
reappearance in Nigeria just prior to Northern Nigeria becom-
ing a formal protectorate on the 1st of January 1900, the
West African Frontier Force, the Colonial Office's chief
instrument of regulation, was under the command of Willcocks
extremely capable officer. Willcocks' reports are models of

lucidity.3®

As the crisis situation calmed down on the Borgu
frontier border area he devoted a major part of his attention
to keeping the West African Frontier Force in good order, to
pacifying regions close to the Niger and Benue within reach

of Jabba, and to reopening such trade routes as immediately
affected his own supply and communication. This work required
a number of tiny but necessary punitive actions at various
points throughout his command. In particular, in December

and January 1898-1899, Willcocks experienced certain trouble
with the Emir of Zaria, with blockages of trade at Ilo and

with certain misdeeds by robbers in Kontagora.4°

In Borgu
Willcocks proceeded with the occupation and delimitation of
territory. 1In the Middle Niger a Royal Niger Company officer

was stationed at Ilorin, and for the first time that town was

3%Which may be read in CO 446/4.

40see Report for 11 January 1899; CO 446/4.
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relatively quiet. Likewise at Bida and Jebba, Willcocks
contented himself with such improvements in sanitation and
troop quarters as he could.

In his report of April 1, 1899, Willcocks asks that he
be allowed to establish at least a formal claim to the left
bank of the river north of Ilo. Primary concern continued
about Sokoto and the possibility that the Sultan might decide
to attack a British garrison in imitation of Rabeh's successes
against isolated French missions. Willcocks was convinced
that any such attempt by Sokoto to attack the British near
or on the Niger would result in catastrophe for Sokoto. He
was, however, quite wisely content to let the situation remain
for the present. Willcocks, however, had become concerned
again with the conduct of the Emir of Bida and Emir of
Kantagora. He reported slave trading to be growing and
respect for British sovereignty limited.

In his report for July 17th, Willcocks dealt with the
difficulty which arose when West African Frontier Force and
Royal Niger Constabulary Forces were stationed close to-
gether. Careful as he had been to avoid conflict with the
Niger Company, trouble arose principally because the older
and more experienced Royal Niger Constabulary Forces were
paid on a lower igcale with fewer amenities than those of the
West African Frontier Force.

By August when Willcocks also had left for London and

the command of the West African Frontier Force was under
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Major Festing, requests for permission to bypass Mr. Wallace
and the Company for various necessities, including labor,
were more frequently received at the Colonial Office.%* 1In
September various squabbles arose over just which forces
should escort various telegraph construction parties which
the Colonial Office had encouraged to facilitate communica-
tions in the Northern Nigeria territory.#2 By this time
Chamberlain was in no mood to kaow-tow to the Royal Niger
Company and insisted that imperial troops should be used in
such an important matter as communication. On the Niger
by September 20, 1899, a telegraph line between Jebba and
Lakoja was complete. It meant a step forward in communica-
tion*2® and in @olonial Office control, in that the awkward
control measures used for the W.A.F.F., through the Royal

Niger Company, had now been eliminated.

C. THE LAST OF THE INDEPENDENT AFRICANS

To this point the Africans in Nigeria have been of only
Passing notice. In the question of the Borgu boundary, the
African chiefs themselves had no bearing. It was only their

treaties, or rather those that they had signed, which were

4lgee Festing to the Colonial Office, 25 August 1899;
CO 446/4.

42gee telegram of Festing to Colonial Office, 20
September 1899; CO 446/4.

43pesting to Colonial Office, 20 September 1899; CO
446/4.° .
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debated in Europe. The Sultan of Sokoto, of course, has
come into the picture, but he had, and still remained, out-
side the effective control of either the British or the
French. Though already in partial dissolution, the Sokoto
empire had enough structure to withstand British invasion
and modification. As a military power, however, Sokoto
meant little because even if it was potentially dangerous,
it had been carefully circumscribed as being within British
territory and given time would be reduced.

The last of the great African chieftains to pose as a
real military threat to the European interests and military
expeditions was Rabeh.%* Rabeh was a fascinating man, and
not enough is known about him.45 1In terms of this thesis,
the concern with Rabeh caused the West African Frontier Force
and the very considerable damage which he did to several
French expeditions have only passing significance. What is
important in terms of this paper is that Rabeh was in many
ways a typical West African ruler. He was spacially not far
removed from Sokoto and many of the nominally subservient
Emirs which made up the empire of Sokoto, but Rabeh has left
no imprint on the future of Nigeria. 1In this sense,.a short

description of Rabeh's forces is useful in highlighting the

441n particular Hiatu, the renegade Prince of Sokoto and
Malam Jibrella, operative in and around Zaria-Kano.

4SpFor details on Rabeh, see long report of Military
Intelligence in FO 2/242.
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fact that the British had a choice of indigenous authorities
with whom to work in implementing indirect rule.

As a young man Rabeh, probably the freed son of a slave
woman, was in the forces of Zubehr Pasha who operated a large
slave raiding force on the Middle and Upper Nile. It is
clear that Rabeh was one of Zubehr Pasha's outstanding lieu-
tenants between the years 1872 and 1874. 1In 1878 the Cairo
authority decided to put a stop to the activities of Zubehr
Pasha's successor with whom Rabeh was now associated. Rabeh
wisely fled, and with a body of well armed slave soldiers
proceeded from Dar Sula west toward Lake Chad in a district
between Darfur and Wadai. Between 1880 and 1890, Rabeh and
his forces operated as far east as the Upper Nile and as far
west as the Lake Chad basin. His success as a military leader
was not based as much on superior numbers as upon superior
organization. Rabeh's army used strict Egyptian organization
and wherever possible he equipped his soldiers with modern
rifles, although the majority of his soldiers had outdated
weapons .

By about the year 1892, Rabeh and his forces--variously
estimated as between 500 and 15,000 armed troops--had moved
eastward and were more or less permanently established in the
Chad basin. Rabeh's semi-mobile organization depended upon
the tribute of conquered areas and such trade with the out-
side world as he could effect, particularly for supplies
such as gunpowder. Rabeh was often in contact with one Haitu,

a renegade Prince of Sokoto, who was in control of several
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provinces of Wadai and collected tribute from much of Baghirmi
south of Lake Chad. For a time, Rabeh remained in the delta
of the Shari River west of Lake Chad, but he occasionally
moved south and east of Lake Chad to Dikwoa in German terri-
tory and Kuka well within what became defined as British
Bornu on the southeast of Lake Chad.

Rabeh was obviously unpopular with the established
Emirates of West Africa. Sokoto refused all dealings with
him. Remnants of older authorities in Wadai and Baghirmi,
whenever possible, rose in revolt. Nonetheless Rabeh looks
very much like many other African chieftains who preceded
him. He shows particular similarity to Samory who caused both
the French and British extreme difficulty in the hinterland
of the Gold Coast a decade previously.*® Rebeh had a core
army of well armed and mounted cavalry supplemented by dis-
ciplined soldiers. It was estimated on good authority that
if pressed, Rabeh could probably have put an army into the
field of some 20 to 30 thousand men.*7

Such a well disciplined and mobile force could and did
cause the French, German, and British governments some con-

cern. It was the French, however, who most often came into

48por information on Samory, the best readily available
source is G. E. Metcalfe, Great Britain and Ghana: Documents
of Ghana History 1807-1957 (on behalf of University of Ghana
by Nelson & Sons, Ltd., 1964).

47gee Memorandum by Col. Everett, December 19, 1898,
p. 4; FO 2/242.
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conflict with Rabeh. The territories of Baghirmi, Wadai,

and the Shari basin were indispensible to their grand vision
of African empire. Prevented by British occupation of the
Niger and Benue from easily resupplying their forces, Rabeh
was undoubtedly directly and indirectly responsible for the
catastrophe that befell more than one French mission isolated
and cut off from all European help. In 1897 Gentil, after
reaching Baghirmi, wisely turned south and retired when Rabeh
moved from Kuta in British Bornu southwest to meet his
challenge. Likewise, in 1879-1898, the massacre of Casamajou's
expedition at Zinder no doubt was related in part to the
presence of Rabeh's large forces in Bornu.

In retrospect, however, Rabeh plays a small part in the
history of West Africa. The French were eventually able to
concentrate enough military power to defeat him, and although
certain repercussions developed when French forces chased
the last remnants of Rabeh's forces into British Bornu after
1900, his passing left West Africa essentially undisturbed.

In comparison it is worth much attention to note that
the relative stability of the Moslem Emirates of the Sokoto
empire and perhaps their military degeneration, lent them-
selves much more readily to European bureauocratization.

As a secondary point it should be emphasized that communica-
tion routes between Chad and the Upper Nile were essentially
unfettered. Only the artificial boundaries of French, German,
and British partition of Africa has made the distance between

Northern Nigeria and the Sudan seem difficult.
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D. THE END OF SOVEREIGNTY FOR THE ROYAL NIGER COMPANY

Before turning to the new arrangements which were grad-
ually evolving in the Colonial Office for the takeover and
administration of the new territory of Northern Nigeria, a
few notes on the closing two years of Company rule are neces-
sary. The declining days of the Company in Northern Nigeria
as a sovereign agent of the British Crown are detaiied well

8 Hence,

by Flint in his biography of Sir George Goldie.*
there is no need for repetitive detail here. Nevertheless,

it is essential that the position of the Company be reviewed
lest the last few petty acts of Sir George Goldie mar the
image of what was otherwise an herculean effort of free enter-
prise and furtherment of imperial interests.

In the first place, it must be remembered that the Royal
Niger Company, though it had posed as a colonial administrator,
was the only privately operated company to make modest though
steady profits by trading in tropical Africa during the 15

years of its charter.%®

The balance sheets of the Company
between 1887 and 1899 show an increasing volume of trade,
sound management, and steady return to its stockholders.
It must be remembered that the Company was bound by charter

to try to stamp out the slave trade, and remarkable for its

time, Goldie did not allow his Company to deal in arms or

*Bplint, op. cit.

4%see U.A.C. Archives and Parliamentary Papers (C-9372).
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liquor. Indeed, in 1895 the Company was specifically noted
by the Church Missionary Society which said, "the Company's
most honorable distinction, however, is that it has made
itself the center of resistance of the spirit trade on the

"SO0 rThe West African trade was a rough game, and

west coast.
it redounds to both the Company's and to Goldie's credit that
they resisted so well what undoubtedly could have been a
major source of revenue.

It must also be remembered that Goldie had received
little credit for what he had done. The entire reign of the
Royal Niger Company in Northern Nigeria had been a constant
source of embitterment to the Liverpool:Chamber of Commerce,
the center of the palm o0il trade and soap industry, whose
various members very much resented the monopoly of the Royal
Niger Company. They had continuously sent a stream of protest
and letters, both to Parliament and to the French press.51

Goldie, then, had good reason to feel aggrieved during
the Borgu crisis. He had upheld British interests for some
10 years singlehandedly, but as soon as the Foreign Office
entered the list on behalf of the Company's claims, Chamberlain

sent Imperial troops under the command of the West African

Frontier Force into what had heretofore been Royal Niger

S50gee Goldie to Colonial Office, 9 March 1899; CO 446/5.

Slgee Houses of Commons, op. cit., in CO 446/3 for
example, but see also, Flint, op. cit., Chapter S.
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Company territory. Goldie's own efforts at considerable cost
to the Company's treasury, including his own brilliant little
campaign against Nupe and Bida during the previous years,
were largely ignored.

On May 24, 1897, at the prodding of the members from
Liverpool, the subject of the eventual demise of the Royal
Niger Company had come up for debate in the House of Lords.
Although Lord Salisbury and others spoke very favorably of
the efforts of both Goldie and the Royal Niger Company, the
impression could not escape one that the usefulness of the
Royal Niger Company was near its end. From then until the
Company's demise on January 1, 1900, Goldie became increas-
ingly bitter, his relationship with Mr. Chamberlain becoming
particularly acrimonious.

In terms of military expenditures alone, the Royal Niger
Company had good cause to resent the criticism which now
came from many quarters. Between 1886 and 1899 the Company
engaged in no less than 56 punitive expeditions in one or
another part of its territory.®® These expeditions ranged
from minor skirmishes of a few men lasting but a few days to
expeditions of several hundred men lasting weeks. The details
of these various expeditions over the 15 years of the
Company's rule do not make particularly enlightening reading,

For the most part, river-borne troops would land at some spot

S2gee file 1/5050, U.A.C. Archives.
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where a recalcitrant village or tribe had either raided
Company property or for one reason or another refused dealings
with them. The methods of the Company were quite simple and
direct. If no appropriate member of the dissident tribe or
village was immediately forthcoming, one or more villages

were burned, crops destroyed, and shrines despoiled. Such
fighting as there was usually consisted of one or more am-
bushes prepared by the local inhabitants with such weapons

as they possessed. The results were nearly always the same:
The ambushers were scattered, a few killed, and after complet-
ing their mission the force would return home.

The expense of the Royal Niger Constabulary was propor-
tionately great. For instance, in the year 1891 when the
Company in its revenue and expenditure account listed a total
revenue for the year as £89,667 on which the Company netted
some £21,000, the Company estimated it spent some £26, 000
in equipping and arming its forces.

In that year alone the Company sent out four major mili-
tary expeditions. On January 7th, Major Ewart and eight other
Europeans took 160 troops with two Gardner guns to the town
of Oguta to carry out punitive operations against local tribes
that had previously attacked a Company station there. The
force arrived by boat on the 8th, and after leaving thirty
men to protect the station, proceeded to the village of Osun
nearby and destroyed it, meeting little resistance. They
then returned to Oguta, the Company station, where the force

remained for a week, should furthex trouble break out.
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When nothing happened, forty men with one European officer
were left to garrison the station, and the rest returned to
permanent quarters. In April 1891, Major Ewart again took
a force of 130 men plus European officers "to punish the in-
habitants of Zehibu for trouble they were giving the Company."53
After shelling the town from both land and river, it was
occupied and proper measures taken. In August, another 160-
man mission under the command of Subcommandant Ringer on the
boat Kano went to the town Opal on a punitive mission.
The town was shelled for some time and afterwards

burned by a landing party put on shore for the purpose:

But, unfortunately, while the landing operations were

being carried out, thirteen men were lost by drowning

through the swamping of the surf boat.5%
Two days later the same force shelled and burned another town,
and two days later shelled and burned another town, presum-
ably all for misdemeanors against the Company.

Not all the missions were so easy, however. 1In September,
Major Ewart took a force of some 300 officers and men on a
punitive mission to Abatshi in retribution for acts of aggres-
sion carried out against the Company. On the 19th of
September one town was destroyed

and on the following day the force marched to Abatshi

burning all villages on the way, but the town itself

they did not attack until the 23rd. Then they had

first to cross a swamp and afterwards ascend a steep

hill under a heavy fire before they reached the town,
which, however, after four hours hard fighting they

S31pid.

S541pid.
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took and completely destroyed, together with three

others in the neighborhood.3%

This force, after subsequently destroying several other towns
in the area, returned to permanent quarters. Unlike other
expeditions, however, this party suffered 43 killed and
wounded, two missing, and two dying of fever contracted on
the expedition. The justice of these various missions will
not here be debated, particularly as the Company has not left
sufficient evidence as to the cause for these missions that
one can accurately judge just how necessary their severity
may have been. Nonetheless, four expeditions of over 100
men, ranging to 300 men, in one year was a stiff cost to bear
for a dividend-paying trading company whose primary motive
was profit and whose total revenue was in no wise excessive.

When it became clear to Goldie after the May debate in
the House of Lords in 1897 that the Company's sovereignty in
Nigeria would soon be bought, it is not surprising that he
turned to a number of schemes to put his influence and invest-
ment to good use. Nor does one blame him for publicly at-
tempting to produce the best picture of the Company position
possible.

One of the more intriguing elements of this last year-
and-a-half of Goldie's administration on the Niger was a long
series of correspondence between Goldie and one Herr Woermann,
in which the latter tried desperately to convince Goldie

that he should take an interest in the formation of a German

551pid.
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Camaroon company.>® Herr Woermann had received a concession
from the German government, in part due to his connection

with The Colonial Zeitung, for trade in the Yola area of the

Camaroon. What Woermann hoped to do was to establish a line
of trade to the middle Camaroon by way of the Benue River.
The Adamawa section of the Camaroon was isolated by mountain-
ous terrain from the Gulf of Guinea. Hence, in a sense it
would be easier to ascend the Niger and the Benue than to
haul goods overland through German territory. Unlike the
Niger, the Benue was navigable, at least for a few weeks of
the year as far as Yola, and under the terms of the Berlin
Conference of 1885 legitimate trade could not be debarred
from navigable parts of the river. Woermann hoped, by con-
vincing Goldie to take half the stock of this new company,
to utilize his immense experience and influence on behalf of
the German company.

Goldie seemed at first interested in Woermann's proposals.
However, as it became more clear to the German that while it
was possible to navigate the Benue as far as Yola, it was
possible to do so only for at best two months of the year,
the latter began to lose some interest.57 By the beginning

of 1899, however, Goldie was rapidly becoming more and more

S6see Giinther Jantzen, "Adolf Woermann; ein politischer
Kaufman in den Wand Uingen und sponnungen der imperialistis-
chen Epoch des Reiches" in Europa und U'bersee (Hamburg;
Festchift jur E. Zechlin, 1961), p. 716.

57For the Goldie-Woermann.correspondence see FO 2/242.
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discouraged with events in Nigeria. In a letter to Woermann
on January 19, 1899, Goldie's bitterness took.a philosophical
turn:

One last remark. I do not think you need antici-
pate any jealousy on the part of the Niger Trading
Company (if it continues mine) toward Germans going to
Garua. It was a different matter before political
boundaries were settled, and when British political
rights had to be protected. For the policy of the past,
whether good or bad, I am personally responsible. The
position is now entirely changed, and there seems no
reason why each nation should not encourage, as far as
it can, development of its neighbor's territories, which
will indirectly help to develop and enrich its own.5®
Retrospective calmness was not Goldie's strong suit. By

February, 1899, Goldie was again in dispute with members of
the Colonial Office over military rights in the Royal Niger
sphere of influence. 1In particular, Goldie was irate that
Sir R. Moor, Governor of the Niger Coast Protectorate, wished
to cooperate with the West Africa Frontier Force in putting
down the rebellious town of Efoge within the Royal Niger
Company's sphere. Mr. Flint, then the acting agent-general
for the Company, telegraphed Goldie asking whether he should
cooperate or not. Goldie's reply was a terse rebuttal that
neither the Niger Coast Protectorate nor the West African
Frontier Force could act in the territories before a change
of administration took place. Goldie's primary concern was
that the activity of imperial forces within the Niger Company's

sphere of influence could not help but diminish the value of

the territory the Company was ceding to the government at a

58Goldie to Woermann, 19 January 1899; CO 446/5.
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tinge when the treasury was attempting to work out a monetary
settlement with the Company. He was irritated because in
1899 the difficulties that the Company in administering the
territory

were aggravated by the introduction into the territory
of the West African Frontier Force with a very large
number of officers, many, or perhaps most, of whom were
senior to the officers of the Company's troops, and all
of whom very properly felt themselves to be imperial
officers entirely independent of the government of the
region in which they were quartered.

By an order declaring them to be on active serv1ce
in a foreign country, they and their actions were entire-
ly removed from the cognizance of the courts of the
Company's territories, so that the natives in those
territories who had hitherto looked to the Company for
justice and who considered themselves aggrieved by
members of the West African Frontier Force, had to be
nonsuited in the Company's courts.

I wish to make it quite clear that I am not raising
any complaints of any kind whatsoever against any of the
imperial officers in the Company's territories, nor
against the system that has been adopted. I may say that
the officers of the West African Frontier Force have
shown themselves, on the whole, most amiable and sensible.
Had it been otherwise, Nigeria would have been months
ago in a state of complete chaos. The evils of which I
complain, and which I long ago prophesized to Her
Majesty's government, are evils inseparable from a knowl-
edge of approaching dissolution, and from a system of
dual control, and from the sudden introduction into such
regions of large numbers of Europeans who are independent
of the laws of the country and inexperienced in the habits
and ways of the native populations.

I venture to think that it does some credit to the
Company's officials on the spot and, perhaps, to those
who direct them from this office, that such an extra-
ordinary state of affairs has not long before now led to
more serious friction and even to disaster.

If, however, the West African Frontier Force and the
troops of the Niger Coast Protectorate were to undertake
joint military operations in the Company's territories
in supersession of the action Company's troops, the last
bond of discipline and pride which has held together the
staff of the Royal Niger Company would be dissolved, and
I fear that the Council could no longer support even the
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present shadow of responsibility for the maintenance
of order in the Company's territories.S®

There is much to be said for Sir George Goldie's posi-
tion in the matter. However, the Colonial Office had their
own view of affairs on the Niger. Sir R. Moor and the West
African Frontier Force were desirous of maintaining what order
they could and proceeded into Niger Company territory. Henry
Morley in a sharp note to the Foreign Office on 2 March 1899, ¢°
was extremely bitter about the medley of authority then pres-
ent in Northern Nigeria and complained that the Company's
position had been undermined for the last 12 months and that
letters from all parts of the country indicated this to be
the case. In a note on this letter, Francis Bertie in the
Colonial Office noted that the

Position is, as the Niger Company point out, exceedingly
difficult. The Niger Company themselves admit that they
do not care to go to any special trouble administering
their territories when they expect to lose their charter
any day, and yet they adopt the attitude of the dog in
the manger toward those who, knowing that they will be
responsible eventually, endeavor to keep matters straight
now. We have experienced exactly the same difficulty
when the officer in command of the West African Frontier
Force has proposed to take drastic measures.

In the present case I think the Company have exag-
gerated their grievance. 8Sir R. Moor states that since
1892 the Protectorate has paid subsidies to several Sobo
and Quale towns in order to keep the roads open, and that
it is to the subsidized towns that the visit is to be
paid. We cannot, therefore, take this as a very striking
instance of the evil on which the Company's letter in-
sists the confusion of authorities in the native mind.
The suspicion rather is that the Company have fastened
on this incident as a text from which to preach once more

S59Goldie to the Under Secretary of State, Foreign Office,
21 February 1899 (from a copy in); CO 446/5.

89An addition to No. 5970 of 9 March; as copied in
CO 446/5.
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the necessity for some definite arrangement as to trans-

fer, the necessity which we feel as much as they.

In the present case, Agent General Flint has solved
the immediate difficulty by entering a formal protest,
giving good advice as to the strength of the escort, and
only communicating with home by mail. No doubt Sir R.
Moor has by this time done all that he wished to do in
Sobo .

I would suggest that we propose to the Foreign
Office to telegraph to Sir R. Moor that pending definite
arrangements for the transfer of the administration, he
must communicate with home by telegraph whenever he
deems action in the Company's territory necessary: The
Company might be informed of this, for their consolation.
I expect that it would always be possible to effect some
compromise with the Company as to any action to be taken,

~as we did over the Ilorin affair last October.®%

This note was duly initialled by Chamberlain himself on
27 March.

.Doubtless, both the Royal Niger Company and the Colonial
Office had valid arguments to present. It would be redundant
to detail all the various complaints that filtered back and
forth from the Company to the Foreign Office and the Colonial
Office. Doubtless conditions in Northern Nigeria had cer-
tainly deteriorated to a point, but one suspects a good bit
of validity in the Colonial Office claim that Goldie was
building up a better case for the Company than actually
existed. Be this as it may, to assume that because the last
years the Royal Niger Company were not glorious ones, that
Nigeria owes little to the Royal Niger Company and to Sir
George Goldie, would be difficult to justify. 1In fact, one
hardly needs to go further than to re-emphasize that had it

not been for the vigorous action of Sir George Goldie and

8lMarch 11; CO 446/5 (p. 194).
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the Royal Niger Company, there would have been no British
Northern Nigeria. For this alone, the Royal Niger Company

deserves a better place than that which it usually receives.
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CHAPTER VII
THE ROLE OF THE COLONIAL OFFICE

Despite the impact of European excursions into West
Africa, the West African Frontier Force, African military
elements, and the declining years of the Royal Niger Company
upon Indirect Rule in Northern Niger, by far the most sig-
nificant events between June 1898.and January 1900 were
publicly unobserved and unobtrusive minutes passed back and
forth at the Colonial Office. These committee reports,
minutes, and consultations with knowledgeable persons by
lesser-known Colonial Officer sérvants, particularly Mr.
Antrobus and Sir Edward Wingfield,! are the bureaucratic
foundation of Indirect Rule in Northern Nigeria. True enough,
these men only laid the base for Lugard's great experiment.
Nevertheless, the competence and skill they showed in their
work rather tends to reaffirm one's faith in the machinery
of government bureaucracy.

After the settlement with France in June of 1898, it was

clear to all concerned, the Government would soon be forced

lgir Edward Wingfield was Permanent Under-Secretary of
State for the Colonies from 1897-1900.

152



pOSe(
Clems
McCa

pop

ques
terr

omp
Crit
They
Wrer

Jent



153

to take over the Royal Niger Company's territory in Nigeria.
Chamberlain's first move was to form a Niger Committee com-
posed of the Earl of Selbourne, Sir George Goldie, Sir
Clement Hill, Sir Ralph Moore, R. L. Antrobus, and Sir H.
McCallum, to come to some tentative conclusions about the
proper future course of the Niger's territories.

Though informal in nature, the report these men issued
was of the utmost value for the future of Nigeria because in
a general way it outlined the course of Colonial Office policy
for the next 25 or 30 years.

Among other things, the committee considered such basic
questions as whether the future administration of the three
territories of Lagos, Niger Coast Protectorate, and the Niger
Company's territories should be united, or if not, what
criteria should be used to determine the separate divisions.
They then considered how such units should be administered;
where their seats of government should be; the future arrange-
ment of military forces; what customs duties should be; if
there should be a customs union; what types of taxation were
possible; what the estimated cost of any future administration
might be; what policy should be adopted toward Sokoto, Bornu,
and Rabeh; and whether and where railways might be built.

The fundamental question, of course, upon which the
Committee came to a conclusion was separation versus amalga-
mation of government for the Niger territories. Upon this

question, the future administration of Lagos, Niger Coast
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Protectorate, and Niger Company territcries, the committee
was united and quite specific: "We are of opinion that
the object to be aimed at is the eventual establishment of
a governor-general for the whole of the territories, resident
in the territories."Z

However, despite their preference for one governor-
general, the committee felt that there were a number of
reasons, principally ecological, which would make it impos-
sible under the then present circumstances to get any but a
young man to do efficient work in West Africa. 1Indeed, they
were convinced that even a young man would require much time
away from West Africa to recover his health; that is, up to
a third of the time.2® Moreover, the committee thought the
absence of telegraph lines and roads, which made communica-
tion difficult, meant that for a time authority must be
divided. But in order that any future amalgamation be simple,
the committee recommended that for the time being the divi-
sions of Nigeria should each report separately to the

Colonial Office.*

2see Report of the Niger Committee, C.0. 17887, page 2;
CO 4486/3.

3In respect to health, Sir George Goldie noted accur-
ately, as it turned out, that in time it would be possible to
establish an healthful Nigerian "Simla" in the Bautshi high-
lands. (In time the lovely Jos "Hill Station" was established
there, and the writer can attest to its pleasant qualities.)

“The writer failed to discover just what lay beneath
this highly dubious assertion that control from London was
more practical than a Nigerian-based control, but the point
is not here worth belaboring.
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Hence, the committee concluded that there should for
the present be a Maritime Province and a Soudan Province;
that the Soudan Province should consist of those regions
governed by Moslems but including certain Moslem Yorubas in
what otherwise might be the Maritime Provinces, as the
members were convinced that:

both banks of the Niger must be under one jurisdiction

on account of the international questions which will

probably arise in connection with the use of the river;
and also because if there are different jurisdictions
on opposite banks, the administration of the criminal
and civil law will be more difficult.®

Hence, the line which the committee suggested as the
boundary line between the two hypothetical provinces, the
Maritime and Soudan, would leave the Dahomey boundary at
approximately the 9th parallel, run east and then south,
including Ilorin and all Yoruba country in the Maritime
Province, to Ida on the Niger, énd then east from Ida to
Ashaku, a town on the German border, but actually in German
territory. They proposed that the seat of government for
the Soudan Province should, for the present, be at Lokoja,
the confluence of the Niger and Benue.

The Committee tended to think that if the Maritime
Province should again be divided that the Lagos territory
should remain as one,. and the rest, with a capitol at Asaba,

should be administered as the eastern province. The committee

was split on whether or not this would be an advisable step.

SNiger Committee Report, op. cit., p. 4.
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Concerning the future administration of the provinces,
all were agreed that whether two or three in number, the
provinces must be divided into divisions and districts.

In this respect, it is interesting that Sir H. McCallum,
whose experience was totally in the south of Nigeria, sug-
gested that native chiefs could be organized in village and
district councils and might very possibly be useful in doing
much of the local administrative work, such as tax collec-
tion and law enforcement.

In military affairs, the committee was convinced that
if there were to be a division of authority, military forces
should also be divided. However, they insisted that the
organization should be the same and that in case of emergency
a general officer should be appointed to take command of all
forces. Such provincial units would have an advantage in
that each force could be locally bilingual, that is to say,
in the north English-Hausa or in the Lagos area Yoruba-
English, and yet have the potential for maximum use of com-
bined forces in any area.®

‘Not surprisingly, the committee recommended a customs
union, and they proposed that the Lagos tariff should be
universally adopted.

On financial affairs, the committee was not overly
optimistic. They estimated that the three territories--Lagos,

Niger Coast Protectorate, and Niger Company's territories--

81bid., p. 6.
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had combined receipts of approximately £432,000. Their esti-
mates for total civil expenditures in the three territories
was £348,000 and a like sum for military expenditures.’

What this meant was that the treasury was immediately faced
with the prospect of a £300,000 deficit, should affairs on
the west coast of Africa remain as they were. What they
could be reasonably sure of, however, was that with parts of
Northern Nigeria still not under control of the British Crown,
for at least the next few years the costs could only go up.

The conclusions one may draw from these figures are
obvious. First, imperialism, at least as far as West Africa
was concerned, was not immediately a paying proposition.
Second, it was clear to all that administrative costs in these
new colonies should be reduced to the absolute minimum. And
third, that any administrator with expensive or expansive
ideas about colonial administration would have to be a smooth
salesman indeed.

As an afterthought to these prognostications, the com-
nittee also dourly commented that the upcoming Brussels
Liquor conference might serve to diminish estimated revenue
by checking the importation of spirits at Lagos and the
Niger Coast Protectorate by international agreement.

Another recommendation contained in a later section of

the report that was to have immense importance for ‘the

7Ibido ’ ppo 8-9 .
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future of Northern Nigeria concerned the problem of taxation.
Obviously part of the answer to colonial administration lay

in effecting some sort of efficient tax scheme on Africans.
With the exception of Sir George Goldie,® the committee was
unanimous in assuming that it would not be prudent at the
present time to impose any form of direct taxation on natives,
but that in due time a village tax of some form or other could
gradually be imposed. Again, a very prophetic comment was
added by Sir H. McCallum, who suggested that:

some form of internal taxation may be devised from which

payment can be made to the chiefs who, in consequence of

British intervention, have been or will be deprived of

former sources of income, the principal one of which was

slave trading.®
In retrospect one suspects that Colonel Lugard read these
passages with the utmost care.

In reference to the problems of Sokoto, Bornu, and Rabeh,
the committee was guided by the advice of Sir George Goldie,
who almost alone was knowledgeable on these subjects. He
quite correctly assumed that the Sultan of Sokoto would not
voluntarily receive a British resident unaccompanied by over-
whelming military superiority. He also assumed, quite cor-
rectly, that it would be useless to try to communicate with

Sokoto until the "Fula power™ was crushed. He insisted that

no general coup de main should be planned but that each Emir

8Ibid., p. 10.
9Ibi-d» ° pp ° 10-11 °
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and Emirate should be taken in turn, hence, gradually extend-
ing British control without precipitating general warfare or
greatly increasing military costs. The committee agreed
with Sir George Goldie and stated that since the problem of

French interference was not then so great, the problem of

»

Sokoto could wait until a new governor of the Northern
Provinces was appointed.

The last few pages of the report are concerned exclusive-
ly with communication in the new colonies. The committee
was unanimously of the opinion that a railroad linking Kano
and navigable water should be built down the valley of the
Kaduna to its junction on the Niger. They were not equally
unanimous as to whether the railroad should be continued
from the Niger to Lagos or to some port on the lower Niger
already accessible to ocean-going vessels of large size.*©
The breakdown, generally, of the committee was that Sir George
Goldie and Sir R. Moor were convinced of its efficacy, having
the greatest interest in having the line extended down to a
port on the Niger, and Sir H. McCallum, whose primary inter-
est was at Lagos, feeling that the line should be extended
from Jebba to Lagos.

The final paragraph recommended that the change of ad-

ministration should take place at the first opportunity,

which, they thought, would be January of 1899.

10rhe Lagos harbor at this point would only accommodate
ships of a draft of less than 9 feet, and removal of the
sandvar at the entrance of the harbor was estimated at near-
ly 1 million pounds in 1898.
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Over the course of the next two years, this report was
the stimulus for much thought and copious minute making
inside the Colonial Office. - The principal questions of
concern were the future administration of the Niger terri-
tories and the question of amalgamation of Lagos and the
0il Rivers section of the Niger Coast Protectorate.l?l
Mr. Antrobus and Mr. Wingfield were the origin of many of
the suggestions which eventually were put into practice.
However, they were often corrected or over-ruled by their
superiors in the Colonial Office.

The question which most concerns this thesis, of course,
is the future administration of the Niger Company terri-
tories, in particular, those parts which became Northern
Nigeria. A long handwritten minute dated November 13th by
Mr. Antrobus to Sir Edward Wingfield contains many thoughts
eventually embodied by Lugard into indirect rule as we know
it .2

It must not be supposed that Mr. Antrobus was working
in the dark. He had met often with both Lugard and Goldie
and relied heavily on their advice. Moreover, by November
Mr. Chamberlain had already decreed that for the present

there should be three administrations in the Niger territory.

They were to be Lagos, the Niger Coast Protectorate, and the

llrhese questions are dealt with largely, though not
exclusively, in files 25517 and 18809 for Northern Nigeria;
CO 446/3.

1200 446/3.
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Company's territories, with some modification of boundaries,
principally the removal of Niger bompany territory below
Ida to the Niger Coast Protectorate. It was also obvious
by November that the transfer date of January 1, 1899, was
impractical, and the date for transfer was tentatively set
back to June 1899.

To begin with, Antrobus first suggested that the Niger
Coast Protectorate should be renamed Niger Coast and that
the territories in the interior should be termed the Niger
Soudan. From there, relying heavily on the advice of Goldie,
Antrobus suggested that the head of each of the three admin-
istrations should be styled Governor to "convey both to the
British public and to the natives of West Africa, as well as
to foreign powers, a better idea of the position which we
claim in the territories than any such title as commissioner

"13  But concerned over precedence,

or high commissioner.
Antrobus noted that a governor seemed to imply a colony.
Hence, he thought that one or two of the new colonies could
be constituted somewhat on the same lines as Lagos or the
Gold Coast, where there was at that time a very small colony
and a very large protectorate. Antrobus suggested that as
Jebba would probably constitute the capitol of the Niger

Soudan, perhaps country for some five miles around that town

might be constituted to form a colony.

131pid.
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Obviously, these suggestions were impractical as they
would have needlessly complicated an already confused situ-
ation for the sake of vague terminological precedence. They
were quickly rejected by Lord Selbourne and Mr. Chamberlain.
Nonetheless, Antrobus reported that Goldie and Colonel
Lugard agreed on a rather unique suggestion for administer-
ing the northern territories. They suggested that

difficulties might arise in consequence with slavery if

any territory were actually annexed, and they suggest
that we should take a new departure and set up a governor
of a protectorate without any colony.l*
Antrobus noted that either proposal might be acceptable but
the legal position of the territories in question would have
to be defined more accurately than at present.

The legal position of Nigeria was indeed complicated.
Lagos, in 1898, comprised a small colony and a small protec-
torate, but the larger part of the territory supervised by
the Governor of Lagos was "nothing but a sphere of influence."
The Niger Coast Protectorate, on the other hand, had only
local jurisdiction under the African Orders in Council,
although the legal minded British were prone to believe that
certain powers had been acquired by sufferance over the years,
and duties were collected to provide for the expenses of
administration. . In the Niger territories, of course, the
Company had acquired administrative rights by treaties with

native rulers, most of which had been duly notified in the

London Gazette of 18 October 1887.

l41pid.
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As to the internal boundaries within Nigeria, Antrobus
was not definitive. He noted that Colonel Lugard had made
a good case for the inclusion of Saki near the Dahomey
border and below the 9th parallel being included in the Niger
Soudan. But, in general, Antrobus could foresee only minor
modifications in the Niger Committee report of Lord Sel-
bourne in August. One interesting note, however: Antrobus
agreed with the Niger Committee that Yoruba country should
be left to Lagos, but he felt that Ilorin should be retained

or placed in the Niger Soudan.2S

Interestingly enough,
Antrobus indicated that the Niger Soudan would have to have
some sort of enclave at the Forcados mouth of the Niger if
the Niger territory were to be deprived of its land below
Ida. Antrobus suggested that this enclave would be modeled
after the French ones and should be "subject to the laws for

the time being in force"?®

in the Niger Coast.

Antrobus was also convinced that although ultimate
authority would lie with the Queen via her orders in council,
that there should also be local legislative authority in each
of the provinces. Because of the difficulty in administéring
these ill-defined areas where communication was so difficult,

he suggested that governors alone should make the laws,

either by ordinance or by proclamation for the present.

1571orin did have a Moslim Emir, with traditional
allegiance to Sokoto, however, the principal population was,
and is, largely Yoruba.

16op. cit., Antrobus Memorandum.
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Although several other points were dealt with in this
minute, it is significant to note once again the close
communication between Antrobus, Goldie, Lugard, and Sir Ralph
Moor.

In commenting upon Antrohus' long minute, Wingfield was
very insistent that the title of governor was not appropriate
for a protectorate and would mean quite a different thing
than the governor of a colony.*? Wingfield also had numerous
comments on the precedents for the establishment procedure
and whether they should come under letters patent or orders
in council. He was particularly derisive in rejecting any
notion that a small bit of territory should be designated as
a colony for the sake of the title of the local administrator.
wingfield also felt that an enclave at the mouth of the Niger
for processing goods destined for the Niger Soudan, a term
of which he approved, was a petty matter better left for a
later date. He was much more concerned as to the form of
the instrument revoking the charter of the Royal Niger Com-
pany, a matter which he felt would require careful consider-
ation.

In replying to Wingfield's suggestion, Antrobus noted
on September 6th that he agreed in general, but had an
interesting suggestion as to the names for the new colonies.

In CO 25517 I proposed, in accordance with the sugges-

tion of Sir George Goldie, 'Niger Coast' and 'Niger
Soudan'; and you suggested ‘British Soudan'. I think,

17Minute by Sir Edward Wingfield, November 26th, ibid.
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however, that it would be better to avoid the use of

'Soudan'; and, as 'Nigeria' has become a familiar term

(although, strictly speaking, it should be 'Nigritia')

I would suggest 'Southern' and ‘Northern' or ‘'Lower®

and 'Upper' Nigeria. The term British Soudan will

probably be wanted someday for the country to the east

of the line just settled with France, as the French

already call the country to the west of it the 'French

Soudan' .18

Interestingly enough, as these minutes worked their way
up through the Colonial Office, Lord Selbourne's only comment
was that although he agreed with the foregoing, he had a
distinct preference for Northern and Southern as against
Upper or Lower Nigeria. Joseph Chamberlain, for his part,
made but one comment on this long exchange, that

Northern and Southern are really more descriptive--but

Upper and Lower are more euphonious to my ear. But I

do not care of those which it is.

It must be Nigeria--and not Soudan.}®

The legal position of the upcoming transfer was a compli-

cated one. The Lagos situation was particularly complex but

20 Ag for Northern and Southern

does not concern us here.
Nigeria, it was eventually concluded that both an order in

council under the Foreign Jurisdiction Act and instructions
to the governor by way of his commission would be the most

appropriate way of establishing the new administrations.

The order in council was to be the same for Northern and

Southern Nigeria and might be modeled on the South African

181pid.
19Minute by Joseph Chamberlain, October 4th, ibid.

20por details see HBC to Mr. Antrobus and Sir Edward
Wingfield, April 28, 1899; CO 446/3.
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order in council of 9 May 1891, under which Rhodesia's High
Commissioner legislated for the territory. This would allow
the governor to make laws by proclamation and would not
create an executive or legislative council.

Instructions to the governor were to be modeled on the
Gibraltar instructions on 22 June 1876, insofar as they
would be applicable. For the first time, it becomes evident
that the rights of existing officers of the Royal Niger
Company were to be abolished and those who would remain were
to be reappointed under new provisions. The existing court
structure of the Royal Niger Company, however, was to be
maintained insofar as it was possible. But there was con-
siderable confusion over just exactly which records Sir
George Goldie and the Company still retained®! and what of
the remainder was public in nature.

There were also considerable questions, and many legal
implications, over what should be the proper disposition of
land which the Royal Niger Company and George Goldie wished
to preserve for the Company to facilitate continued trading
operations. The rest of the land within the Niger Company's
territories, of course, would be ceded to the government.

It was reported that Goldie approved of the following clause:

The government of the territories within the limits of

this order and all powers in relation to the government
vested in or exercised by the Company shall cease to be

2lMuch had been destroyed in the Akassa Brass raids (see
Flint, op. cit., Chapter 9),. and most other Royal Niger Docu-
ments were destroyed by U.A.C. officials during depression
years housecleanings.
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vested in or exercised by the Company, and all rights

of administration and government which but for this

order might have been exercised by the Company in rela-

tion to any such territory shall become vested in Her

Majesty and be exercised in H<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>